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According to authoritative market research reports,
Wai Yuen Tong is widely recognized as the leading brand offering
the best quality Chinese medicine among various brands in the sector.
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NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gss, Jp,
Chairman and Managing Director
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon (Resigned on 1 November 2024)
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH

Professor Sit Wing Hang, cBs, Jp

Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH, Chairman

Professor Sit Wing Hang, cBs, Jp

Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon (Resigned on 1 November 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Professor Sit Wing Hang, ss, Jp. Chairman

Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH
(Appointed on 1 November 2024)

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, cas, Jp

Ms. Tang Wai Man

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Chairman
(Resigned on 1 November 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp, Chairman
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH
(Appointed on 1 November 2024,)
Professor Sit Wing Hang, cBs, Jp
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, cas, Jp
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon (Resigned on 1 November 2024)

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gss, Jp, Chairman
Ms. Tang Wai Man

ESE

HITESE

BB A - eumgs ATt
TEFE FAATE

BEsL L

EREZ LT

BYFEHTES
EXRAE (R =_FE=—F+—HA—HEHTE)
PRELE - pugs

EOXBHIR - exngs  «THt

BROK KR - s

ERERE

PRELE - pugs  TE

EOXBHIR - exmngs  «THt

BROK HHIR - mem
EBXRAE(R=_FE=—mFE+—HA—HEHT)

FHERE

EOXBEIR - exmgs  «Twt  TE

BROK HHIR - mem

PRELE - pugs
(R=FZpF+—H—HEZ(T)

BB A - exmgs K Tt

BEsa L

BURLE TE
(R=F=pmF+—H—HEHE)

REEAE

BROK IR - memy - T

PRELE - gugs
(R=FZpmF+—H—HEZ(T)

EOXBHIR - exmgs  «T#t

BB A - eumas AT+

BEsL L

EBNRAE(R=_FE=—F+—HA—HEHE)

FHEA®

BOBALAE  emmes  «Fwt  T/E
BE e

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita ERELZ LT
4
;;“* 2 WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025




Corporate Information (Continued)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Under Listing Rules
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gss, Jp
Ms. Ng Yee Man Fiona

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ng Yee Man Fiona
LEGAL ADVISERS

Reed Smith Richards Butler LLP
Gallant
Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

United Overseas Limited, Hong Kong Branch

Taiwan Shin Kong Commercial Bank Co., Ltd

CTBC Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
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2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG
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39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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> Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in 3y
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*Based in part on data reported by the Nielsen Company (June 2013 to May 2020) and IQVIA (June
2020 to May 2025) through its MarketTrack Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder segment of
Cough Remedy category for the 12—year period ending May 2025, for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS
and Drug Stores in Hong Kong. (Copyright© 2020, The Nielsen Company; Copyright© 2025, IQVIA)
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*Based in part on data reported by the Nielsen Company (January 2010 to December 2019) and IQVIA
(January 2020 to December 2024) through its Cough Syrup Product Sales Data for Key Account
Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong.
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Chairman'’s Statement
FEHRE

In constant pursuit of excellence over the past 128 years, “Wai Yuen Tong” g

_ has withstood a century with established reputation in providing Chinese and P ——
Western pharmaceiitical products and Chinese medicine out-patient clinic
services. | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude to all colleagues for their
dedication during the past challenging year in the inheritance of tradition, and
contribution to the health of people in the communlty W : -
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the "Directors”)
of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company” and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to
you the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year” or
the “Year under Review"). Since its establishment in 1897, Wai Yuen
Tong has always adhered to its core philosophy of “Preparing Medicine
with Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation”. We are committed
to passing down the profound wisdom of traditional Chinese medicine
("TCM"), making the TCM industry go global, and leading the industry in
setting higher standards, to provide comprehensive and exquisite medical
products and services to each customer.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Currently, the Group owns the widely recognized Chinese pharmaceutical
and health food brand “Wai Yuen Tong" through Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Company Limited (“Wai Yuen Tong" or “WYT Medicine’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Group"),
and holds the internationally renowned Western pharmaceutical brands
“Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” through Luxembourg Medicine
Company Limited (“Luxembourg Medicine”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Luxembourg Medicine Group”). The Group's
Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and healthcare businesses are
developing synergistically, forming a positive interaction.

In 2024, a year filled with challenges and opportunities, the global
emphasis on health and disease prevention in the post-pandemic era
drove the growth of the TCM industry. The Company’s market share and
leading position have been further strengthened due to its unremitting
efforts in product quality, branding and customer service. We actively
promoted the TCM culture, organized free medical consultations, and
introduced “Smart TCM" to successfully engage with young clientele.

During the Year under Review, the demand for TCM outpatient services
at Wai Yuen Tong's retail outlets continued to grow, and the Group
opened a new store in Hong Kong and Macau, located in Ap Lei Chau.
At present, the Group operates 90-plus stores in Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Macau, and employing more than 80 TCM practitioners in
Hong Kong. With products available in Chinese communities in more
than 30 countries around the world, we have been collaborating with
local partners for three decades. As far as the TCM business is concerned,
we have been rapidly expanding our business through the franchise
model.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREEE®)

New products were added to the five major TCM product lines (proprietary
Chinese medicines, healthcare products, medicated food products,
herbal decoction pieces and lifestyle products) during the Year under
Review, enriching each product line. Wai Yuen Tong's three flagship
products include the famous “Angong Niuhuang Wan (%84 & A)"
consisting of gold-packed Angong Niuhuang Wan and Angong Niuhuang
Wan with pharmacopoeia prescriptions; the classic “Young Yum Pill (&
f&34)", which has been honoured as the Lingnan TCM Cultural Heritage
of Guangdong Province; and “Hou Tsao Powder (fE 2R ZZAR)", which
has been the top seller for ten consecutive years and has become
consumers’ preferred option. Relying on its large and experienced team
of TCM practitioners, Wai Yuen Tong has taken root in Hong Kong for
many years and has gained the trust of customers. According to a market
survey report, Wai Yuen Tong's market share in the traditional Chinese
medicine market in Hong Kong is 8%.

In the meantime, Madame Pearl's Cough Syrup has been the No. 1 seller
in Hong Kong for 15 consecutive years. While stabilizing its Western
pharmaceutical business in the city, the Group has also set its sights on
the Mainland China market, expanding its cough syrup products all over
the country through collaboration with strong partners. We will continually
innovate and develop more products that are beneficial to people’s
health. In addition, the OEM product range will be further promoted
through Madame Pearl's and Pearl's brand.

As per the latest valuation report of the professional assessment
consulting firm, the total valuation for these brands (Wai Yuen Tong,
Madame Pearl’'s and Pearl's) as at 31 March 2025 is HK$2.05 billion.

Leading Digitalization of TCM

During the Year under Review, Wai Yuen Tong took the lead in
introducing the new Smart Traditional Chinese Medicine Health Profiling
Device, developed by Prevent Medical International Corporation, in five
core stores on a triaT basis. This marked Wai Yuen Tong's entry into a
new era of “Smart TCM" in TCM services. The “Smart TCM" digitalizes the
four diagnostic methods of TCM: observation, auscultation and olfaction,
inquiry, and pulse feeling and palpation. Utilizing cloud-based intelligent
algorithms for constitution recognition and integrating the twenty-four
solar terms, it assesses customers’ TCM health proﬁ?es. This initiative
combines Wai Yuen Tong's century-old commitment to pharmacological
heritage with innovative technological advancements that enhance the
accuracy of traditional diagnosis and treatment, transitioning traditional
Chinese healthcare from “empirical medicine” to “data-driven” precision
health management, benefiting the new generation living in Hong Kong's
fast-paced urban environment.

Proactively Expanding E-commerce Platforms and Launching
New Products

Hong Kong's retail market faces continued challenges in 2024 and early
2025. To maintain its edge in the industry, Wai Yuen Tong has therefore
aggressively expanded its e-commerce platforms. In particular, it utilized
social media like TikTok for live sales, which has successfully attracted
health-conscious Mainland consumers. In 2024, we launched two new
products: Premium Ganoderma Eight Plus, formulated with premium
Ganoderma lucidum extracts to support immune regulation; and Body
Dampness Relief, designed to invigorate the spleen and stomach while
promoting diuresis to reduce puffiness. These two new products not only
enhance our product lines, but also improve the competitiveness of our
brands in the market.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the TCM industry is expected to enter a period of stable
growth, where companies will show a clear trend of differentiation.
Technological innovation and industrial upgrade will be accelerated. From
the herb cultivation to the research and development of new medicines,
the whole industry chain will be empowered by science and technology
to achieve leapfrog development, which will push the modernization
of TCM forward. As public awareness of health increases and the aging
population trend intensifies, people have a deeper insight into the unique
advantages of TCM in health maintenance, disease prevention and
rehabilitation. The industry hold significant development potential and
promising market prospects in the future.

The National Medical Products Administration announced in early
2025 that it would simplify the approval procedures for the listing and
registration in Mainland China of traditional Chinese patent medicines
that are listed in Hong Kong, promoting the development of TCM in
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area. The procedure
applies to traditional oral Chinese patent medicines that are owned and
registered in Hong Kong by Hong Kong manufacturers and have been
used in Hong Kong for over 15 years, and the manufacturing process
shall also comply with GMP requirements, etc. As for Wai Yuen Tong,
there are 26 traditional oral Chinese patent medicine products that
meet the above requirements. This policy has brought great business
opportunities for the Group to actively expand its sales market in China.

The year 2025 will be critical for the Group to fully implement its
strategies outlined in the “14th Five-Year Plan”, when it will steadily
advance a series of key initiatives in line with the “14th Five-Year Plan”
and its major product strategy. The Group will optimize its strategic
management system, deepen the reform of its marketing system, and
establish a diversified marketing model that integrates online and offline
services to enhance the market influence and share of its products.
Through the implementation of a wide range of measures, we aim to
continually enhance our new quality productive force, setting a solid
foundation for growth in the upcoming “15th Five-Year Plan” period.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Board and all the
employees of the Company for their outstanding performance and
tireless efforts. | would also like to extend my deepest respect to all
Shareholders for their support and trust in the Company. We will,
as always, adhere to the philosophy of “Preparing Medicine with
Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation” as we strive to promote
the modernization and internationalization of TCM. We are committed to
giving back to all Shareholders with our best efforts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For over the past century, Wai Yuen Tong has been an mternatlonally o L —
- renowned brand with roots in Hong Kong. Looking forward, - e et
we will continue to develop our core business with flexible operatlonal
mechanisms and give full play to the synergy of TCM and western
pharmaceutlcal medicine and health food 4 &
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year"), total revenue
of the Group decreased by approximately 4.9% to approximately
HK$745.3 million, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in sale
of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products.

During the Year, the Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of
the parent of approximately HK$7.1 million (2024: loss attributable to
owners of the parent of approximately HK$15.4 million). Such turnaround
from loss to profit was mainly attributable to the combined effect of
(i) decrease in impairment loss on property, plant and equipment; (i)
change from fair value losses to fair value gains on owned investment
properties; and (iii) decrease in finance cost, as the above patrtially offset
by the increase in marketing expenses.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: a final cash dividend and a
special cash dividend of HK3.0 cents and HK14.7 cents respectively per
ordinary share). No interim dividend was declared for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 (30 September 2023: Nil).

A special dividend by way of distribution in specie was declared and paid
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (further details are disclosed in note
12 to the financial statements).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Hong Kong's retail sector faced persistent challenges throughout 2024
and into early 2025. Provisional figures for 2024 revealed a 7.3%
decline in total retail sales value to HK$376.8 billion, alongside a 9.0%
year-on-year contraction in sales volume. This downward trend extended
into the first quarter of 2025, with provisional estimates indicating a 6.5%
decrease in retail sales value compared to the same period in 2024,
underscoring continued adjustments in consumer behavior amid external
economic pressures.

RTEREZEERBRAT 2025 £3§

EEENmRD &)

BE-_Z-_ha4=A=+—BULHFHKFE
([REE])  AEEBUERDH4.9%EL
745,300,000/ 7T © TEHNPERIRER R
EmigEmd -

RAFE  AEBEESTATER ARG
497,100,000 T(ZFE=MM4F : FRF%H
B AFE(L BB 415,400,000/ 7T) - A
BEZHRAOWME - BE REHRBREEER
Lo (NEEREWEAFEBGEZ ARAFE
Iz R(i)BE AR - A £ RIEBD
TS HEERIE AT -

ﬂg l%\

EEe fEEEE T _AF=A=1—
AIEFERMAERKRE(ZZZNF : D3R
NRBBE R ERERE KR EEREBR
308 R 14.78) - WEFEHE =T —UF
NAZ+BHERNEAERFHEE(ZZE ==
FNLA=F+H: &) -

HE_T_MFE=R=+—HILFENUEY
7D A EIR MR RIS GE— 2715
BENMERRMEI2)

REBOB

EATEEN T NMEE T - FRFEYE
EEHNE - —E_MENVLEEFEER
TEERIHEEE NKT7.3%E3,76888T
EBIRFEWLE0% - B THRIBYITE
N-Z—RFFE—FE VL HTER ®
ZEZNFRAEL  TEHEEETRT
6.5% ' TEE TIEINDEEBR N T HEETA
RIS B o

1




Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWmRD T E)

Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Wai Yuen Tong remains steadfast in its commitment to delivering high-
quality Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) products and services while
proactively adapting to shifting consumer preferences. Over the past
year, we have strategically expanded our retail footprint, establishing new
locations in key tourist areas and optimizing operating hours to enhance
customer convenience. Additionally, we have strengthened collaborations
with leading health & beauty retailers and e-commerce platforms
in Hong Kong and Mainland China, broadening access to our TCM
offerings. A pivotal component of our growth strategy is to leverage the
rapid expansion of cross-border e-commerce, particularly through new
emerging dynamic platforms such as Douyin. Our live-streaming initiatives
on Douyin have achieved exceptional results, engaging a vast audience of
health-conscious consumers from China and driving robust sales growth
through e-commerce channels. These e-commerce platforms and service
providers have proven to be increasingly important for the marketing and
distribution of our product. By harnessing the power of social e-commerce
live streaming, we have successfully introduced Wai Yuen Tong's heritage
TCM products to millions of potential customers in China, reinforcing
brand awareness and accessibility in the mainland market. In response
to the resurgence of Chinese outbound tourism, we have reallocated
marketing resources to capitalize on this trend, ensuring our products
remain a top choice for travelers seeking premium TCM solutions.

Amid this challenging operating environment, Wai Yuen Tong sustained
stable performance through its strategic emphasis on essential healthcare
needs and product innovation. The Company observed a rising
preference for TCM products in the market, particularly among health-
conscious middle-class families and Mainland visitors seeking high quality
and reliable wellness solutions. With innovation being core to Wai Yuen
Tong's strategy, we have successfully introduced 3 key products in 2024
including Premium Ganoderma Eight Plus (EEZE 2 £), formulated
with premium Ganoderma lucidum to support immunity regulation;
the Body Dampness Relief (#&/8) product, designed to invigorate
the spleen and stomach while promoting diuresis to reduce puffiness;
and the Ultimate Brightening (Z[L4) formula, which effectively
diminishes pigmentation, blemishes, and UVA/UVB damage. These new
ranges complemented the strong performance of established products
such as Wild Cordyceps Plus (248 E £) for respiratory health and
the Nano Bone Enhancer (& &%), which contributing to more than
double sales volume.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Western Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products

With the combined effect of improved conditions of COVID and
increasing number of outbound visits, the Hong Kong respiratory health
market experienced slightly sales decline in the last year. Nevertheless,
we have launched a new series of marketing campaigns to celebrate
the 70th anniversary of Madame Pearl’s, including new TV commercials,
outdoor advertising and also award-winning Madame Pearl’s brand video
on social media. These consolidated together Madame Pearl's cough
syrup No. 1 position in the market for 15th consecutive years with
positive sales growth in the Hong Kong market.

For China market, we have successfully expanded the distribution of
Madame Pearl's cough syrup to over 10,000 outlets, including top chain
drugstores as well as leading hospitals in China. We will continue to
expand the breadth and depth of distribution of Madame Pearl’s products
in China, with the aim of improving the respiratory health of consumers
in China.

In the Personal Care area, in order to enhance the brand awareness of
Pearl's in Hong Kong, we have conducted various marketing programs in
last year including MTR in-train video and collaboration with Pokémon on
seasonal promotion packs. To capitalize on the increasing importance of
cross border e-commerce channel, we have enhanced our resource and
promotion for Pearl's Flagship stores and these contributed in marketing
in 10-fold increase of Pearl's sales in this strategic channel.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2025, the Group owned 5 properties in Hong Kong
which are all retail properties. A majority of these properties were used
as the retail shops under self-operating and franchise models. The
net fair value gains on investment properties for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$11.1 million (2024: net fair value losses of
approximately HK$17.9 million) as a result of the recovery of the property
market.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of properties
which are situated at (i) Shop B on G/F including the cockloft, Yan Oi
House, No. 237 Sha Tsui Road and Nos. 87 & 89 Chuen Lung Street,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$38.0
million, completion of which took place on 2 May 2024; (ii) Shop C on
Ground Floor and Flat C on Mezz Floor, Lee Wah Building, Nos. 738-
740A Nathan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$41.0
million, completion of which took place on 17 May 2024; (iii) Shop B
on G/F, Kwong Sen Mansion, Nos. 23-33 Shui Wo Street, Kwun Tong
at a consideration of HK$33.0 million, completion of which took place
on 16 August 2024 and (iv) Shop A on the Ground Floor, Onshine
Commercial Building, No. 10 Tung Sing Road, Aberdeen, Hong Kong at a
consideration of HK$21.9 million, completion of which took place on 26
August 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWmRD T E)

On 10 April 2025, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to sell a property
situated at Shop on G/F with the cockloft, 60A Yen Chow Street,
Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$19.5 million, completion
of which took place on 5 June 2025.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 4.9% to
approximately HK$745.3 million, which was mainly attributable to the
decrease in sales performance of Chinese pharmaceutical and health
food products.

Gross profit

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately HK$18.3 million
or approximately 4.6% to approximately HK$376.5 million for the Year
as compared to approximately HK$394.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2024. The decrease was in line with the decrease in sales revenue
and the gross profit margin remained more or less stable at 50.5% (2024:
50.4%).

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$19.5 million or approximately 21.3% from approximately HK$91.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$72.1
million for the Year. The decrease was mostly because of the reduction in
gains arising from the disposal of self use properties.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately HK$52.9
million or approximately 21.5% from approximately HK$246.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$299.0 million for
the Year. The increase was mainly owing to the increase in staff cost as
well as advertising and promotion expenses for cross border e-commerce
business during the Year.

Other expenses, net

Other expenses decreased by approximately HK$87.7 million from a net
expenses of approximately HK$86.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 to a net income of approximately HK$1.4 million for the Year.
The decrease was mostly attributable to the decrease in and reversal
of previously provided impairment loss on items of property, plant and
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately HK$12.6 million or
approximately 30.9% from approximately HK$40.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$28.2 million for the Year.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in interest rate and the
reduction in outstanding loan amount which was resulted from the
repayment upon disposals of properties during the Year.

Profit/(loss) for the Year attributable to owners of the parent

During the Year, the Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of
the parent of approximately HK$7.1 million (2024: a loss attributable to
owners of the parent of approximately HK$15.4 million). Such turnaround
from loss to profit was mainly attributable to the combined effect of
(i) decrease in impairment loss on property, plant and equipment; (ii)
change from fair value losses to fair value gains on owned investment
properties; and (iii) decrease in finance costs, as the above partially offset
by the increase in marketing expenses.

Liquidity and Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$1,735.2 million (2024: approximately HK$2,095.1 million) which
were financed by current liabilities of approximately HK$358.9 million
(2024: approximately HK$380.9 million), non-current liabilities of
approximately HK$196.7 million (2024: approximately HK$328.8
million) and shareholders” equity of approximately HK$1,179.6 million
(2024: approximately HK$1,385.5 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposit were approximately HK$132.3 million (2024:
approximately HK$159.4 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's total interest-bearing debts amounted
to approximately HK$343.3 million (2024: approximately HK$460.9
million), all of which bore interest at floating interest rates and were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's borrowings from financial institution
will mature during the period from May 2025 to February 2027.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities, was approximately 1.7 (2024: approximately 2.2). The gearing
ratio, being the ratio of total interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits to equity attributable to owners of
the parent, was approximately 17.9% (2024: approximately 21.7%).
The Group always adopts a conservative approach in its financial
management.

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange
exposure in RMB. All the bank borrowings are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB, matches the currency requirements of the
Group's operating expenses. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly
arising from its operations in Mainland China. The RMB exposure of
the Group is mainly derived from currency translation risk arising from
the net assets of our Mainland China subsidiaries. The re-translation of
these net assets denominated in RMB into Hong Kong dollars using the
exchange rate as of the reporting date resulted in a re-translation loss
of approximately HK$1.1 million (2024: loss of approximately HK$87.9
million). The re-translation loss was recognized in other comprehensive
income/exchange reserve.

Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for
business growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group
manages its financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and
price risk. The Group invests its surplus funds in equity securities and
debt investments to maximize assets efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitment of
approximately HK$8.5 million (2024: approximately HK$2.6 million)
in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, which
were contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by
the Group's property, plant and equipment, owned investment properties
and certain rental income generated therefrom and the equity interests
in certain subsidiaries of the Company, with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$274.8 million.

As at 31 March 2024, certain bank loans and bills payables of the Group
were secured by the Group's property, plant and equipment, owned
investment properties and certain rental income generated therefrom,
assets classified as held for sale, the equity interests in certain subsidiaries
of the Company, and pledged deposits, with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$438.1 million.

Financial Guarantee

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has provided guarantees to a bank in
connection with facilities granted to CAP up to HK$370.0 million (2024:
HK$370.0 million).

Other Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures and
Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant investment held, nor
was there any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year. As at 31 March 2025, the Group did
not have any concrete plan for material investments or capital assets nor
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 10 April 2025, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to sell a property
situated at Shop on G/F with the cockloft, 60A Yen Chow Street,
Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$19.5 million, completion
of which took place on 5 June 2025. Further details were set out in the
announcement of (Wang On Group Limited (stock code: 1222) ("WOG"),
the ultimate holding company of the Company) dated 10 April 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group recognizes our employees as the key element that contributes
to the Group's success. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 759
employees (2024: 810), of whom approximately 84.5% (2024:
approximately 81.09%) were located in Hong Kong and Macau and
the rest were located in Mainland China. The Group remunerated its
employees based on industry practices and individual performance and
experience. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may also be granted to selected staff by reference to
the Group's performance, where appropriate, as well as the individual's
performance. The Group also provides a defined contribution to the
Mandatory Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
our eligible employees in Hong Kong and pays retirement contributions in
accordance with the statutory requirements for our Macau and PRC staff.
Other benefits such as medical and retirement benefits and structured
training programs were also provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavors
to provide a safe workplace to our employees. The Board believes that
the Group maintains admirable relations with the employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationships with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers,
customers, shareholders, investors and bankers to achieve its long-
term business growth and development. With an aim to enhancing the
competitiveness of the brands of the Group, it endeavors to provide
consistently high quality and large range of products to its customers; and
to build up and maintain a trustworthy and long-term relationship with its
suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we considered that the
major risks and uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(i) industrial policy risk: with the deepening of medical system reform
and the issuance of a number of industry policies and laws in
respect of medical charge control and control of medicines and
certification for traditional Chinese medicine, there could be
significant impact on the future development of the pharmaceutical
industry;

(i) environmental protection policies: environmental impact caused
by waste and wastewater generated during the pharmaceutical
manufacturing process and the construction and operations of
agricultural produce exchange markets, efficiency and security of key

infrastructure;
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(iif) cost control: the Group may not always be able to implement cost
control measures to effectively counter rising product cost and/or
decrease in income;

(iv) allowance for obsolete inventories: allowance for obsolete
inventories due to weather, expiry date of unsold products and
other damages;

(v) supply chain disruption: raw material shortage or price inflation due
to industry issues, risks of supplier control and flexibilities, to deal
with competitive pricing;

(vi) inability to penetrate emerging markets: the Group may not be able
to effectively penetrate traditional industries and traditional products
into emerging markets;

(vii) respond to customer behavior: the Group may not be able to

respond effectively to economy recession, reduction in consumer

spending and change of impulsive shopping behavior;

(viii) sourcing: less globalized sourcing and lower cost competitiveness;

(ix) volatility in retail rental: continuously increasing in retail rental may
reduce our profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of
such increases to our customers; and

(x) foreign exchange: unfavorable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group's cash flow and profits.

In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has
been closely monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, and would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of
policies and adjust strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing
operating environment. In particular, the Group will strengthen its
marketing efforts to cope with changes in consumer behavior and needs,
closely control inventories, establish our own sales policies and product
development, safety management and environmental protection level,
and push forward the construction of lean management and risk control
system. For possible risks, the Company would actively propose solutions
to lower their impacts on the business of the Company.
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EEENWmRD T E)

PROSPECTS
Chinese and Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Amid a challenging retail environment and shifting market dynamics, Wai
Yuen Tong has reinforced its market leadership in TCM by effectively
integrating ancient healing traditions with modern technological
advancements. The Company continues to drive TCM innovation with
the introduction of its pioneering Al-powered TCM diagnostic system
— the first of its kind among Hong Kong TCM providers. Utilizing
advanced imaging and data processing technology to assess facial and
vocal features, this system delivers highly accurate, data-driven health
assessments on individual consumer health conditions, reinforcing Wai
Yuen Tong's forefront position of TCM modernization.

Looking ahead, Wai Yuen Tong is strategically positioned to capitalize on
emerging opportunities within the TCM and the larger health segment.
The Company plans to enhance its service offerings through the
expansion of telehealth consultation platforms. By incorporating Al-driven
customer relationship management (CRM) systems, Wai Yuen Tong will
facilitate more sophisticated and personalized engagement with both
existing and potential clients. These initiatives are designed to improve
accessibility to professional TCM services while fostering long-term
customer loyalty.

Digital transformation will remain a key driver of the Company's growth
strategy. Wai Yuen Tong intends to significantly increase investments
to strengthen its e-commerce capabilities, with a strong focus on live
commerce platforms tailored to consumers in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area (GBA). Furthermore, the company is
reinforcing strategic relationship with leading cross-border e-commerce
platforms and service providers to expand its reach among Mainland
China consumers, with the aim to provide high quality health solutions to
China consumers.

The national policy framework supporting the development of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau GBA presents substantial growth
opportunities for Wai Yuen Tong. The Company is developing targeted
strategies to strengthen its presence in GBA markets. Beyond this region,
Wai Yuen Tong is actively pursuing expansion into Southeast Asia, where
growing interest in TCM and increasing e-commerce penetration create a
favorable environment for market entry.

Through these strategic efforts, Wai Yuen Tong remains committed to
advancing TCM while adapting to evolving consumer preferences and
industry trends. By prioritizing product innovation, service excellence, and
digital transformation, the Company is well-positioned to sustain long-
term growth and maintain its leadership in the TCM sector.

Brands Valuation

Recently, a professional valuer, Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited
was engaged to assess the value of the well-known brands owned by the
Group, namely Wai Yuen Tong, Madame Pearl's and Pearl's. As per the
valuation report, the total valuation for these brands as at 31 March 2025
isﬂ<$2.05 billion.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. TANG Ching Ho, Gss, /p, aged 63, was appointed as the Chairman
of the Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing
Director with effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised
representative and a member of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee and the chairman of the executive committee of
the Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning, policy making
and business development of the Group. He has extensive experience
in corporate management. He is also the chairman, an executive director
and an authorised representative of Wang On Group Limited, and the
executive chairman and an authorised representative of China Agri-
Products Exchange Limited, both of which are companies listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tang is a committee member of
the 12th to 14th National Committee of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference ("CPPCC"), a standing committee member and
convener of the 10th to the 13th plenary sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee and a deputy director of special
committee on education, science, health and sports of the National
Committee of CPPCC. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen
Association. He is the father of Ms. Tang Wai Man, an executive Director
and is also a controlling shareholder of Wang On Group Limited which is
a controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Ms. TANG Wai Man, aged 34, joined the Group in January 2016
and was appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is
an authorized representative of the Company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance and also a member of the executive committee,
the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. Ms. Tang is responsible for sales and marketing, channel
sales and retail operation of the Group in Hong Kong and Macau. She
graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with a Master of Arts with
Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group, she had worked
for Wang On Group Limited since July 2014 as an assistant to chairman
and accumulated other experience in financial analysis, sales and
marketing and business development in a number of corporate bodies in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. She is currently the Vice-Chairman
of Youth Committee of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Association,
the Supervisor of Hong Kong Chinese Medicine Industry Association
and the Honorary member of Court of Hong Kong Baptist University.
She is also the members of Shenzhen Pingshan District Committee
of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, Quality
Tourism Services Association Governing Council (Retailer Category),
The Innovation and Technology Commission — New Industrialisation
Vetting Committee, Hong Kong Baptist University Foundation Young
Entrepreneur Committee, Hong Kong Baptist University School of Chinese
Medicine Advisory Committee, Advisory Committee on Chinese Medicine
Development Fund and Chinese Medicine Development Committee.
She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and Managing
Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. LAW Man Yee, Anita, aged 62, joined the Group in 2004 and was
the Assistant General Manager — Purchasing Processing of the Group. She
was appointed as an executive Director and a member of the executive
committee of the Company on 8 February 2021. Ms. Law is responsible
for overall strategic planning, sales and marketing, raw material sourcing
and retail operation in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China of the
Group. She has extensive experience in pharmaceutical industry covering
strategic planning, sales and marketing, new products development and
production management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Ka Fai David, v+, aged 70, joined the Company as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and the member
of the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of
the Company. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, U.K. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial
Urban Development Group Limited (stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also
an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee, member of the nomination committee and member of the
remuneration committee of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1123), Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 120) and Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee
and member of the remuneration committee of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144), an independent non-
executive director, member of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee of Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding
Limited (stock code: 232), all of such companies are being listed in Hong
Kong. Mr. Li has retired as an independent non-executive director and
ceased to be the chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee, and a member of the nomination committee of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1582), a company
listed in Hong Kong, on 25 June 2021.
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Professor SIT Wing Hang, Gss, jr, aged 64, joined the Company as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 8 December 2023. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company, and member
of each of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Professor Sit joined the Hong Kong Government in 1984 and
was promoted to the Director of Electrical and Mechanical Services and
Electrical & Mechanical Services Trading Fund General Manager in 2017.
During his tenure, he was in charge of electrical and mechanical safety
and promotion of energy efficiency and conservation in Hong Kong, as
well as the provision of engineering services for electrical and mechanical
assets of the Hong Kong SAR Government. He served as the Secretary
for Innovation and Technology of the Hong Kong SAR Government
from April 2020 to 30 June 2022. Professor Sit was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star and was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong
Kong SAR Government. Professor Sit is currently an independent non-
executive director of Regal Partners Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Morris Home Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1575), Envision Greenwise
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Golden Ponder Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 1783) and China State Construction Development Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 830), which are companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also the independent non-executive
director of Xiamen Jihong Co. Limited, which is company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002803.S7) and listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2603). He is also the Chief Executive and
Secretary of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. In addition, he serves
as a Senior Advisor to the President and Vice-Chancellor and Honorary
Professor of the Hong Kong Baptist University, and a Professor of Practice
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Professor Sit is an electrical
engineer by profession and has over 42 years of experience in public
administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, and was the President of the Hong Kong Institution of Facility
Management and the Chairman of the Biomedical Division of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers.

Professor CHAN Wing Kwong, vp, aged 61, joined the Company as
an Independent Non-executive Director on 8 December 2023. He is
the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company, a member
of each of the audit committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. Professor Chan is a Registered Chinese Medicine Practitioner.
Professor Chan currently serves as a Visiting Professor of the School
of Chinese Medicine at The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a
Visiting Professor at the Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine.
He also serves as the President of Hong Kong Registered Chinese
Medicine Practitioners Association and the Vice President of Supervision
Board of the World Federation of Chinese Medicine Societies. Professor
Chan is a member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. TSANG Yuen Wo joined the Group in September 2018 and he is
currently the Director (Technical) of both the Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Group and the Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the
Group. He is responsible for technical operations of the Group including
quality assurance, quality control, production, research and development,
regulatory affairs, engineering and logistic issues. Dr. Tsang received his
BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston University and the PhD degree at
the University of Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist and a registered
Authorized Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong Kong.
He has more than 21 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry.
Academically, Dr. Tsang was the Honorary Associate Professor of the
Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of
Medicine, the University of Hong Kong from 2010 to 2023 and he is
currently the Adjunct Associate Professor, College of Life Sciences and
Technology, the School of Professional and Continuing Education, the
University of Hong Kong. Regarding professional services, he was the
Chairman of the Pharmacy Central Continuing Education Committee from
2003 to 2017 and he was responsible for continuing education of all
registered pharmacists in Hong Kong. He is currently the Managing Editor
of the Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.

Mr. MAK King Pui, Ricky joined the Group in May 2023 as Financial
Controller and is responsible for the overall financial management,
accounting and tax matters of the Group. Mr. Mak obtained a Bachelor
Degree of Arts (Honors) in Accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and is Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 31 years of experience
in auditing, accounting, corporate finance, investment and financial
management in both Hong Kong and Mainland China covering various
industries including, property development, resources and mining,
department store operation, manufacturing and retailing.

Mr. CHAN Siu Fai Daniel joined the Group in September 2021 as
the Head of Factory Operations and he is responsible for monitoring
factory routine operations, implementing, reviewing and improving
factory workflow to achieve efficient management in Hong Kong. Mr.
Chan obtained a Master Degree of Business Administration in University
of South Australia and a Bachelor Degree of Engineering (Honors) in
Manufacturing Engineering in Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chan
has more than 33 years of experience in factory operation.
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Ms. CHA Yan Fong joined the Group in November 2023 as the General
Manager of the Group. She is responsible for managing the Chinese
medicine business unit, overseeing and supervising sales and marketing
team to achieve long-term business goal. Prior to joining the Group, she
has over 21 years of experience in well-known companies, in which she
took various senior positions in sales, marketing management, business
development with proven track records, especially in pharmaceutical and
personal care product industries. Ms. Cha obtained a Bachelor Degree
of Business Administration (Honors) specializing in marketing in The
Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. YAU Yuk Shing joined the Group in April 2022 and is responsible
for executing the business strategy, plans and annual budget. He has
also established an effective management and institutional system, and
accomplished the Company's business goal by staying ahead on market
and industry trends. Mr. Yau has more than 30 years of management
experience in property development, engineering and construction
businesses. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yau worked for certain
companies with a wide spread of experience in real estate industry and
project management. Mr. Yau is the brother-in-law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho,
the executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. CHAN Kit Man joined the company in June 2025 as Chief
Executive Officer to provide leadership on the strategic direction of Wai
Yuen Tong and oversees the overall operations of the business in Hong
Kong, China and overseas. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience
in consumer goods industry, including regional management roles in
leading multinational life science and healthcare companies for Asia
Pacific markets.
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Ms. NG Siu Yin Monica joined the Group in May 2021 and is currently
as Senior Quality Assurance Manager, responsible for managing the
Chinese medicine quality assurance department and product research
and development department, to ensure that product quality complies
with GMP standards, and work of product research and development
and registration are carried out effectively. Ms. Ng has over 30 years of
experience in testing, quality control, quality certification and product
development, working in testing institutions, pharmaceutical factories,
food production and logistics center, and has nearly 15 years of actual
management in the supervision of Chinese medicine manufacturing and
product registration. She graduated with a Master's degree in Natural
Chemistry from the National University of Singapore, and subsequently
obtained a Master's degree in Operations Management from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and a Master's degree in Chinese Medicine
from the University of Hong Kong.

Ms. NG Yee Man Fiona joined the Group in February 2022 and
was appointed as Company Secretary in April 2024. Ms. Ng is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. She has over 26 years of experience in finance,
accounting and corporate secretarial functions, including over 16 years of
experience in handling listed company secretarial and compliance related
matters of Hong Kong listed companies. She holds a Bachelor Degree of
Commerce (Accounting) from Curtin University of Technology, Australia.
Before joining the Group, Ms. Ng worked in various listed companies
as company secretary and financial controller and has held company
secretary positions in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (an associate
of the Company), which is a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 149).
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve as
an effective risk management for the growth of the Company that will
promote and enhance the benefit of its shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”). The Company is committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance with a strong emphasis on
transparency, accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the
code provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The
Board has periodically reviewed the compliance of the CG Code and is of
the view that throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
had complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except
for the following deviation:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho,
the chairman of the Board, also assumed the role of managing Director.
Currently, the Company does not propose to comply with code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code for the time being but will continue to review such
deviation to enhance the best interest of the Group as a whole. Details
of such deviation are set out below in the section headed “Chairman and
Managing Director”.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model
Code") contained in C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all of the Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year under review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on no less exacting terms than the Model Code by the
relevant employees of the Group who are considered likely to be in
possession of inside information in relation to the Company or its
securities. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant
employees complied with the required standard of such code throughout
the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIVIDEND POLICY

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is
intended to be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time
to time. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any particular period. Subject to compliance with applicable
rules and regulations, the Board may, at its discretion, determine the
declaration of payment of dividend(s) to its Shareholders in any amount,
frequency in any financial year depending on, among other things, the
Company's operation and financial performance, liquidity condition,
capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing and sale of
traditional Chinese medicine; (ii) the manufacturing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical, health food and personal care products; and (iii) property
investment. The Group continues its proactive expansion strategy for
generating and preserving shareholder value over the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical
integration. In order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the
effort on new products research, development and registration, especially
focus on those Chinese and Western medicinal products which possess
their own uniqueness and curative effect. The Group also extends its
retail and medical service network aggressively to gain market share.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market
for merger and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to the
existing business, as well as diversification of its investment portfolio
for strengthening and broadening its income base. The Group also
takes active and prompt measures from time to time, reviewing and
adjusting its business strategy and adopting various controls over costs, if
necessary, so as to maintain the Group's profitability. Besides, the Group
strives to maintain a healthy financing structure and devotes effort to
securing banking facilities which is regarded as an important element for
supporting continuous business development of the Group.
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THE BOARD
Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during
the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, cas, Jp

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH
Professor Sit Wing Hang, cas, /p
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, vp
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
(Resigned on 1 November 2024)

Ms. Tang Wai Man is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical
details of the Directors are set out on page 22 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which
are appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company.
The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. As at the date of
this annual report, the Board has three INEDs, representing more than
one-third of the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate
professional qualification and/or accounting and audit experience
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including INEDs) also generates a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows for an independent and objective decision making
process for the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
The Board's composition includes different gender, age, cultural
and educational background, and professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The Company has reviewed the composition of the Board
and discussed from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses
the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet
the needs of the Group's businesses and to enhance the Shareholders’
value. All Directors are aware of the required levels of fiduciary duties,
care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.
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In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an updated
list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions are available
on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk). The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Board will review the composition
of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
needs of the Group's business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.

Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All INEDs are appointed without specific term set out in respective letters
of appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)").
All INEDs" terms of office will be renewed automatically after the re-
election, unless prematurely terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions specified in the letter of appointment, the Bye-Laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”) and the Listing
Rules, each as amended from time to time. Pursuant to code provision
B.2.2 of the CG Code and bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) are required to retire
from office by rotation, provided that every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting. In addition, any Director who is appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board are subject
to re-election at the first annual general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment.

Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their
appointment and on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any
business or other relationship with the Company. The Company has
received from each INED an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the financial year ended
31 March 2025. The INEDs would not participate in the Group's daily
operation and they would abstain from voting on any resolution(s) in
which he had any interest and, therefore, the Company continues to
consider the three INEDs to be independent for the financial year ended
31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and
performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, among
other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review of corporate
and financial policies and the oversight of management of the Group's
business and affairs. Apart from these, the Board reserved for its
consideration and decision on major acquisitions and disposals, review
of interim and annual financial results, appointments and removals
of directors and auditors, the evaluation on the performance and
compensation of senior management, any material capital transactions
and other significant operational and financial affairs. With a view to
maintaining an appropriate balance between authority and responsibility,
such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly
through various committees established by the Board, with respective
functions set out in their written terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved
in the day-to-day management of the Group. The general management
and day-to-day management are delegated to management of the
Company, including but not limited to the preparation of regular financial
information, execution of designated assignments, and implementation
of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain
from voting at such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of
interest shall attend at such meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge
their responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have
disclosed to the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any
public organisation and other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company
were held four times to review, consider and approve, among others,
annual and interim results and to review the business operations,
corporate governance practices and the effectiveness of internal control
and risk management systems of the Group. Apart from these regular
meetings, Board meetings are also held, as and when necessary, to
consider, among others, material transactions of the Group. At least 14-
day notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such
minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to the CG
Code, the chairman of the Board also met with the INEDs without the
presence of any executive Director during the year under review.
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Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the
Board, has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang
has extensive management experience in corporate management in
the industries of the Group and is responsible for overall corporate
planning, strategic policy making of the Group which is of great value in
enhancing the efficiency to cope with the recent fierce competitive and
ever-changing retailing market environment and the communication
between the Board and management, so as to ensure the effective
execution of the Board's strategies. Furthermore, the Board considers
that Mr. Tang is an executive of high caliber with a wide range of skills
and diversified business expertise and there are various committees and
experienced individuals dealing with specific assignments and business
unit(s) and managing the daily business operations. Moreover, the Board
comprises three executive Directors and three INEDs with balance of
skills and experience appropriate for the Group's further development.
The Company had no intention to make any change to comply with
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual) at the moment but will continue to review and propose, as
and when appropriate, by taking into consideration of such deviation and
any other relevant factors, to ensure the maximisation of the benefit of
the stakeholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to
ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place to continuously
review, monitor and improve the corporate governance practices within
the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the policies and
practices on the Group's corporate governance, reviewed the code
of conduct applicable to the Directors and employees, monitored
the policies and measures on the Company’s legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuing professional development of
Directors and reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and the disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

NTEEEERERAT 2025 F£3§

TEERBRE 2

FERESHREE

REBEFER  EEGEFEEALENE
TEZREE - WAL ERNERTETED
TEEEFTAEEEYENEELR  BEAX
EEMEBDERE MRBEBERHIE - ¥R
FHARS B B A R TR R T & LT
%m%h%m&+ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ WEHEE
EeHERECREBR  UHREZSNE
BB ER - Wi EFERAE - BEAL
TEFREBAER  BEZEFERSLIE
BER BEZMAZESRELHBALTERRE
BETIEREBEUNUANERRRERKS
BoBE ETCHRRE-EZRTERN=F
BUFPITES  HARBAEEE— TR
BEZHERENER - AAGBREES
TEH A2 NETEEE AT ZTAE
XCZWMWI%ﬁﬁﬁWﬁm%@%ﬁE

C NEAR—ARM)  BEEEZIRRERE
ﬂ&&ﬂﬁ@ﬁ@l%é%iﬁk B AT
MRPER  URRZBEARARFHETF
e AFIES ©

bxER

EX2RAERBEXBEATARTEEER
%E*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ@%%'u
FARRITERREERT - FHERY  BEE
RBEREEANEEERARER

REBEFERN  EFCRIAEBNEE

ERARENED BHEZLEBBERNE
TP R EERARRIRPEARMEE B RBUR

Kt EENRIIRFEREXERS
YERAANRRETEEEATRNEREAN
FHRANBERR

£ BEEQCEMHALE

RIETT
EIATR

33




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEREBRE 2

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives,
sustainable and balanced development. In June 2013, the Company
adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which
sets out the approach to diversify the Board and was reviewed annually.
The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition
on behalf of the Board and will recommend the appointment of new
Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy and the
nomination policy.

In designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service.
The Nomination Committee will also consider factors based on the
Company's business model, specific needs and meritocracy from time to
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board recognises the importance and benefits of gender diversity at
the Board level and shall continue to take initiatives to identify suitable
candidate(s) to enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised six Directors,
of whom four were male and two were female. The Board considered
gender diversity on the Board has been achieved. When selecting
and making recommendations on suitable candidates as Directors in
the future, the Group will consider the diversity policy and ensure the
diversity of the Board.

The diversity philosophy including the gender diversity was generally
followed in the workforce throughout the Group for the year under
review. As at the date of this annual report, approximately 38% of the
senior management and approximately 66% of the total workforce were
female. The Group will continue with the endeavor to achieve a balance
in gender ratio.

During the year under review, the Board comprises six Directors,
including three executive Directors and three INEDs, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and
the Board's composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates
training materials or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the
updates on, among other things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")
or other useful guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and financial
or accounting standards which may be of the interest to the Directors
and benefit for them to discharge their duties. Apart from reading
materials relevant to the Company's business, the updated rules and
regulations and other director’s duties and responsibilities by all Directors,
the Directors also enhanced their professional development by way of
attending seminars and/or forums.

Each of the Directors has complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code and has participated in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for the year under review.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, all Directors received
regular update on corporate governance matters or new or changes to
laws and regulations. All Directors are requested to provide the Company
with a record of the training they received, and such records have been
maintained by the company secretary of the Company for accurate and
comprehensive record keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal
action on corporate activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and
renewed with consultant advice on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees including executive
committee (the "Executive Committee”), the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee"), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee, each of which has the
specific written terms of reference that will be reviewed and updated,
where necessary. Minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the
committee meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company
and open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decisions and recommendations, where appropriate.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific
written terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board.
Its primary function is to undertake general management and supervise
the day-to-day management, performance and operations in accordance
with the business strategy of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops
and keeps under review strategy and business development initiatives of
the Group and monitors their implementation. Currently, the Executive
Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms.
Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the
chair of the Executive Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of
the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).
Currently, the Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka
Fai, David, Professor Sit Wing Hang and Professor Chan Wing Kwong. Mr.
Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist
the Board to review and monitor the financial reporting independently,
including interim and annual results, to supervise over the Group's
internal control and risk management systems, to monitor the internal
and external audit functions, the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the auditor and to make relevant recommendations to the
Board to ensure effective and efficient operation and reliable reporting.
The functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly by
the Board and amended from time to time, as and when appropriate,
in order to be in compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
(as amended from time to time) so as to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control and risk
management systems including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff to implement the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties and may access to independent professional advice according
to the Company's policy, if considered necessary. During the year under
review, the Audit Committee held two regular meetings and two special
meetings with the Group's senior management and the external auditor.
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During the year under review, the Audit Committee met to discuss and
review, among other things, the following matters:

@

(b)

©

(d

©
®

®

the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
interim results for the six-month ended 30 September 2024 to
ensure the full, complete and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid
financial statements pursuant to the accounting standards and other
legal requirement for presenting the same to the Board for approval;

the terms and remuneration for the appointments of Emst & Young
as external auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March
2024 and to perform the agreed upon procedures on the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2024;

the terms and remuneration for the appointments of external
auditor to perform non-audit services, other special corporate
projects and review the overall significant control system;

the independence of the external auditor especially for those non-
audit services;

the continuing connected transactions of the Group, if any;

the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems; and

the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
and the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters
and their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity of
the external auditor and has recommended to the Board for the re-
appointment of Emnst & Young as the Company's external auditor for the
ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since
September 2005 with specific written terms of reference, as revised from
time to time, stipulating its authorities and duties.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, including
Professor Sit Wing Hang, Professor Chan Wing Kwong, Mr. Li Ka Fai,
David, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom
are INEDs during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report. Professor Sit Wing Hang is elected as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and may access to independent
professional advice in accordance with the Company’s policy and its
written terms of reference, if considered necessary.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing a remuneration policy;

b) to review and approve the senior management's remuneration
PP g
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

() to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
including but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his associate is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of directors that require shareholders' approval under Rule
13.68 of the Listing Rules;

conform to any requirements, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time prescribed by the Board, the Bye-laws or any
other applicable laws and regulations; and

the chairman or another member of the Committee shall attend the
Company's annual general meetings and be prepared to respond to
questions raised by shareholders on the Committee’s activities and
responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by
reference with the market research and current market circumstance,
communicated with the chairman and managing Director, recommended
amendments to the existing remuneration policies and performance-
based bonus, if appropriate, and approved the remuneration package
and performance-based bonus paid to the other Directors and senior
management of the Company (i.e. the model described in the CG code
is adopted). No Director took part in any discussion about his/her own
remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to
discharge its major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of
service agreements of the Directors and the senior management, make
recommendations with respect to the remuneration and policies of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses, including the
incentive awards for Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements. The annual remuneration of other members of the
senior management by bands for the financial year ended 31 March
2025 is set out below:

FHEZEEERITRKEEBETHEIER
B (EhemtEEERSRERE 2R
Bid 2 &R REERARASREEE
ZHMEBRRELEEES RESMRER
EEEZHMEFEE TR RS - B4
(B RbES -

EEHMFBRHEIINMBHRERME - BEZ
ToRF=ZA=+T—RHILMBFE s&KE
BEEMKEZFEMSFRIIIMT

Number of

individuals
Remuneration to the senior management by bands EREEEMEER A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L% 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/5 7T 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T 22,000,000/5 7T 2
Nomination Committee REEEE

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005
with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time,
stipulating its authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of
the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).
It currently consists of five members, including Professor Chan Wing
Kwong, Professor Sit Wing Hang, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Tang Ching Ho
and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the year
under review and up to the date of this annual report pursuant to the
Listing Rules. Professor Chan Wing Kwong is elected as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.
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REZESREFIINFEREXAENRZE
REZLEMELENREA - EFEER
“E-N\FHAKERAEERRARERR
BBR - RBBRMEAFRAEFEHEE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and
evaluation of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director
and senior management. The Board has formalised and adopted
its existing practices into a nomination policy in October 2018. The
nomination policy stipulated the key selection criteria and procedures for 2B A BERIFRANBEZEH T BTIRIZAE
identifying and nominating suitably qualified candidates for appointment ~ &2/ IR B BRI AN IEZEREFE
to the Board. The selection criteria and procedures specified in the % :

nomination policy include:

1. Selection Criteria 1. EZEEZEE

EFEERREASSEER - 12

Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as
reference), including reputation, integrity, accomplishment and
relevant experience in relation to the principal businesses of
the Company from time to time, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. These
factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate;

retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those who
have served as INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years
standing for re-election, the Nomination Committee will
consider the independence of such Director for nomination
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting and
state the reason in the circular to the Shareholders for the re-
election;

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written
consent to be appointed as Director(s) and to the public
disclosure of their personal data on any documents or the
relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as Director(s); and

the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to

provide additional information and documents, if considered
necessary.

NTEEEERERAT 2025 F£3§
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TEERREE)
2. Nomination Procedures 2. BEESF

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations
of candidate(s) from Board members, if any, for consideration
by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also put forward candidate(s)
who are not nominated by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board's consideration and
approval. For proposing candidate(s) to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the Shareholders,
the nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be
sent to the Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the Shareholders to make the nominations. The
names, brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant
experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any
other information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws,
rules and regulations, of the proposed candidate(s) will be
included in the circular to the Shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary
within the lodgment period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as Director, without the
Board's recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidate(s) set out in the
circular to be sent to the Shareholders. The particulars of the
candidate(s) so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular;
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a candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing
to the company secretary;

the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at
any general meeting; and

as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies
available, and the “gross-vote” method will be used to
determine who shall be elected as Director, the resolutions
proposed for the candidate(s) by the Shareholders shall
therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed for
the candidate(s) recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of
the benefits of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors
implementation of this policy as part of the process of selecting and
nominating candidates for appointment to the Board. Candidates
are considered against a broad and diverse range of aspects
specified in the nomination policy, which among other aspects also
include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

(@

(b)

to review and evaluate the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, independence and length of service) of
the Board at least annually and make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships; In
identifying suitable individuals, the Committee shall consider
individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

NTEEEERERAT 2025 F£3§
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(©) to assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs' (0 HEBIIFATESNB LML E
annual confirmations on their independence and make BB IEITES Y E B I MRE
disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance ERER  WEARBREEE LR
report of the Company; ERHBEAEMER

(d) to regularly review the time required for a director to perform (d) THBAEFRREITREMTHNR
his/her responsibilities; Ml

(e) to review the balance between executive and non-executive (e) MAMITEFHIENTEE AN
directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and FEAREFSH R - M &
diversity on the Board; BRZTEHEE

(f) to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of (H TERFEENEERETT R
the organisation with a view to ensuring the long term success AR AN S B 8 R BT 5

of the Group;

(g) to review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, and (g MBWIEFSZITICER I
review the measurable objectives that the Board has set for NEEEREMEEEETIBER
implementing the board diversity policy, and the progress on MElERRIEE BT - U RIEER
achieving the objectives; and make disclosure of its review ZELHEFAMER  WEFEED
results in the corporate governance report annually; ¥ERAMETBREERER

(h) to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election (h BRABEEES=FEHRREE
every three years by shareholders; EE

() to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, () BMEZFCFRRERERITHAEE)H
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession ZRiE - EMERENFEREEE
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the MESSROER  UWEBEARAQR
chief executive, taking into account the Company's corporate BT 3 R BE SRR PT AR B B8 - &0
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and = KBNS

diversity needed in the future;

() to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every director () BREZESEHITAEETSK
should receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a 8 ERBFWREXNE TR
service contract with the Company, as appropriate; HARNTEFRBER
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TEERHRE 2
(k) where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as k) BEFTHNIREARZ HIRERG

RETRALRBIIFATES
H T BE M IR K & 38 & B R
KK, S BRR B

an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular
to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting:

the process used for identifying the individual why
the Board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

if the proposed independent non-executive Director
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the Board believes the individual would
still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board;

the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.
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() the chairman or another member of the Nomination () REZEGEXEXSZ—KEEBELE
Committee shall attend the Company’s annual general RARRRBFRE - WIETEH
meetings and be prepared to respond to questions raised by EERRAEBEE G 2 A8 KB
shareholders on the Committee’s activities and responsibilities. H MR A ERE -

RAZBEEEHADERABITHR
B UAREBEEFEZTIEBRMES
HREXEEERERATSIELE
EBR -

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and may access to independent
professional advice according to the Board Diversity Policy and its
written terms of reference, if considered necessary.

REBEFERN  REZESRITMAE
& BAEFENZLERR  FHE
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Bt MERKEHIE

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings to review the Board Diversity Policy, evaluate the Board
performance and succession planning and discuss the criteria and
procedures for retirement by rotation. The Nomination Committee
would recommend to the Board for re-appointment of Ms. Tang Wai
Man and Professor Sit Wing Hang at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS MEETINGS EFNgTmzHES
Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings, HE T -RF=A=+—HBILHHREE -
committee meetings and shareholder meetings held during the financial ARIEENEEES#  ZTESTEZLKE
year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows: REZHEFBENT
Attendance
HRER
Board Meetings Board Committee Meetings 2024 AGM
- Sl L2
ES LS
Ezee EzzEged Ag
RM SM AC RC NC
EHeE BHeE ENZEE HMzZEE REZEE
Total number of meetings SHBH 4 9 4 1 2 1
Members of the Board £330
Executive Directors BTES
Tang Ching Ho HiEm 4/4 9/9  N/ATER 1 2/2 1/1
Tang Wai Man Hag 4/4 9/9  N/AMNER Al 2/2 Al
Law Man Yee, Anita EHE 3/4 9/9  NATER  NATER  NATER 11
Independent Non-executive Directors B FFH{TES
Li Ka Fai, David (Note 1) FRE(Et 1) 4/4 9/9 44 NAVRER  NANER 1
Sit Wing Hang (Note 2) EXEH2) 4/4 9/9 4/4 1 22 i1
Chan Wing Kwong oKk 2/4 9/9 2/4 0/1 1/2 1
Members departing during 2024 REB-MERBNAE
Independent Non-executive Director BUFHTES
Siu Man Ho, Simon (Note 3) BARMH3) 2/2 5/5 1/2 1 2/2 11
Legend:
FTRR

Board Meetings Board Committees Meetings

2024 AGM — Annual General Meeting of the Company

Exeges ExZEEe3 held on 20 August 2024
RM — Regular Meetings ~ AC — Audit Committee Meetings TECNFRERFTRAE — ARERZZZWFNA

EHEE BEREZESER “+HBRETNRRAFAE
SM — Special Meetings NC — Nomination Committee Meetings

quJDJlJ Eu#é }E%K/\/E\g B

RC — Remuneration Committee Meeting
FWEzEees

Notes: Ast
1. Mr LiKa Fai, David was appointed as a member of each of the Nomination Committee 1.  FREAENR-_T_ME+—F—AEZTAIRS

and the Remuneration Committee on 1 November 2024.

2. Professor Sit Wing Hang was appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee on 1 November 2024.
3. Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon ceased to be the INED, the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 1 November 2024.

46

ZEGRFHEREERAMMKE

2. EOKBHER-_Z-_NE+-A-BEZERFMH
ZEETR -

3. BXEREER-ZT-NF+-A-BTBEEBL
FMITEE FHEE X FEURERZEGRIER
FZREVEBIKE °

WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems covering financial, operational, compliance and risk
management aspects.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit
Committee would consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience and training of staff and external advisor of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function.

Management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the
Group's assets and stakeholder's interest. Management may report from
time to time any finding, recommendation and remedies to the Audit
Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address
and handle all the significant risks associated with the businesses of the
Group. The Board would perform an annual or periodical review on any
significant change of the business environment and establish procedures
to respond to the risks resulted from the significant change of business
environment.

Management would identify the risks associated with the businesses of
the Group by considering both internal and external factors and events
which include political, economic, technology, environmental, social,
governance and staff. Each of risks has been assessed and prioritised
based on their relevant impact and occurrence opportunity. The relevant
risk management strategy would be applied to each type of risks
according to the assessment results. Each type of risk management
strategy has been listed as follows:

—  Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake
actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

—  Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid
the risk;

—  Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

—  Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.
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The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce
the risks associated with the businesses accepted by the Group and
minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external
advisory firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. All findings and recommendations on internal
control deficiencies were communicated with the Audit Committee and
the Board.

Management confirmed that no significant deficiency and weakness on
the internal control system was identified by the external advisory firm
for the financial year ended 31 March 2025. The Board conducted an
annual review on the risk management and internal control systems and
procedures of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance and it was considered that the internal
controls and risk management functions were reasonably effective and
adequate for the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

Information Disclosure

The Group discloses information in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong
and the Stock Exchange, releases its periodic reports and interim
announcements to the public in accordance with law, and discloses
important information such as the Group's financial results, material
information changes and information on significant projects to the market
on a timely basis, bearing in mind the timeliness, fairness, accuracy,
authenticity and completeness of information disclosure, therefore
protecting the legal interests of investors and stakeholders.

Inside Information Policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management of
the Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure
that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company's external auditor, Ernst
& Young, for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 which has been
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

TEERBRE2)

S8 1% BY BT o Fr A

BHE-_T-_AF=A=+—HIHBEFED
£/ FER AN A RN AR BRAT 2ok & &R R 15
e EREZEZ 8 oA RIE - #7
R

Fees paid/payable

to Ernst & Young

24/

RAEMERHER

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group e 7 &2 [ AT iR it AR 7% T

Audit services: EZIRT

— annual financial statements —FEPBREK 3,800
Non-audit services: FEBEIZARTS

— agreed-upon procedures —BERF 638

— taxation and professional services — B R H X BRTS 809

Total et 5,247

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and
publication of the timely financial statements and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the accounts for the financial year
ended 31 March 2025, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operations and relevant to the
financial statements and have presented an understandable assessment
of the Group's position and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are
prepared on a going concem basis and they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to the events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Directors continue to explore any opportunities with potential investors to
enhance its financial position and business development of the Group by
way of refinancing, extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 72 to 77 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the
SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations implemented
in relevant jurisdictions. As far as the Board is concerned and save as
disclosed herein, the Group has complied in material aspects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group during the financial year ended
31 March 2025.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on
environmental friendliness, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. The
Group proactively implements environmental protection policies, gradually
adjust its portfolio, conduct energy-saving, using recycled paper, emission
reduction and pollution prevention strategies. The Group continues to
upgrade its industrial facilities to become more environmental friendly,
including the use of solar energy and implementation of energy saving

policy.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with shareholders and investors (both individuals and
institutions) to ensure that the Group's information is disseminated
to stakeholders in a timely manner and enable them to have a
clear assessment of the enterprise performance. A shareholders
communication policy has been adopted by the Company and the same
is available on the website of the Company (www.wyth.net). Other major
means of communications includes:

Disclosures in Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position
will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements,
circulars and other corporate communications which will be sent to
shareholders and/or published on the websites of the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.wyth.net). Other inside
information will be released by way of formal public announcements as
required by the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under
Part XIVA of the SFO.
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General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders. Members of the Board
and the members of various committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions at such general meetings.

In order to let the Shareholders to make an informed decision at the
general meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 14 clear days
for every general meeting and 21 clear days for every annual general
meeting were given to the Shareholders pursuant to bye-law 59 of the
Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll during the proceedings of
meetings and answered all questions raised by the Shareholders on
voting by poll. All resolutions put to vote at general meetings are taken by
poll and the poll results are published on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) immediately
following the holding of the general meetings.

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps
investors and the Shareholders abreast of the Group's latest development
and discloses relevant information to the public in a timely manner.
During the year under review, the Group held various meetings with
investors and participated in investor and press conferences.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the

shareholders’ communication policy and considered it to be effective
during the year under review.
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SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS
Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings
and shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company to require a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be called
by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the
SGM; and (ii) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101,
31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, and may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company's share registrars and
upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the
company secretary of the Company will inform the Board to convene a
SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if
the requisition has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as
requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them may convene a SGM in accordance with the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be
held after expiration of three months from the said date of deposit of the
requisition. A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be
convened by the Board.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws, to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company, the
shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company, to require general meetings of the Company to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified
in such requisition. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must
be deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/
F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong with a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in
case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a
general meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section
headed under “Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at
www.wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing by email to pr@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company in the following
manners:

In respect of corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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ANTI-CORRUPTION COMPLIANCE POLICY

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
legal and ethical conduct across all its business activities. To uphold this
commitment, the Company has adopted an Anti-Corruption Compliance
Policy that applies to all Directors, officers, employees, agents, and
associated personnel. The Policy strictly prohibits bribery, kickbacks, and
any form of corruption, whether direct or indirect. Company personnel
are expressly forbidden from offering, giving, soliciting, or accepting
anything of value to gain or retain an improper business advantage.

The Policy is supported by robust internal controls designed to prevent
corruption, avoid any appearance of wrongdoing, and enable the
Company to respond promptly and effectively to any related concerns.
Any breach of this Policy may result in disciplinary action, including
termination of employment. Employees are encouraged to seek advice
from the designated Director if they have any questions regarding
compliance.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate
the achieving of high possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. Procedures are formulated to enable individual employees
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the individual
believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety within the Group. During
the year under review, no incident of fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that have material effect on the Group’s financial
statements and overall operations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Yee Man, Fiona (“Ms. Ng"), who was appointed as company
secretary of the Group, reports directly to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated and timely information to all Directors
from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, Ms. Ng complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY & ESG OVERSIGHT CEMESEREERE HEREREER

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and ZAEBE NHEEBEKERE - AiEHEFNE
strives for greater rewards for the stakeholders, the Group acknowledge — {ERIBRH R - WA LBz A& A 24
its corporate social responsibility to share some burden in building @HMGHEAREMET - AEE—FTARSE=S
the society where the business has been established and thrived. The EEE%IJF RIS EAEE - UEERPTE
Group has not only improved the quality management system but ZE &% 2 v ER I - KEBIFAAES
also strengthened the audit quality to ensure the quality and safety —FIBHEEEZCEMRBECEE - B
of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical project control. The Group is NI [B B L EKFLER - KEBKILT
also conscious of its role as a socially responsible group of companies. & TEE - KEEFE T THEREE SR
It makes donations for community wellbeing from time to time, and Eﬁ?«? THEN AR RS - $%@I& 2 AN
supports the communities. The Group built up a team of staff volunteers RER(RRE - HBRER ) XENFEB
to get involved in volunteer work and encourages its employees to %@Eﬁff?fﬂiiaii HERERME] -
participate in any charitable events and caring services. The details of the

environmental, social and governance ("ESG") performance of the Group

are set out in the “2025 Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT EEXH

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no change inthe #HzE-—ZT-—FRE=-F=-+—RHItEE =i
constitutional document. TR AL A ) o

The Memorandum of Association and the bye-laws are available on the 4848 2 52 A 48 K% 2 51 40 Bl 5> Bl A B 35 B 48 5
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company at (www.hkexnews.hk)  (wwww.hkexnewshk) R 72N FAF 3 (vwvawyth net)

and (www.wyth.net), respectively. BHE o
CONCLUSION =8

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate R k3K » AEB LS FHH .ﬂ‘ﬁ/ﬁ% E
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance 4 %48 A 4 3% = /K E 7 ERRE - 12FH AN

the Company's competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure > &8 =% H REL MR » WHREE A EE gﬁe
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the [ . A& A EAIET 2O -

stakeholders.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended
31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale
of traditional Chinese and western pharmaceutical products, health
food, personal care products, and property investment. Details of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements. During the year under review, there were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 and
the Group's financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 78 to 82 of this annual report.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a
revenue of continuing operations and profit attributable to owners
of the parent amounted to approximately HK$745.3 million (2024:
approximately HK$783.9 million) and approximately HK$7.1 million
(2024: loss of approximately HK$15.4 million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: a final cash
dividend and a special cash dividend of HK3.0 cents and HK14.7 cents
respectively per ordinary share). No interim dividend was declared for the
six months ended 30 September 2024 (for the six months ended 30
September 2023: Nil).
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the
businesses of the Group, including, among other things, the information
set out below, are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 20 of this annual report:

(a) a fair review of the Group's business;

(b) principal risk factors;

(c) an analysis using financial key performance indicators; and
(d) future development in the Group's business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and
performance of the Group are disclosed in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report. More details will be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course. These
discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material
aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group during the financial
year ended 31 March 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of
the Company during the year under review, together with the reasons
therefor, are set out in notes 31 to 32 to the financial statements,
respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme as
set out in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” under the “Report
of the Directors” and note 32 to the financial statements, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 248
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, the Company repurchased a total of 46.00
million shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
All the repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled by the Company
on 3 May 2024.

HE  HEBEONELATNLEHES
Eﬁir Z’KZ\\j HHF Fﬁg%@lil/\
46ooooooﬁ FREECOVE L Z AR E MR

e ECBERNHERER =
H=HAHARBEZEH -

ToMEFER

Details of the share repurchases during the year ended 31 March 2025 BZZT-_RAF=A=+—HIEFERHKHE
are as follows: @E’jﬁl wms
Number of share Aggregate
Month of repurchase repurchased Purchase price per share amount
Bm A5 BoROEE BRBEE nE
Highest Lowest
=) BIE
(in million) HK$ HK$ HK$ (in million)
(A B &) BT BT BT (U B #ET)
/-\pril 2024 46.00 0.260 0.250 11.80
—EUFIMA
46.00 11.80
The repurchases of the Company's shares during the year ended REE-T-_AF=A=+—-HIFENE

31 March 2025 were made pursuant to the mandate granted by the
Shareholders at the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company
held on 22 August 2023, with a view to benefiting the Shareholders as
a whole by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per
share of the Company. As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares of the Company in issue was
1,125,102,888 shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities or
held any treasury Shares during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

RELIEF FROM TAXATION

During the year under review, the Directors are not aware of any relief
from taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holding the
Company's securities.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be
entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, losses, damages
and expenses which they may incur or sustain by or by reason of any
act done about the execution of the duties of their respective offices
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
other officers of the Group for the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution to equity holders of the parent calculated in accordance with
the Companies Act (2024: HK$89.9 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gas, Jp,
Chairman and Managing Director

Ms. Tang Wai Man

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH

Professor Sit Wing Hang, cas, /p

Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon (Resigned on 1 November 2024)

In accordance with Bye-Laws 84(1), Ms. Tang Wai Man (“Ms. Tang")
and Professor Sit Wing Hang (“Professor Sit") shall retire from office
by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.
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The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
all INEDs, namely Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Professor Sit and Professor Chan
Wing Kwong; and as at the date of this annual report, the Company still
considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 21 to 27 of this annual report.

UPDATE ON DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

During the year under review, there is no other change in information of
the Directors since the publication of the 2024 interim report which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by such company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 40 to the financial statements and the
section “Directors and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations”, no Directors or a connected entity of a Director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company, the holding company of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year under
review.

DIRECTOR'’S INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business, apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year under
review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or
the Model Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated
corporations, Wang On, CAP and Wang On Properties Limited ("WOP"):

(a) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

BEEERE 2

ESERFRTHRARRELFIREMEBE
BB - RO REEPZERR %
-

RZZBE-_RF=ZA=+—H BEERARF
FETBRAER SBEEEZABHEA
RAR B E A B EE (X R FES LA
EEBIEXVEL) 2 I&1n - BERMD HEEE
FoBEBBALRRRIREE S MAEKRAE
IS2EBETFBE 2 ERM - MREFES KB EK
BIEXVER Sk E AR R 2 B2 EFRIE ST
RRB R Rz m AR IT

RARRREMBEEEZR - FEEEMR
RRMEBRAT( ERME]) EBR 2T
B

@) READZBRZFA

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
total issued
share capital

Name of Director Number of shares (Note 1)

HARARE BT

RABEBN T DL

EEpR R BE (Hizt1)

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho 810,322,940 72.02
BB S (Note 2)
(#fzt2)
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(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On (the “Wang
On Shares”), an associated corporation of the Company:

(b) RAEQXFHEBEZMEZNEBRR(ER
B& ) 2R

Approximate
percentage of

Wang On'’s

total issued

share capital

Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares (Note 1)

HRRERT

RABEHROBT DL

EEfE NCIEEE RHEE (KisE1)

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho Wang On 6,063,896,772 42.80
BE M S K (Note 3)
(B15t3)

(c) Long positions in the ordinary shares of CAP (the “CAP
Shares”), an associated corporation of the Company:

(0 REATEEEESHRERNSER
(hERERRSG ) ZFA :

Approximate
percentage of

CAP’s

total issued

share capital

Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares (Note 1)

EPERERBERT

RAEEM AT DL

EEpA NEER RGEAR (Bist1)

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho CAP 5,682,514,594 57.09
EENE bivtas PEREmM (Note 4)
(Kzt4)
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(d) Long positions in the ordinary shares of WOP, an associated
corporation of the Company:

(d) RAEQFEBEEERZMENSERZ
R

Approximate
percentage of
WOP’s

total issued
share capital

Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares (Note 1)
HERRMESRT
RABEBOT DL
EEHE AR RHEE (Htat1)
%
Mr. Tang Ching Ho WOP 11,400,000,000 75.00
BOE N S REHEE (Note 5) (Note 2)
(Hfat5) (#fit2)

Notes: st -

The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the disclosure of interests form filed
under the SFO.

ZEBHURERRES RAEGRIERZD
BERBERBRE -

2. Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mir. Tang") was interested in 810,322,940 2. RIEES M EEG - 85T EE([BE
shares of the Company held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time"), a 4 ] ) 7 Rich Time Strategy Limited ( [ Rich
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE") which Time |) (B2 % 2 % AW B 2 7 Wang On
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his Enterprises (BVI) Limited([WOE]) 2 2 & &
associates were taken to have approximately 42.80% interest as at the date of AR BS10,322,9400 A A 7] B 15 b
this Report. HiEm  EREAEERABE AREKRE

HHIRAR R A £942.80% 2 # 5

3. Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the 3. RBTIERERMEL BERERE R
Stock Exchange, amongst the 6,063,896,772 Wang On Shares, 28,026,339 6,063,896,772f%x RL &0 + 28,026,3390%
Wang On shares were beneficially held by Mr. Tang; 4,989,928,827 Wang On RERDEESCEE =R + 4,989,928,827
shares were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang by virtue of being the founder of =2 B A R B S A fE m— TR R RS R (RIS
a discretionary trust, namely Tang's Family Trust; 28,026,300 Wang On shares KRIEEFE) ZEIS AT E (ERZERMD
were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang in which his spouse, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, WA ¢ 28,026,300/% 72 &2 I 17 #4873 B
was interested; and 486,915,306 Wang On shares were held by Caister Limited HAERERBHERLIREREEER
(a company wholly owned by Mr. Tang), and 531,000,000 Wang On shares BRI A D 0 486915306 R A%
were held by Billion Trader Investments Limited (an indirect wholly-owned fi& 15 Al 5 Caister Limited(—BIRE £ 2 BB
subsidiary of Caister Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang). B2 AR)FEA  531,000,00008 7 215 B

Billion Trader Investments Limited (A ER5E 4
2B %A 2 Caister Limited 2 B 2 BB A
ADHEE ©

4. Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the 4. REFERBZABMLz B RERSE -
Stock Exchange, amongst the 5,682,514,594 CAP Shares, 2,007,700,062 7 5,682,514,594 ik /1 Bl 2 & @ iR #
CAP Shares of which were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger 2,007,700,062 & # B & & @ % {5 B Onger
Investments”), and 3,674,814,532 CAP Shares of which were held by Rich Investments Limited ([ Onger Investments | )
Time (both Onger Investments and Rich Time were direct wholly-owned #H - M3,674,814,5320% 7 B & & R A% B
Subsidiaries of WOE). Rich Time(Onger InvestmentsEZRich Time5 4

WOEME 2 EMBARDIFE -

5. Pursuant to the disclosure of interest form published on the website of the Stock 5 REBEFIZREIAMAWE 2z ESEERE
Exchange, 11,400,000,000 WOP Shares were held by Eamest Spot Limited (a 11,400,000,000 % 7= % #f 2= A% 19 J5 FA Earnest
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE). Spot Limited (BWOEZ B2 EHI B A 7)) #
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates had any other interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2023,
the shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share
option scheme previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company
at the annual general meeting held on 22 August 2013 (the "2013
Scheme") and the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2023
Scheme") for the primary purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Upon termination of the 2013 Scheme, no share options was
granted.

Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, share options may be granted to any
Director or proposed Director, employee or proposed employee, of the
Company or its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) (the "Employee
Participants”) or any Director or proposed Director, employee or
proposed employee of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Group (the “Related Entity Participants”)
(collectively the “Participants”).

Under the 2023 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted which must be accepted
within 30 days from the offer date. Share options do not confer rights
on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. There
is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any minimum
period before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any
particular option. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the
date of grant.
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Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, the maximum number of share options
that may be granted under the 2023 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company is the number, upon their exercise, not
in aggregate exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time, excluding any shares issued on the exercise of share
options. The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the 2023 Scheme and any other
schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares
in issue, as at the date of approval of the 2023 Scheme limit or as
refreshed from time to time.

The 10% scheme mandate limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the shareholders in general meeting after three
(3) years from the adoption date of the 2023 Scheme, after then the
refreshment by shareholders once every three years. Refreshments within
a three-year period must be approved by independent shareholders.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
Participant under the 2023 Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue at any
time. Any further grant of share options in excess of such limit must
be separately approved by shareholders of the Company with such
Participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting. Share options
granted to any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company (or any of their respective associates) must be approved by the
INEDs (excluding any INED who is the grantee of the option). Where any
grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of
their respective associates) will result in the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of share options already granted and to
be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue such
further grant of share options is required to be approved by shareholders
of the Company in a general meeting in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share of the Company.

The Company proposed for the amendments to the 2023 Scheme for
shareholders’ approval in the forthcoming annual general meetings of the
Company. Details of the amendments were disclosed in the circular of
the Company dated 25 July 2025.
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During the year under review, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the 2023 Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the 2023 Scheme is 117,110,288 shares, representing
approximately 10.4% of the Company's total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2023 Scheme are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations” and “Share option
schemes” above and in the share option scheme disclosures in note 32
to the financial statements, at no time during the year under review
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons had, or were deemed or taken to have, interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

BEEERE 2

FEERR G RAMKON PSR
-

RZZE_RAF=RA=+—B BEEMAR
Ao AT ALRAR B AR B 0 o
B IR EFRARER 7RG R
EXVERE2 R 30 BB Z SRR AR AR E -
HBRNIRIEEF R BRI 336{F AT
BREZECMERIOAR

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: REAREBRNER :
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
total issued
share capital
Name of shareholders Number of shares (Note 3)
EARDRE BT
RABEEHOA DL
RRMEEB RHEE (Htat3)
%
Rich Time (Note 1) (K#5%1) 810,322,940 72.02
WOE (Note 1) (Afat1) 810,322,940 72.02
Wang On (Note 1) 810,322,940 72.02
RE (Bfa1)
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2) 810,322,940 72.02
WA R (HaE2)
Notes: Miat -

1. Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company held
by Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his associates held approximately 42.80%
interest.

2. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang is
interested.

3. The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed under
the SFO.

(T EBEEZERER AT 2025 £3§

1. RIBEEHREEEG - 8% £ KRich Tme (AR
T2 EEMBRARAIWOEZ 2 EMBRAR)HEN
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
ExEg®E e

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, there were no other
persons who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 40 to the financial
statements of this annual report. The Company has complied with the
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions, as set out in note 40 to
the financial statements, were fully exempted from all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no transaction which need to be
disclosed as continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year under
review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The connected transactions, as set out in note 40 to the financial
statements, were fully exempted from all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no transactions which need to be
disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with the requirements
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is in place and
approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting, having regarded to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Following the expiry of the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 21 August
2023, the Company has adopted the 2023 Share Option Scheme at
the annual general meeting held on 22 August 2023, as incentives to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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MAIJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for approximately 15.2% (2024: less than
approximately 10.1%) of the Group's total sales and the sales to the
Group's largest customer included therein accounted for approximately
5.1% (2024: approximately 2.8%).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the largest supplier accounted
for approximately 9.5% (2024: approximately 14.9%) of the Group's
purchases and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 36.7% (2024: approximately 44.2%) of the Group's
purchases.

At no time during the year under review did a Director or any of their
close associates or a shareholder of the Company, which to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued shares, had any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five
largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other
donations totaling approximately HK$425,600 (2024: approximately
HK$283,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or
the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the
financial statements, no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
has any contract of significance of the Company or its subsidiaries during
the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole

or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year under review.

(T EBEEZERER AT 2025 £3§
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules throughout the year under review, except for the deviation of the
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 28 to 55 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the year under review and up to the date of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established its audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with specific terms of reference (as amended from time
to time) in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Professor Sit Wing Hang
and Professor Chan Wing Kwong, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two regular meetings and two
special meetings with management and the external auditor. The Audit
Committee reviewed and considered, among other things, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, the financial reporting
matters (including the review of interim and final results), the audit
plan, the statutory compliance, internal controls and risk management,
continuing connected transactions and the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's accounting and
financial reporting function as well as their training programmes and
budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the Company's management
and approved the accounting policies and principles adopted and the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2025.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are
set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have
been audited by Emst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. There has been no change of the
auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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. and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 78 to 246, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code") and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
__context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
ion on:these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
It alidit addressed thg}ﬁa{tler is provided in that context.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to the matter. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

BRETER

Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFNAEEREFERETSHR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Y% BB KRR R EFE

As at 31 March 2025, given that there are internal and
external sources of information that indicate impairment
or reversal of impairment may exist, management of
the Company performed an impairment assessment of
the property, plant and equipment of the Group's cash
generating units relating to its pharmaceutical businesses
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$638,547,000 to
determine their recoverable amounts based on either their
value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
RIZ-RHF=A=+—H  ARBRABRINEER KR
BURAIREFERESURERRD - EQAFEREY &%
BEXEBERNRSELBLUNYE - BELREBERR
#15638,547,000/8 TLEITRIERE - RIBEMEERA
FERBLEKRAEETREEER -

During the year, net reversal of impairment losses of
HK$3,130,000 was recognised against the property, plant
and equipment.

RER - ERYE - BE MRERERREBIERDHE
3,130,000/ 7T

MITTEBREZEZERAERATE 2025 F£if

For impairment assessments using the value in use
calculations, our audit procedures included the following:
AT EEREEETREN NS - RANETEFE
BIATRIA :

«  enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections, such
as the revenue growth rates and gross profit margins,
etc., and comparing them to historical information and
our understanding of the latest market information and
conditions; and

- MEBEBEEARSRTAANDERZBERERR (A
R R R FF ) I ATER R B0 B RER ELE S BUE
REMIE FAL T 5 & A MR B IR BT EL 8
54

«  with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
assessing the methodologies and the discount rates
used to determine the recoverable amounts on, a
sampling basis.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BIZERNRE 2

Key audit matter
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHEFt nEEEREET SR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
(continued)

Y - B R B2 BER I (AE)

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key
audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying values
of the property, plant and equipment, and the significant
judgements and estimations involved in the assessment of
their recoverable amounts.

M - BB NMRERERE BRI R L E KB &5
B M E AR R fEE - BRUbRERH AR A —IBEgEE
FTEIE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
impairment of property, plant and equipment are included
in notes 2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BEAME - BELREREZ @A BRRBEEHNFA M
BmEMF2.4 - 3R15¢

For impairment assessments using the fair value less costs
of disposal of the relevant property, plant and equipment,
our audit procedures included the following:
AR THER L EREYME - BE &KRENOKAETRE
FHAEME - RN FTRFEENATEA

«  obtaining and reviewing the management's assessment
and the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuer engaged by the Group;

- EELEHEEENNELA EEEZEZIMN
HEMMAREZ MERS

«  assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience
and expertise and considering its competence,
objectivity and independence; and

o FHEIMEEERCERE  KREFBEMBILEZEE
B BEMRBIE R

«  with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
assessing the valuation methodologies applied and the
key parameters adopted in the valuations, including
estimated selling prices, estimated rental value,
capitalisation rates and construction cost, etc.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

«  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. WONG, Cheuk Keung (practising certificate number:
P05400).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBakEMEENE

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HE-_Z_AF=A=+—HLFE

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E-UFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt s FET FHTT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREEK
REVENUE Wz 5 745,298 783,881
Cost of sales SHEMNA (368,845) (389,068)
Gross profit EF 376,453 394,813
Other income and gains, net HWA R Was - F5R 5 72,052 91,588
Selling and distribution expenses HE R #HMA (299,030) (246,123)
Administrative expenses TR (109,273) (108,855)
Reversal of impairment losses/ SRVEERERERD,
(impairment losses) on financial assets, ~ CE{EEE) » H58
net 7 (15,021) 584
Other expenses, net HMFAX - JF5 6 1,434 (86,310)
Finance costs BB KA 8 (28,158) (40,792)
Fair value losses on financial assets at BATELERARZ 2R
fair value through profit or loss, net BEZNHEEE  F8 (6,500) (3.219)
Fair value gains/(losses) on owned BEREME L ATE
investment properties, net Wz (Ei8) - 358 16 11,073 (17,852)
Share of profits and losses of associates 7B & A &) 7| R E18 18 1,045 2,533
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM REFEREEBN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BRBADEF (E18) 7 4,075 (13,633)
Income tax credit FTiSHiE %R 11 3,017 6,359
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM R E#ZFEELEBNREE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS wBH(E8) 7,092 (7,274)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BARILREER
Profit for the year from REBRIEREEB
discontinued operations AN S A 13 - 11,319
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REREEF 7,092 4,045
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
mEERRkHEMEERKRER )

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HE-_ZT-_HAF=A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—EC-RHE —E-UFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FHET FHTT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  Hft: 2@z (&E8)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AJRERME 1 ] E#T 7 M 2
that may be reclassified to profit or B Z A2 E W~
loss in subsequent periods: (E#E) -
Debt investments at fair value through BRAFELSEME2EES
other comprehensive income: ARZEBIRE -
Changes in fair value NHEE 11 (8,495)
Reclassification adjustments for SPABHZER
losses/(gains) included in (Wa) 2 EFH 1R
profit or loss: TE
— Impairment losses/(reversal of —REEE/CRE
impairment losses), net EiEEE)  FE 7 (1,239) 461
— Losses/(gains) on disposal/ — & EOEES
redemption, net (Wzm)  F5E 5,6 (426) 9,152
Subtotal g (1,654) 1,118
Translation reserve: HE 5 ft s
Translation of foreign operations BREIRINETS (1,080) (87,911)
Release upon the completion of TERE W D Ik &R
the Distribution in Specie 13 - 8,248
Subtotal e (1,080) (79,663)
Net other comprehensive loss that NSk =E
may be reclassified to profit or DERESHM
loss in subsequent periods >HEEFE (2,734) (78,545)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) BT ERE 12 BT ERT
that will not be reclassified to profit or DI G, Bl
loss in subsequent periods: 2E W (EE) -
Equity investments at fair value through I AFELE M2 @I
other comprehensive income: ARRZ IR A -
Changes in fair value NEEE 699 (34,674)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR A FEHthZ2HEER
THE YEAR (2,035) (113,219)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  AFEE2@EWKE (FEA)

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR g 5,057 (109,174)

i
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
mEBEsaRHMEERERE)

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE—_ZT-_HAF=—A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-HE —EF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liEss THET THET
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AT ATREEET,(EE) :
Owners of the parent [SYNSIEZZEUN 7,100 (15,356)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR A (8) 19,401
Total st 7,092 4,045
Total comprehensive income/(loss) A TATEEZERE”
attributable to: (B84
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZEPN 5,065 (78,228)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR I A (®) (30,946)
Total “aEt 5,057 (109,174)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREBERISEAER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BRER,(BE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 14
Basic and diluted BERREE
— For profit/(loss) for the year —AREE R, () HK0.63 cents  HK(1.30) cents
0.63;811l (1.30)7811L
— For profit/(loss) from continuing —FHEREEB RN, HK0.63 cents  HK(0.63) cents
operations (E18) 0.63381l (0.63)7811l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ra IR AR R 3R

31 March 2025 ZZ=FF=F=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RE —EOF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB MR E 15 638,547 665,458
Investment properties REYE 16 129,900 152,000
Net investments in subleases DI EFEE 17 4,232 5,897
Investments in associates REE R ZIE 18 2,978 4,433
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELEMEEE
other comprehensive income ANRZEREE 19 3,699 24,986
Loans and interest receivables FEWE R EFE 22 295,000 380,000
Prepayments and deposits TENFIERIES 23 18,823 14,423
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 30 21,047 17,685
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 1,114,226 1,264,882
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 238,098 308,098
Trade receivables =y e e 21 67,346 81,356
Loans and interest receivables FEWE Z 8 22 112,453 114,759
Prepayments, deposits and TAfRIE - e Rk
other receivables H fib e 58 23 56,543 57,781
Net investments in subleases DL EFEE 17 3,856 4,931
Financial assets at fair value through B ELE M 2 E S
other comprehensive income MNRZ EREE 19 455 8,128
Financial assets at fair value through BRATHERLERARZ
profit or loss BREE 24 9,927 28,753
Tax recoverable AT e R IR 29 181
Pledged deposits BIEHER 25 - 4,444
Cash and cash equivalents ReEFREEFRIER 25 132,316 154,969
621,023 763,400
Assets classified as held for sale NERFBELEEE 26 - 66,828
Total current assets BRENEE 621,023 830,228
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and bills payables B 5N IE R ENER 27 18,271 30,907
Other payables and accruals Hib R FRIB R EGHE B 28 139,089 148,683
Contract liabilities BHaE 28 9,364 12,020
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STERITIEE 29 187,345 184,749
Tax payable P B8 4,864 4,513
Total current liabilities FENTEDN=Fr 358,933 380,872
RTEEEERERAT 2025 55 81 4 l 5



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
mEMBMRRK®

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E-UFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MEE FHET FHT
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 262,090 449,356
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BHEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 1,376,316 1,714,238
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables E th e IR 28 40,476 51,220
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STERITIEE 29 155,950 276,200
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE 30 320 1,362
Total non-current liabilities WIERBAE 196,746 328,782
Net assets BEFE 1,179,570 1,385,456
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of FAREEAELER
the parent
Issued capital BT 31 11,251 11,711
Reserves = 33 1,169,817 1,375,235
Subtotal /et 1,181,068 1,386,946
Non-controlling interests eI (1,498) (1,490)
Total equity mEs 1,179,570 1,385,456
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
5 WEH
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HE-Z-_RAF-A=-+—HILFE

Atrbutabl to onersof the parent

N
Fairvale
Fairvalue Tesene Aoset Nor-
Isted She  Specal Convbuted  Trmsafon  Reseve  Meger  Gpld  resene (hon- revahaton  Accumulted contoling Totdl
aptd  pemim mseve  supls resene finds  reseve  resene  (eqeing  reging  resene losses Tod  interests equity

LTERE OPERR  REEE
BEGRE  BOER  BARE  RBER  ENRE GRE¢  oRBE  RIRE (TR (TTHE) BB ERR 4 RER o
HOO0  HGO00  HOD  HGO0  HOGO0  HGO0 KGO0 MO0 MDD KGO0 G000 HKSOD  HDD  HKSO0  HKSOD
TAL TR YA Tan Tan  TEr TR TR TEn Tan TEr TR TR TEn Tan

(note31)  (note33()  (note 33()  (note 33i)) (note 33(1))  (note 33(v)) ~ (note 33(v)

(W) () (k) (sEssi) (Wass@))  (Hassg)) (s
A1 Aol 2003 HoZ-ZEME-R M6 208708 (%) IBEB NW 46l W09 QX6 (309 417 (1335 239191 1359195 368838
Profoss) forthe year KERHH/(B8) - - - - - - - - - - - (I536)  (153%6) 19401 405
Other comprehensiencome/(os) ~ AEE22E4E/
forthe year. (B8):

Debtimestmentsatfar e tvough ~ FATELE 2 ENE
ther comprehensive income: NEBREE:

Chenges i farvle 1HERD - - - - - - - - (b - - - () - ()
Redlassfcaon adusment for HAER2EE/ ha)
losses/(gans) incuded in LENERE
proft orloss
- Impement losse,net -HEER 58 - - - - - - - - 41 - - - el - il
- Loss on disposd/ 18 /B
Tedempion, et BB 58 - - - - - - - - - - L L
Equly ivesments atfenvlue though - FATEREHRENE
other comprehensive ncome: NERERE
Chenges i frvle 1TERD - - - - - - - - - () - - (46 - (e
Tenston esene: ERfR:
Bichange difeences ontandton ~~ BE BN $RHAELL
oforegn operaon EiZE - - - - (3158 - - - - - - - (3156 (03T (e7an)
Reezewpon complefonofthe T ENATEER
Dirbuon n Spede (ote 13) ~~ (Hi#13) - - - - - - - - - - - 88 - 08

Totd compehensie ncome/(oss) ~~ AERRENE/(EE)

fotheyea 5 - - - - (3 - - S () S5 (820 (0%)  (109174)
Dividend paidto non-<ontrollng nterests - 3 ERERTE HRIRE. - - - - - - - - - - - - - 69 6

Recssfcaton adustment ora bosson - HERATRLENET
doposal o equiy mestmentsat o~ i\ B2 B RAY
vl trough oher comprehensie  EE2 B3 HEEE

inaome - - - - - - - - - uR ] - - -
Sharesrepuchasedand encelled — BEBREERG

(nte31) (1) (33 (1439) - - - - - - - - - - (4) - (1479)
Disposal of a subsidary HE-RHBL - - - - - - - - - - (603 76103 - - -
Recogniion of an equiyseited share- -~ BeE—EHEL AR

based payment of & subsidary EEDLGREEC YA - - - - - - - - - - - - - 3838 3838
Shre premium reduction (ote 31(7) AR EE (1) - (90000) - 90000 - - - - - - - - - - -
Spealdhidend byweyof Disvbufon - HEHATEFEHA

Spece note 12) FRRE(E) - - - (9289) - - - - - - - - (369289) (1308146) (2177439)

Redassficatonof resenes upon REMARTHEER
completon ofthe Disbuon AR
nSece - - - - - @9 T - - ) - - -

431 Metch 2024 HOBCRESASE-8 NN LRI (TS0 e (63 e - S aROr O @LSF I (1490 1385456
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
REERBBRE)

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE—_ZT-_HAF=—A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BOAREARL
Fair value
Fair value feserve Asset Non-
Issued Share Special  Confributed ~ Tramslation ~ Reserve reseme (non- revaluation  Accumulated controlling ~~ Total
capital  premium reserve surplus reserve funds  (recycling)  recycling) Teserve losses Total ~ inferests equity

OVEGE OVERE  EEEG
BRARF  BMRE  HARE  RRER  EMER  GRE:  (THR)  (FmiE) B BMER A ERER 4G
HKSO00  HKSOOD SO0  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOO0  HKSOO  HKSOOO  HKSODO  HKS0O
TER  TEr TER TEn TR TR TR TR TER TER  TEm TER TER

(note31) (note33()) (note 33(ii) (note 33(ii) (note 33(i))

(fn)  (RfEosq)  CHEsofi))  (WEsaiid) (RE33(u))
i1 Al 2024 R-ZoMEMA-R W LNE (s %A (637) B (48 (430 20U (83255 1I6HM6 (1490) 1385456
Prot o) for the year REFER)/ () - - - - - - - - - 100 7100 ® 709
Other comprehensive income/(oss) - R E R (2 ENE/
forthe year: (BE):

Debt ivestments at firvalue trough RATEEAH2ENE
oberompiehensiencome: ABZERRE
Changes i far vlue ATERD - - - - - - l - - - i ) i
Redessficafon adjstmentfor ~ STABEZEE/
losses/(gain) ncluded n () ER

proftarloss pEER
- Reversel ofimpeiment -BEERRR
loses, e 58 - - - - - - () - - - - ()
- Ga on disposel/ -HE/EmiE
tedemption, net ] - - - - - - (126) - - - (126) - (16)
Eutyimesimentsetfondee  RATEEApAE
tiough oher compreiensie A B2k
income: A
Changes nfai vlue LTEEY - - - - - - - 699 - - 6% - 69
Tranlaton resnie: EfGR:
Bihnge diferences on tendefon £F B FHHELL
of foregn operaton EfZE - - - - (1.080) - - - - - (1080) - (1080
Toid ompreensieinome/ AERRENE/
(loss) fortheyear (BE)eE - - - - (1,080) - (1,654) 69 - T 5065 @ 50
Redassfcafon adjstmentfora~ £ERATEAZLZE
ga on disposal of eqiy B AE REREN
vesmentsatfanlue tough Y2 EFHERR
oher comprehersie incame - - - - - - - (245) - 145 - - -
Fine 2004 diidendend secal ~ ~F-RERERER
diidend (note 12 EARe(E) - - - (19914 - - - - - - (19914) - (199143
Shares repurchased nd canceled — CERREEARH
(note 31) (Fik31) (460)  (11340) - - - - - - - - (11800 - (11.800)
31 Mech 2005 ACECEESESE-R O ONBST LIS QLSOP DT (4SS B9 QAN (6OSEP 280 (BIOF LB (14%) LIT9T0

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,169,817,000 (2024: * ZERBREBRGEVBMRARTNEESFHR
HK$1,375,235,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 1,169,817,000/& 7t (=& — M 4 : 1,375,235,000 %
7T e

84 WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ Eﬁzﬁ/ﬂbi’?—%

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HE-Z-_RAF-A=-+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —ToE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt sE TET THET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Z&¥EvHERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAn&T,(B1R)
From continuing operations REFBECEER 4,075 (13,633)
From discontinued operations REBRILEEES - 63,320
Adjustments for: EABATEE
Finance costs BB R 28,158 152,546
Interest income on loans receivables EUETZ FIEWA (43,439) (39,621)
Interest income on financial assets at fairvalue ~ HAFELBHEAEZ
through profit or loss and financial assets SREEMRATER
at fair value through other comprehensive Hin2EREARZ
income iﬂﬁFZﬂ S 5 (544) (3,767)
Interest income on bank deposits T2 FBHA (1,439) (4,853)
Finance income on net investments in subleases fﬁ&éf/?%gzﬁﬁkuﬁlﬁ 5 (431) (354)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value BATELERA AR 2HE
through profit or loss and financial assets ERBEATELEMZEK
at fair value through other comprehensive BARZEREECRE
income 5 (361) (2/451)
Gain on modification of lease contracts, net EHMERNWE  FE 5 (1,864) -
Loss on disposal of investment properties HERBYE BB 6 1,201 -
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes 2R BRI EIITZE 2 Yizs - (12,110)
Fair value losses on financial assets and liabilities ZAFELBHEAEZ 2@E
at fair value through profit or loss, net ERBEZATEERSR
ek 6,500 6,036
Gain on disposal of items of property, plantand K &9 - HERREER 2
equipment, net Yoz - FE (16,368) (35,261)
Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption of debt e/ BERATELE DS
investments at fair value through other ERE AR EHRREZE
comprehensive income, net B/ (k) 58 56 (426) 9,152
Loss on derecognition on subsidiaries MB DRI R EE 13 - 8,248
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HNBARZER 6 - 5,898
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment W% BERLERESE
losses) on property, plant and equipment, net  #2,/(CRi{EER) « FE 6,15 (3,130) 68,630
Reversal of aged payables BEREENTIE - (101,840)
Equity-settled share option expense MBS EE 2 BIRER X - 3,838
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment SREERNEEE/
losses) on financial assets, net (RiEEBED) - F8 15,021 (1212)
Depreciation of owned assets B EENE 15 33,349 51,704
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 15 57,134 59,446
Accrued rent-free rental income [Ert AL IA 16 141 147
Fair value (gains)/losses on owned investment PR EME 2 ATE
properties, net Wzk) /&8 B8 16 (11,073) 100,530
Fair value gains on sub-leased investment ARREMEZ ATERE -
properties, net e 16 - (15,183)
Allowance for obsolete inventories BRETERE 7 4,015 2911
Write-down of properties held for sale WOR R (R E % - 29194
Share of profits and losses of associates DEEE A RRF BB (1,045) (2533)
Cash generated from operations before LEEEPRLEMERS j
changes in working capital 69,474
NTEREERERDT 2025 £ 85




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

mERERER L)

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HE-_Z-_FAF-_A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E"RE a3
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it aE TET FHT
Cash generated from operations before EEECEPRLLNERS
changes in working capital 69,474 302,507
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(5Em) 65,697 (102,154)
Increase in properties under development BEAYIEEM - (150,656)
Decrease in properties held for sale FEHEMERD - 206,847
Increase in trade receivables B EWFRIERE M (13,494) (13,135)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRIE © ZE REMEKTIE
deposits and other receivables wd/(3Em) (13,015) 17,860
Decrease in trade and bills payables B S RENFERENERR D (4,944) (2,294)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEERD (2,521) (785)
Decrease in other payables and accruals it e HUA R B RRD (4,311) (42,657)
Cash generated from operations 2«‘ ZMERT 96,886 215,533
Proceeds from subleases fﬁﬁﬁ%?}”\ 17(ii) 4,874 5,942
Interest received on bank deposits EHﬁZﬁEfﬂ? ek 1,439 4,853
Tax paid BAHE (880) (34,640)
Net cash flows from operating activities BEXBMEZRERNEFE 102,319 191,688
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE<REHE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEME BELREEE
equipment (25,698) (29,418)
Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not businesses  WtEE I 3EE 15 2 M B2 &) 35 - (78,124)
Additions to investment properties AREREME 16 - (7,897)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of property, UKEE#IE - BiE KR ERE 2
plant and equipment [BEREEER (1,461) (5.231)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BB E R A TEL i 2 IS
other comprehensive income ANEZ RRIAE - (269)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through ~ BEERATELEZAEZ
profit or loss PREE - (40,403)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HeE—FANEARAMEE 36 - 165,020
Net cash outflow arising from derecognition of ~ FERXE¥IH R4 & IR
subsidiaries upon completion of the ’Rﬂf‘%iﬁ@fﬁfi}ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
Distribution in Specie 13 - (237,736)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant &% « BE & EHER
and equipment PG 1A 62,072 86,818
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties e B A ZE 69,831 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair ~ HEZRAFELEZARZ
value through profit or loss EREEMRGHIE 12,326 50,096
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt e TRERAFEL M
investments at fair value through other PENE AR EBEE
comprehensive income FTS5008 7,749 34,236
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments at HERATAEGE M2
fair value through other comprehensive income ~ ABE 2 R #E R B TS 7UE 21,986 25,601
Decrease in restricted bank balances R HIRITEE R > - 6,106
Dividends received from associates B E D RIS 2,500 2,600
Interest received from loans receivables and REEUERREBEE 2
debt investments BUH B 46,223 43241
Settlement of loans receivables EBERKE J“*h 215,000 6,781
Increase in loans receivables FEl B 2 jJu (130,000) (108,493)
Dividends received from financial assets at fair ~ REZRATFELE M2 HEKE
value through other comprehensive income A& 2 & BAE LIRATFE
and financial assets at fair value through RSk ]KBEZ%ME BELZ
profit or loss 2R E 361 2,451
cash flows from/(used i) investing activities &) BFf B/ (A2
& 9] s Rene 8 280,889 (84,621)

%‘ 1;
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

HERERER®)

Year ended 31 March 2025 #HE-_ZT-_HAF=A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —ToE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{53 TER THET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZHFEELRE
New bank borrowings bl i‘fﬁﬁfﬂ& 60,078 818,971
Repayment of bank borrowings ERIETEE (171,732) (934,007)
Shares repurchase B REE 31() (11,800) (14,728)
Dividends paid BIRE (199,143) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests OEizes Hﬂ’é SIS - (5429)
Redemption of unsecured notes EREERERE - (118,326)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRZAEHH (55,966) (64,327)
Interest paid BFE (25,509) (139,819)
Placement of pledged deposits FEEEFER - (16,089)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits RREEREH 4,384 4,935
Transaction cost incurred for the Distribution in~ E¥ 2 IKE £ H SAA
Specie 13 - (1,150)
Net cash flows used in financing activities REZHAZEEREF (405,688) (469,969)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRASEREERDRE
EQUIVALENTS (22,480) (362,902)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ F#1Z & K& ERER 154,969 526,703
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ExZs s P8 FH (173) (8,832)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF £X2BE&RBESERER
YEAR 132,316 154,969
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERRESERR ZEHRDHT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be LiRTas 130,501 110,288
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity AR REIEALN=EA 2
of less than three months when acquired FERTEEER 1,815 44,681
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the FeMBRRARMIITZHEER
consolidated statement of financial position BeERER 132,316 154,969
I EBEEERERDT 2025 £ 87
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 7% 3 R BT 5E

31 March 2025 —Z-HAF=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its head office and principal place of business are both
located at Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following principal
activities:

«  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health
food products and relevant services

«  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health
food products

«  property investment
«  management and sale of properties in agricultural produce

exchange markets (discontinued during the year ended 31
March 2024 (note 13))

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited
("Wang On"), which is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange").

LFIRKEEH

ML EEEERBRAG(ERAA]) A
—ERBEREFMR I Z2EREERA
A HANEERTEEEMIHIMR
BEBNENEERNBEIVREAKRES
313101 F »

RER - KRR REMB AR (FHE &R
S IDES S0 BN IE S

- HFEREEFEMRBRRMEMRM
HRE AR TS

« AERHERENRERSER

c MERE

- BENHEEEERRIMEME
(REZ2-_Z-_NFE=A=+—H
IEF R EE(RE13))

KRABEERR  RARZEEEZERD
7] ARich Time Strategy Limited » E R 5
BRZBESEMK L - KARZ&REKE
BRARREZEBERAR(IRR]) -
HRBREAMK L - WREBHER
SFBRRF ([BERFR ) ER L e
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. LFREEEHEE)
Information about subsidiaries MEBARZER
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: RAREEMBARZFFBRT
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
TAAEERERD L
Issued Direct Indirect
Place of ordinary/ B fiE
incorporation registered
Name and business  share capital 2025 2024 2025 2024 Principal activities
ALK BRITER/
£8 ESuE BN ZBCRE TN ZBDRE CTONF IERE
Asia Brighter Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property investment
Limited###
BERERRRE B LERAT NERE
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100% 100% Provision of financial
service
Bl LERIAET PRt e RR
Full Gainer Investment Limited### Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
SHRERRRE &R LERIAT ES
Grand Quality Development Limited##*  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - - 100% 100% Property holding
BUERARRA i LERAT YERE
Good Excellent Limited?#* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
BHERRARM e LERIET ERE
Info World Investment Limited### Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property investment
HAREERAA Bl LRRIAT ESE
Luxembourg Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary HK$933,313 - - 997%  99.79% Production and
Company Limited sale of Western
pharmaceutical and
health food products
EREAEHARAA BiE Ei@k933 3138 TERHERER
RERRER

&'
PITEREEERARAT 2025 F§ 89 -




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2FREEEHEE)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBARZERE)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
FAAEERERD L
Issued Direct Indirect

Place of ordinary/ Hi i

incorporation registered
Name and business  share capital 2025 2024 2025 2024 Principal activities

ALK BRITEE/
8 EXE EfRA SRR CTCONF ZBORF CTOME IERE
Nice Treasure Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding

("Nice Treasure") (note ii)
MESARAR ([ EE LRRAT (Fitstii) W5xH
Star Sense Limited##* Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
RABRATH B LRRIAT NERE
Success Vision Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
("Success Vision")## (note ii)
FEERRR ([ ) &R LRRAT (Fski) M%s
Sunba Investment Limited## Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property investment
RERERRRA &R LERIAET ESE
Topmate Investment Limited##* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
BERABRAR Eh LRRAT WERE
Total Smart Investments Limited British Ordinary US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Virgin Islands

EBRLES LERIET REER
Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
i ZARAR &R LRRAT VES
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2FREEEHEE)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) WEBARZER (&)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
TAREERERD L
Issued Direct Indirect
Place of ordinary/ Hi i
incorporation registered
Name and business  share capital 2025 2024 2025 2024 Principal activities
ERELR BRITER/
£ EXiE RN SRR CTOMF ZBORF CTOME IERE
Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited Macau Ordinary - - 997%  99.79% Retail sale of Chinese
Macau Pataca pharmaceutical and
25,000 health food products
and relevant senvices
i (RF)BRAR RF LBR25, 000877 FETERRRRM
EmREERS
Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - - 997%  99.79% Retail sale of Chinese
HK$300,000 pharmaceutical and
health food products
and relevant services
2 (FE)BRATA BiE E81R300,000% 7 TETERRRERM
Em JABRE
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary - - 9979%  99.79% Production and
Company Limited ("WYT Medicine HK$13,417,574 sale of Chinese
Company’) Non-voting pharmaceutical and
deferred shares* health food products
HK$17,373,750
NrEERERLR(UTERRE]) B E@ik13417374 TERHEPELR
BT BREER
EREREERN*
17373, 7507

DO
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2FREEEHEE)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBARZERE)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
RAREERER DL
Issued Direct Indirect
Place of ordinary/ ¥ i
incorporation registered
Name and business  share capital 2025 2024 2025 2024 Principal activities
EMAIR BRITEE/
=R EXE R ZBCRE CTCMF ZBORF CTOMEF IEXE
ATEEEBEER A People's Republic  Registered capital - - 997%  99.7%% Refail sale and
of China (the Renminbi ("RMB") wholesale of Chinese
“PRC")/Mainland 102,000,000 pharmaceutical and
China health food products
RYTEEEBEERAF" FEARAANE  AMERARE TERBETERR
(TweEl)/ ([AR%) BROER
PER 102,000,007
BE(REERRERARY The PRC/ Registered capital - - 99.79% 100% Property holding
Mainland China ~ HK$100,000,000
BE(RIEERRARLA hE/PER  EE7100000000 VESH

*

AT

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to dividends. On
the winding up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the non-voting deferred
shares have a right to repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all
ordinary and deferred shares after the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has
been distributed among the holders of the ordinary shares.

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the equity interests of these companies were

pledged to certain banks to secure bank borrowings of HK$313,295,000 (2024:
HK$430,949,000) granted to the Group (note 29(b)).

92

ERERRER D SRR RIS - B
T EEBERE  MTBRIFIEADIRE
%2 B %1,000,000,000,0008 L4 + &L E
REBRIERR (D F5B AN B RIRFT G Tl Ak R iE
&t 2 BB L G R BFNIE -

PELEE TEINEBEDE -

RZE_RAFER-_ZT_NF=A=+—H"
ZERAMRECEBETE TERT A
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T ZPU4F : 430,949,000 7T ) M HE (R (B 5%
29(b)) °
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2.1

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Notes:

(i) Further details of subsidiaries disposed of and deconsolidated due to loss of
control during the year ended 31 March 2024 are included in notes 36 and 13
to the financial statements, respectively.

(ily  Further details of subsidiaries acquired during the year ended 31 March 2024
are included in note 35 to the financial statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs")
and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL") and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") which have been measured at
fair value. Assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell as further
explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

NTEBEEZERERAT 2025 3§
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025

2.1

—E-RF=A=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2025. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year's financial

statements.

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

NTEEEZERERAT 2025 F3§
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. EEBEE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 @Bz SERIBEZEIE(Z)

(CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting BT B AN B MEER ST LR

Standards are described below: BRTEWT

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a (@) BEEMBHMELRF 169 2 EF]
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in KRETABE R — A AR ESEMR
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee AR HEFHEBERERAZHR
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates T URERBEH —F&BATZHER
to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and ELH PR B R B 2 (E T s
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do FEEETE - AN AKEBAXRE
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of RAEBI B RE 2R 1658 B &
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have E A R EN R TEURRIEH S
any impact on the financial position or performance of the MEMEEROERS @ ZIEFTAY
Group. 252 B 80 B AR Sk R IR I A AR

7

(b) Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics (b) BB ERE7H LEEMER
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional HAEBIE 75 IS A ERRHEER
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements BE MR - WHTEERZE
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial ZHHEL BEINEFE « ZFIERT AN
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance WEREEEHBDIBRERER
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure ETHREERERECHHERENE
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance B HeREMADESERNT
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact on 2 o mRASEETEEERRE L
the Group's financial statements. B REEITRE AR EEY B EmE

WEAE MR E
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. ErBEEE)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING 23 BEGEMKRENNEEBMEEREE
STANDARDS R g 5t#ER]

AEBI|NZEFPHREREMATIE
BB ARERZHR] REEFTEABY
BHREE SRR - AEEHNZEF
el MR BRI BB M RE LR G
RV AR T oA (2@ ) -

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BBUBHRELERL RYB#HREZZE5)
Financial Statements? 5185 Eid

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public BB REER  FELHEZITEAH
Accountability: Disclosures? E19%% N0k

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification ERMKESREED] 2T AN

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial FBOMNEBUTGE B EEFTA
Instruments? WEERETRZ
(EHEN
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature- BERVEWMEER FREHE AN

and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity? FORRBEBYYE  EES LS
HERERETR
ZIERTA
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BBV REER KEZHAHEN
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0RREEE AHEBELEZ
Associate or Joint Venture* SPERIE28% . FIHEEM &R
CHIEN N
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability' BEGERIE21 HZ A B
RZAERT AR
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, BB IRE R BAVBRE LR
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 ZIEAIMERE  E19 - BAEY
Standards — Volume 11 and HKAS 72 2t —E 111 BEERIET

5% - EBBER
EAERIZEO5R
BB GRS E
BIZE105 R EH
SEIERE 7R

ZIERT A2

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 ! R-Z_RF—A— Bz &Gz FEE
AR

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 RZEZRNF—A—BaZ2ERIRZFEH
AR

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 E RZEZ+F—A—Ba2BRRZFE/
AR AR

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 4 14 A% 788 T 5 il 42 2 B BB AT AR AR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025

2.3

—E-RF=A=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS
33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group's financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must
be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have
a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system before
the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments also
include additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments
designated at FVTOCI and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of
equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the “own-use”
requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship
for in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to understand
the effects these contracts have on an entity's financial performance
and future cash flows. The amendments relating to the own-use
exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall
be applied prospectively to new hedging relationships designated
on or after the date of initial application. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be
applied at the same time. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how
it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

«  HKFRS 7 financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs 1G1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. EEBEE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING 23 BEGEMKRERNEEMEEREE

STANDARDS (CONTINUED) AEsH#ER) (&)

«  HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify . EBYBREENFEONHT
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has A ZEEIEEEREAEBER
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is EaEERBED VB REERSE
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise OSRAR LR - A ARER B EBE
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the TG LERIEIOIREIIIR - IR
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 EEPERTEEN TR ESE
of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential 1B oo Mo - RFEFTE R AR
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments BHRELABIRESIIRRES
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's B R s A RSB OSR MY SRARY S T 1
financial statements. B UBERBIERE - AFFRTRE

Ao ZFEF AT e HAKEN
MEHMRELEMNEATE -

«  HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The . BRVBMEERE10RASTH
amendments clarify that the relationship described in X ZEEERBEVBERE
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various AR 1057 EB7AE FTit fY B R 1E
relationships that might exist between the investor and other BINEEFRIERIREERETBRRERN
parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which removes Hih &5 2 Bl e F ) S B RIER
the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph B73 of R EF—EfF - BHREFEYB
HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments WAL ZE 109 EB7IRMET—
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's BB o REriRREA - 2F5E5]
financial statements. RIS UARENTBERRES

ERERTE -

+  HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace - BECHENETIRELDTELX
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of R RTMIBR AL | EERE - %
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost FERINEBE BT ERETREST
method". Earlier application is permitted. The amendments ERPATHR A AS | — S ERR [ R AE ] »
are not expected to have any impact on the Group's financial RTREER - EHZEETT
statements. SHAEENI B RERE L TR

@,
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
is included as part of the Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common control are
accounted for using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method.
The assets and liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their historical
book values carried in the consolidated accounts of the controlling
shareholder at the date of acquisition. The difference between
the consideration transferred for a business combination under
common control and the total of (i) the acquisition date historical
net asset values of the acquiree attributable to the Group; and
(if) the pre-acquisition reserves of the acquiree combined by the
Group is accounted for as a contribution from or a distributed to,
as appropriate, holding companies in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Accordingly, there is no goodwill or a gain
on bargain purchase as a result of a business combination under
common control. The results of the acquiree under a business
combination under common control are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.

Other business combinations

Business combinations other than those under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Other business combinations (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units (“CGU(s)"), or groups of CGUs, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Other business combinations (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the CGU (group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of CGUs)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets
at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

s
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other than
inventories, properties under development, properties held for sale,
investment properties, deferred tax assets and non-current assets/
disposal companies/groups classified as held for sale), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset's or CGU's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to
which the asset belongs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g, a headquarters buildings) is allocated to an
individual CGU if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

0}
(i)
(iil)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

@

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

V)

(Vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-
of-use assets classified as property, plant and equipment, are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held
for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-
current assets and disposal group held for sale”. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets (other than those meet the definition of an
investment property, properties under development or properties
held for sale) are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Where
applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located. If ownership
of the leased assets is transferred to the Group by the end of the
lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of owned property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets
(ownership of which will not be transferred to the Group) are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The principal
annual rates used for depreciation are as follows:

Owned assets

31/5—=5% or over the terms of the
relevant leases, whichever is shorter
20-331/3% or over the terms of the
relevant leases, whichever is shorter

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 10-20%
Furniture and equipment ~ 20-331/:9%
Motor vehicles 10-20%
Computer system 20-33/:%

Right-of-use assets

2% or over the terms of the relevant
leases ranging from 24 to 44 years,
whichever is shorter

Over the lease terms of 2 to 4 years

Leasehold land

Buildings

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use asset) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement
or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under "Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment. Changes in the values are dealt with
as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. On disposal of a
revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this
to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities
of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets. Right-of-use assets are included in property, plant
and equipment, the accounting policy of which are included in the
policy for “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

(a) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. ErBEEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2.4 EXEHBERE)
Leases (continued) HE(E)
Group as a lessee (continued) KEFERFRBA(E)
(a) Lease liabilities (continued) (a) HEEEE)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the FEHENFORER - BEERS
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease MR RELAEE Eﬁ(ﬂi’il@ﬁﬁﬁ
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the ERB A S EENRHE
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement RERBEHR  HEAE /i\%"ﬁﬂ’]i‘
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect INRERFIE RGN - 3 AR E 5K
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments fm A o BN - WA E e -
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is HEE  MENREE(HmEE
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease _JZ%UT“‘”@J%QQHEPK?HTH 7l
term, a change in lease payments (e.g,, a change to future R ) B EREEENRIEE
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) FHMEREE - AIEHEHEEARE
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the FIEREE °

underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables and REBEMHEE B EFT AH MR
accruals. BRETERA -
(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (b) RHHEREEEEZHE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption AEBUHABTFRRERPHEE
to its short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is (EPE Rt B HeETHER A 1218 A
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less FATENTBEEERZHEE)
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase FERWREHEERE - MAKE
option). When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a FMKFTE%EJ_L? g BXEH
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the AERGRENBEELEKEESR
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. N (A

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value REEE MEBEEEHEE W ARE
assets that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense EEARNEENREHERNIRE
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. OEHER R ©

B0
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease term and is included in profit or loss. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted
for as finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of
the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease
payments and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. The finance income on the net investment
in the lease is recognised in profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of return over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as
a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the
case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, FVTOCI, and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVTOC|, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPP1") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the
business model.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at FVTOC! are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
FVTPL.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at FVTOC! (debt instruments)

For debt investments at FVTOCI, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at FVTOC! (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at FVTOCI
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded
in other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
FVTOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at FVTOCI. Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised
as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVTPL.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment occurs if there is
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be
classified in its entirety as a financial asset at FVTPL.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

«  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

«  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

For debt investments at FVTOCI, the Group applies the low credit
risk simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investments are considered to have low credit risk
using all reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In
addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at FVTOCI and financial assets at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs
except for trade receivables (including any lease receivables) and
net investments in sub-leases which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage3 -  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that do
not contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that
contain a significant financing component, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVTPL, and loans and borrowings and payables at
amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities, interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

58 71 /

24

WHER ()
EXREBR ()

SHAR

WHRRRHE

B ENNARRES S AEATE
ERBARZ SBAE - URIRBHK
A E 2 B B R HOR (8
/) -

A SREA BEATEDARER T8
PSR RN FER SR EE R
2B o

AEEZEHAERRESRNTEAR

RNRE - st ARMBENFIEREE
AzemAR HERRE ERTE
#E B

B FEERZARZ2HEE

BRAFERBRBEARZEHABERRER
ER 5 R & B A 8 R )16 e R B
BERBRAHERBRaARZERARS -

WemBBEELEZ BN ARIHED -
AlZzesmaBERsBARBERSRAE -
WA ENBREAEEMII L REREEY
ﬂ“ﬂéﬁEEE'J%9ﬂFﬁEEZH/¢E§%;§EP
T EAE P TAZITESRMT A -
BUIBRARTELANDERFBERS
it BRIFEHBETAERMNE FTA
Al S 1ERIGS o ﬁf’ﬁ?&%)ﬂﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂ%
NN IERER - RIBZEER
ﬁuﬁzﬁﬁajzﬁﬁié;ﬂﬁlT@%fﬂTm;%@
TRVBEFTHR 2 EMAFLE o

¢ 8= / 124 WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



24

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL are
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria
in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at
FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss, except for the gains or losses
arising from the Group's own credit risk which are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and bills payables,
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and bills payables, other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at
the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with
the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

Share repurchase
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company's own equity instruments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

«  when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

« in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

« when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

«  in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount

that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. ErBEEE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2.4 EXEHBERE)
Revenue recognition (continued) WiTER(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) KEEFEHZ W (E)
(a) Sale of goods (@) HEE

®)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western

HESYMZ WamNEEETIEEE
TEPZEREHER  BEARN
B2 e

BOPAERRRRBEREE

pharmaceutical and health food products provide customers HNRBEPRHERERE - %Wé—[“ﬁ
with rights of return, giving rise to variable consideration: 18 :
Rights of return REE

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of

ARFPRENEERNRAZAR
CEIEWENNEHNNS - KAEY
RMEEB BT TARENEY)
RRARZIDERERAAEE RS
REENAEREDHE - KAEA
B ¥R EE YR 1558 5 BAR il 5T

variable consideration are applied in order to determine the AERENRTE  UEFEATTAR
amount of variable consideration that can be included in the ZHERNAIERETRE - SIEHK
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned, TRENEYNS  RREBEMIE
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of- WABAER - REEEE(RMA
return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of JERARBEEKRR) LB R WE

sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from
a customer.

Traditional Chinese Medicine (“TCM”) services

TCM services comprise Chinese medical consultations and
treatments. Control of the respective service is transferred at a

®)

Em AR ERRER -

P& ([ IRTE

TEREEETEDAE - HRR
Bl AR EHER - B

point in time, i.e. upon completion of the respective service. ABFERR S Tk 12 8875 -
(c) Management and promotion services © EEREERF

Management and promotion services comprises franchise
operation related income. Revenue is recognised over time as
services are rendered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would
not have been incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g,
sales commission to sales agents. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract
are expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level of
returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned
goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will
have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a trinomial
model, further details of which are given in note 32 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an
equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on
the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings/loss per share.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF") retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme")
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute to a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit plan

The Group's statutory obligation to pay long service payment in
Hong Kong is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits
relating to long service payment is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method. The liability recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of long
service payment is the net obligation, representing the present value
of the future long service payment benefits reduced by entitlements
from accrued benefits arising from MPF contributions made by the
Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Defined benefit plan (continued)

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit pension plans,
comprising

—  actuarial gains and losses; and

— investment returns associated with the MPF employer
contributions and other experience adjustments (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit

liability)

are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained
profits through other comprehensive income in the period in which
they occur.

Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
«  the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following
changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales”,
“selling and distribution expenses” and “administrative expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss by function:

+  service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine

settlements

*  netinterest expense or income
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Defined benefit obligations

Long service payment in Hong Kong

The Group is obligated to make long service payment to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong with a minimum of 5 years” employment
period upon retirement or termination of employment under
certain circumstances, in accordance with the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (the “Employment Ordinance”). Long
service payment is calculated based on the last monthly salary
of the employee and the number of years of service. There are
provisions under the Employment Ordinance permitting employers
to offset employees’ long service payment against the accrued
benefits attributable to employers’ contributions to the MPF
Scheme. In 2022, the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the
“Amendment Bill") was enacted, such that the Group can no
longer use accrued benefits arising from MPF mandatory employer
contributions to offset employees' long service payment accrued
as from the transition date (i.e, 1 May 2025). The enactment of
the Amendment Bill is treated as a plan amendment. Except for
the statutory right to offset as described above, the long service
payment benefits are unfunded.

The net long service payment obligations are exposed to interest
rate risk, expected rate of future salary increase and market risk
associated with investment returns of employees’ MPF Scheme.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the net
defined benefit obligations was carried out by Willis Towers Watson
Hong Kong Limited, a member of the Actuarial Society of Hong
Kong, using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

In the opinion of the directors, the liabilities recognised for the
net defined benefit obligations in the consolidated statement
of financial position and expenses/credits recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in respect of the long service payment were not significant
to the Group's consolidated financial statements. The actuarial
assumptions used and their sensitivity analysis, the analysis of the
net defined benefit costs, the movements in the net defined benefit
obligations, etc, were not disclosed as such disclosures would result
in particulars of excessive length and provide no additional useful
information to the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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2.4

—E-RF=A=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether
the information affect the amounts that is recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in
its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those
conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of
the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects,
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of subsidiaries and associates are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable
to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025

2.4

—E-RF=A=+—H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial
non-current assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
or reversal of impairment of all non-financial non-current assets
(including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial
non-current assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Where an indication of impairment or reversal of impairment exists,
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets, properties under development,
properties held for sale, investment properties and deferred tax
assets), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or CGU's value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use is calculated to assess for impairment, management
applies assumptions to prepare cash flow forecast, i.e., discount
rate, growth rate for the asset or CGU to calculate the present value
of those cash flows.

Given that external sources of information and evidence from
internal reporting indicates that the economic performance of
some assets or CGUs are better than expected while some CGUs
continue to underperform, the directors of the Company performed
impairment tests of the relevant property, plant and equipment or
CGUs to determine their recoverable amounts. The recoverable
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment or a CGU is
calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use, the calculations of which involve the use of estimates.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial properties in Hong
Kong are revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market
value, existing use basis by independent professionally qualified
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimation, information from current
prices in an active market for similar properties and estimated rental
value of the relevant properties is considered and assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of the
reporting period or the date of derecognition, as appropriate, are
used. Further details of the valuation are included in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 3. EEEHAESE)
Estimation uncertainty (continued) {LEt AR ZE ()

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and loans and interest receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the pharmaceutical
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future.

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing
of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in
credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, such as
risks of default, losses given default and collateral recovery, changes
in which can result in different levels of allowances.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and loans and interest receivables (continued)

The Group's expected credit loss calculations on loans and interest
receivables are based on assumptions about risks of default and
losses given default. The Group uses judgement in making these
parameters and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculations,
based on credit risks of the debtors, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates (such as gross domestic product)
at the end of each reporting period. It has been the Group's policy
to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience
and adjust when necessary.

At 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
receivables and loans and interest receivables, before impairment
allowance, was HK$74,584,000 (2024: HK$94,402,000) and
HK$407,453,000 (2024: HK$494,759,000), respectively.
Impairment allowance provided for the trade receivables as at 31
March 2025 amounted to HK$7,238,000 (2024: HK$13,046,000
and no impairment allowance was provided for loans and interest
receivables (2024: Nil).

The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables
and loans and interest receivables is disclosed in note 21 and note
22 to the financial statements, respectively.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses
at 31 March 2025 was HK$40,846,000 (2024: HK$39,610,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2025 was
HK$646,533,000 (2024: HK$618,952,000). Further details are
contained in note 30 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has four reportable
operating segments as follows:

Continuing operations:

—  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health
food products and relevant services — (i) manufacture,
processing and sale of traditional Chinese medicine which
includes Chinese medicinal products sold under the
brand name of "Wai Yuen Tong” and a range of products
manufactured using selected medicinal materials with
traditional prescriptions, mainly in Mainland China and Hong
Kong, (ii) provision of Traditional Chinese Medicine (“TCM")
services, and (iii) provision of management and promotion
services (“Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment”);

—  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health
food products — manufacture, processing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical products and personal care products under the
brand names of “Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s”, respectively
("Western Pharmaceutical Segment”); and

—  property investment — investment in commercial premises for
rental income.

Discontinued operations:

— management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets.

Upon completion of the Distribution in Specie (as defined in note
12 to the financial statements) on 25 March 2024, China Agri-
Products Exchange Limited (“CAP") and its subsidiaries (together
the “"CAP Group") ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group. The
businesses of management and sale of properties in agricultural
produce exchange markets carried out by CAP Group were classified
as discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
further details are disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements.
Accordingly, the financial performance of the management and sale
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets segment is
classified as “profit for the year from discontinued operations” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

EESBEHA

RERME  ARERERRRBED B
BERBEAN  WHENERRRZEES
BT

FRESERE

- SERHEETERFRRRBERN
MRS - ETEXRFEAMLE
BRE  MIREEERTE 8
RATCTE | mEHEZPEE
o AR — RPN AKGE B B AE
BETHEHKZER  (NRETE
(THEDRBR(>iNREERERSE
ARG ([REDER])

- SENMHERELRRBRGEM -
& - T REETIRA IR
RImhez mEEmRMEAEEE
m([EEIE]) - &

- DERE-RERBABNENES
THEUA -

RIS/

- EERHEREMXZIMHIYE -

RZZZME=A=+RHEWSR(E
ERMBERME12)TKE - FEE
EnXZERAB(FEARER]) &
REMBARGHE(THRERSESR])
THBRAEENHBAR BE_F
TOE=ZA=1T—HLFE FERE
mEBENREMI H TS MEEIENH
EXBOERORIERERY -5
HIFEMBRRM T3P RE o Fit
REMXZMEMEEEREED TR
BEENGABARMEMEZEKERSD
DEABIRECKRIEREREB ZANFE &
e

144 WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Discontinued operations: (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group's
profit/loss before tax except that bank interest income, finance
costs, fair value losses from the Group's financial instruments at
FVTPL, losses arising from disposal of subsidiaries, and head office
and corporate income and expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

The segmentations are based on the information about the
operation of the Group that management uses to make decisions
and regularly review by the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing their
performance.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) EESBEHE)

Pl e ES

Segment revenue and results

Year ended 31 March BEZE=A=1t—HLEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RAERE BRLEEEE
Management
and sale of
properties in
Chinese Western agricultural
Pharmaceutical Pharmaceutical Property Total continuing produce exchange
Segment Segment investment operations markets Eliminations Total
EEREERER
hEAR il 7] NERE b Be B RETELNE H# &3t
2025 2004 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2004 2025 2024
C§-RE CECmF C®oRE CIoRE C®CRf CIoMF CBCRf CToPFE CECRF CToWE CECRE CToWF CECRE CIORAE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn T Thn T TEn T T#n Thn Thn T T#n T T Thn
Segment revenue and income:  APRHRYA :
Sales to exemel astome:s SETAIEE 516 63920 %0281 %01% 33 4483 TS 783G - 5E9n - - M 13378
Intersegrentsales AumE n 1403 129 1 S8 14304 1R 15718 - - sy (579 - -
Total segment revenue 2niha 651,705 690603 91573 90,209 911 18,787 152,450 799599 - 553973 (1152) (15718) 745298 1337854
Other income and gains EARRE 5476 2538 520 1177 16,448 38892 2444 4607 - 141749 - - DA 184356
Totd 3t 657,181 693,141 92,093 91386 25620 51679 174,894 842,206 - 695,722 (1152 (15718) 761,742 1522210
Segment results P GLsY) IS (504 1454 36N (397%) 18T 12305 - 109 - - 187 1825
Reconcligtion: 5
Bank inerest income EGrIECON 1439 218 - 2671 1439 4853
Finance costs HERK (8158) (1079 - (175 (28158 (152546)
Fairvlue losses on financid assels ~ RAFESER
at ATPL net NEZEREE
JATERR
#E (6500) (3219 - (817 (6500 (5036
Losses on diposel of subsidaries ~ HEHEAF
i - 8% - - - 58
Coporate and wnalocated ncome.——~ RERAATUA
and expense,net R 38 35437 21N - 2890 35431 26062
Profiloss) before tax BEAEH/ (B8 4075 (12.250) - 61937 4075 49687
Income tax cedit/expense) fiRns/(F%) 3017 6359 - (32000 0 (#640)
Proft/ o) for the year FERER/(BR) 7092 (5891) - 9,936 7092 4045
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information

Year ended 31 March

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

4. ZTESBEHEHE)
Hith o EEHR

BEZE=A=1t—HILEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RREERR BREEERY
Chinese Wester Management and sale of
Pharmaceutical Pharmaceutical Property Total continuing properties in agricultural
Segment Segment investment operations produce exchange markets Unallocated Total
EEREERER
HERE EEA HERR RREERRET RETENE #38 3t
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2004 2025 2024 2025 2024
C%oRE CRomE CRCRE CToME CRCRF CTOQME ZRCRE CTOME CBCRE CTopE 9CRE CRopE CgTRf CEOpA
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$ 000
Fhn T TEn T TEn TEn Thn T TEL Thn Fhn T TEn T
Other segment information: AfAEEN:
Interest income LN - - - - - - - - - - (45,422) (48241) (45.422) (48241)
Capital expendiure (note) B () 28942 6545 5715 942 - 78800 29517 86,287 - 39820 - 9 29517 126116
Depreciation it | 70,240 63,468 927 9325 1924 12588 87,381 85381 - 21978 310 391 90,483 111,150
Fairvalue losses on financalassets and AT EEEEAK
lisbles at FVTPL, net JEREEREE
LVEER 58 - - - - - - - - - - 6500 6036 6,500 603
Netloses/(gains) fom air velue FRERENEATE
adjusiments for owned investment aEkE/
piopertes ()58 - - - S omem) g w17 - s - o) 10053
Net gans fom farvalue adustments for -~ HERENEL
subleased investment propertes pudEs e
5% - - - - - - - - - 158 - - -5
Loss/(gain) on disposalfredemptionof & /BEHATE
debtinvesimens at AVTOC, net fEb2EREA
E2BRRER
1B/ h) 58 - - - - - - - - - - (126) 915 (126) 9152
Losses/(gai) on disposaloftems of -~ &% - HERE(E
propety plantand equipment net BEZER/
(k&8 80 - - - (16448)  (53%5)  (16368)  (353%) - 134 - - (16368)  (35261)
Loss on disposel of investment propertes 15 &% 7 - - - - 1201 - 1201 - - - - - 1201 -
mpaimentlosses/feversel of mpaiment £ HEERERE/
Josses) on fiandal assets,net (REEERE)
e B59) (05 20850 8 - A 111 (1045) - (626) () 41 1501 121
Impaiment losses/ (reversal o mpaiment 4% +
losses) on propety, plent and
equpment et : 4988 5463 - 3708 6280 B130) 68630 - - - - (G130 68630
Witedown of propertes held forsale B {EHENE - - - - - - - - - 2919 - - - 2919
Ivestments n ssodtes PBELFZRR 2978 4433 - - - - 2978 4433 - - - - 2978 4433
Share ofprofs and losses of assocites ~ AEBELARA
REE (1,085) (25%) - - - - (1085) 25%) - - - - (1085) (253)
Losses on disposelof subsidiaes HENBLRZER - - - - - - - - - - - 5898 - 5898
Alowance for obsolete inventories FERERE 2,066 2517 1949 394 - - 4015 201 - - - - 4015 201

Note:

right-of-use assets).

NTEEEZERERAT 2025 F3§

Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties and property,
plant and equipment (excluding the additions of leased buildings included in

s . BARXEEMERAENERDE  BFE
FiE(TREMGH AERREENEE
BF) o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. BESBEEE)
Geographical information wEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (@) KREINBEF Z Wz
2025 2024
—E-RF —TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Hong Kong & 557,045 580,805
Mainland China B A3 124,556 114,945
Macau P 59,782 83,724
Others HAt 3,915 4,407
Total revenue from external customers REINBEP 2 Bl 745,298 783,881
The revenue information of continuing operations above is LB ECEEBRREREREER
based on the locations of the customers. ISlzigs: =155
(b) Non-current assets (b) FnEBEE
2025 2024
—ECRF —ZFomF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Hong Kong HE 708,974 750,293
Mainland China B A 56,554 62,340
Macau JBPY 5,897 9,258
Total et 771,425 821,891
The non-current asset information of continuing operations PR EREERBIERDEEEH
above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes DREEMEMESS - BTEE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets. TR THERRERIBEE °
Information about major customers FRFrERFZEHR
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no revenue BE_T_AFR-_ZF_MWNF=A
from transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% =T—BIEFE - WEREEE N
or more of the total revenue from continuing operations of the BEERGZWR bR EEFEREER
Group. Wiz 42 RE Y 100030 A L ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MRk MR ()

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WEREMBARKS @ BH#
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REBWRZDWTT
2025 2024
e i e 15
Continuing Discontinued Continuing ~ Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
BE BRI i BAIE
BExK BExK @3t BEXH BEXH 5t

HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TRR TRR TRR ThT ThT ThT

Revenue from contracts with FREEFANZ W
customers 741,974 - 741,974 779,398 375,675 1,155,073

Revenue from other sources REEMFRZ W

Gross rental income from RENELEHEY
investment property G Nt
operating leases 3,324 - 3,324 4483 178,298 182,781
Total revenue Bl 745,298 - 745,298 783,881 553,973 1,337,854
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. BRRAEMBARKS @ $8(E)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers REFFEHz2WE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DHFUZEEH
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z_-_HAF=A=+—HIL*F
E
Segments &8
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
RREERY BALEEEK
Management
Production Production and sale of
and sale and sale properties in
of Chinese of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical ~ pharmaceutical Total produce
and health food  and health food continuing exchange
products products operations markets Total
LEREE LERHE EBRHE
HERRE RERRR 55 R BERRS
RRER RRER £S04 ) e R &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TEn TER TER
Types of goods or services CUEL Y]
- Sale of goods -HEEY 624,883 90,281 715,164 - 715,164
- Management and promotion senvices  ~EEREERE 14,449 - 14,449 - 14,449
- TCM senvices — ek 12,361 - 12,361 - 12,361
Total ot 651,693 90,281 141,974 - 141,974
Geographical markets BETS
Hong Kong B 513,256 40,465 553,721 - 553,721
Mainland China hERH 84,241 40,315 124,556 - 124,556
Macau 2R 51,297 8,485 59,782 - 59,782
Others b 2,899 1,016 3915 - 3915
Tota a5t 651,693 90,281 741,974 - T41,974
Timing of revenue recognition WEBANE
Goods or senices transferred RE-EHEEEGE IR
atapointin time 637,244 90,281 121,525 - 121,525
Senvices transferred over fime R TR 14,449 - 14,449 - 14,449
Jol ot 651,693 90,281 T41,974 - 741974
- _IEp 6_}1 /

el -
3 R 4
o ‘|\r'~= ij _
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. K@kAEMBARKSE @ $#H(Z)
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFENZWE(E)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DIFUZEER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-—E-_mWE=—A=+—H0 &

53
Segments i
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
REEERH BRIIEERH
Management
Production Production and sale of
and sale and sale properties in
of Chinese of Westem agricultural
pharmaceutical  phamaceutical Total produce
and health food ~ and heatth food continuing exchange
products products operations markets Total
FERHE FEREE EBRHE
hERRR FE R o i REDRS
AnEm AmEm $hat 5z N%E it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FER TER TET THL THL
Types of goods or services ENIRHER
- Sale of goods -HEEY 661901 90,198 752099 30594 782,693
- Management and promotion senvices ~EBREERE 12,526 - 12526 - 12526
- TOM senices ~PERHE 14773 - 14773 - 14773
- Sale of properties -HENE - - - 174331 174331
- Commission income from agricultural -BERRSTEBEUA
produce exchange markets - - - 83,688 83,688
- Agiculurd produce exchange market -~ EERRSTHZEERE
ancillry senvices - - - 87,062 87062
Total B 669,200 90,198 779398 375675 1,155,073
Geographical markets BETE
Hong Kong Bk 534,365 41957 576,322 30594 606916
Mainland China hEM 77,892 37,053 114945 345,081 460,026
Macau 27 74107 9617 83,724 - 83,724
Others Eff 2836 1571 4407 - 4407
Total Bt 689,200 90,198 779398 375675 1,155,073
Timing of revenue recognition KRR
Goods or senices transferred RE-BEHER SIS
aapointin time 676,674 90,198 766,872 20492,
Senices transferred over time REEEYRE 12526 = 12526 170750
Vil
Toa 3 689,200 9019 7793
Ve B
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. BRRAEMBARKS @ $8(E)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEN2ZWE(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) () DHEUZERE)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from UTARBERPEZWZ S
contracts with customers: Bk
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_ZE_-_HF=A=+—HL*F
E
Segments i
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
RESEER BALLEEEE
Management
Production Production and sale of
and sale and sale properties in
of Chinese of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical ~ pharmaceutical Total produce
and health food  and health food continuing exchange
products products operations markets Total
LERHE LERHE EBRHE
HERRRE FEERRR KEgE BERRSA
RRER RRER Shas mEZE Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TEn TER TER
Revenue from contracts with customers  REZFAH 2 K%
Eitenal customers HEP 651,693 90,281 741974 - 741974
Intersegment sales PHEHE 12 1292 1,304 - 1,304
Segment revenue ARkE 651,705 91,573 143,218 - 143,278
Intersegment adjustments and eliminations 5 R EE i 413 1) (1292) (1,304) - (1,304)
Total a5t 651,693 90,281 741974 - 741,974

152 WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MRk MR ()

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WSRAEMBARIE & B8#E(Z)
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEHNz2WE(E)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DHFKZER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_Z-_WNF=A=+—HI*F

Z
Segments EB
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
REOLER BRIEESH
Management
Production Production and sale of
and sale and sale properties in
of Chinese of Westem agriculturel
pharmaceuticl  phamaceutical Totel produce
and heatthfood  and health food continuing exchange
products products operations markets Total
HERBE FERHE ERRHE
hERRE FERFR 5 REIRS
RmER RuER it 52 0% &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhn TEn TEL TEL T
Revenue from contracts with customers  REZFAH2KE
Extemal customers bl S 689,200 9,198 779398 375675 1,155073
Intersegment sales AEHEE 1,403 l 1414 - 1414
Segment revenue P 690,603 90,209 780812 375675 1,156,487
Intersegment adjustments and eliminations 7 S5FAR R4 (1403) (1) (1414) - (1414)
Total &t 689,200 90,198 779,398 315675 1,155,073
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. B@RAMIKARKE B8 (E)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEN2ZWE(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) () DFUhzER(E)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRERNARE BHRWRERZ
in the current reporting period that were included in the 8 ARWmEHVFAEHNE
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: & :
2025 2024
—EC-EHF —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue from continuing operations RS BAIET A
recognised that was included in contract ~~ AHBE ZIFELE
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting ~ ZEMSUREEFER ¢
period:
Sale of goods HEBY 12,020 9,774
Revenue from discontinued operations RIS BAIET A

recognised that was included in contract ~ &XIBEZBRIEEE

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting ~ EMSUREEFER ¢

period:

Sale of properties HEWME - 29,170
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5.
(CONTINUED)

Wk Hlg A Rie - B8 (2

REAFEFENZWE(E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Performance obligations (i) BHEMF

The following information about the Group's performance
obligations is summarised below:

FAREERANRENER ML
T

Continuing operations FER SRR
Sale of goods HEGY

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from
delivery, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. Some contracts provide customers with a
right of return which gives rise to variable consideration subject
to constraint.

TCM services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when
the Chinese medical consultations and treatments is provided
to the customer in retail outlets.

Management and promotion services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered.

Discontinued operations

Property ancillary services and commission income from
agricultural produce exchange markets

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered.

Sales of properties
The performance obligation is satisfied when the legal title and

the physical possession of the completed property is obtained
by the purchaser.

MITTEREZEZERERATE 2025 F£if
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5.
(CONTINUED)

W B Ry A R &2 - B8 ()

AEBEREFELEEBHEMBAR
Yt - FEZOMAE

An analysis of the Group's other income and gains, net, from
continuing operations is as follows:

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E-UFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Other income Hih e A
Interest income on loans receivable from CAP R ZEmREWEFR 2T 5
(note (i) WA CBIFEG)) 38,758 39,100
Interest income on loans receivable from Wang =% EWE 2 Fl B YA
On 4,681 384
Interest income on financial assets at FVTPL or 12 A F{ELER ARSIZ A
FVTOC FELE M2 E S AR
ZEREE 2 MBWA 544 3,767
Interest income on bank deposits RITERZ M EWA 1,439 2,182
Finance income on net investments DI EFEE 2 BRA
in subleases 431 354
Dividends from financial assets at FVTPL or BAFELESZARIIER
FVTOC FELHE M2 E RS AR
ZEREEZIRE 361 2,451
Rental income from other properties REHAYE 2 HESIA 4,897 4,999
Government subsidies (note (ii)) BT 4t B (B (D)) 150 41
Others A 2,133 2,915
Total other income HAb A4 53,394 56,193
Gains, net Wz o FHE
Gain on disposal/redemption of debt HE BRI A T ERLEMD
investments at FVTOCI FHBSEARZEHIRE
Wz 426 -
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME - BERKHIEE
plant and equipment, net W - R 16,368 35,395
Gain on modification of lease contracts, net BRHESY 2 W - F58 1,864 -
Total gains, net Wiz - SRR 18,658 35,395
Total other income and gains, net EHA WA R e A5 - F 5 72,052 91,588
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5.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

®

(i)

The interest income on loans receivable from CAP, the operations of which were
classified as discontinued operations during the year ended 31 March 2024, was
not eliminated for the year ended 31 March 2024 and was presented to reflect
how the loans arrangement with CAP will be reflected in continuing operations
going forward.

Government subsidies from continuing operations during the year ended 31
March 2025 represented the one-off subsidies of HK$150,000 granted by SME
Export Marketing Fund (2024: HK$41,000 represented the one-off subsidies
granted by The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region’s
Research and Development Cash Rebate Scheme and SME Export Marketing
Fund).

Government subsidies from discontinued operations during the year ended 31
March 2024 represented the PRC government subsidies HK$4,618,000 granted
to the Group by the local governmental authority in Mainland China for the
business support on its operations in agricultural produce exchange market in
Mainland China.

The Group has complied with all attached conditions before 31 March 2025
and 2024.

NTEEEZERERAT 2025 F3§

31 March 2025
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®
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

6. OTHER EXPENSES, NET 6. EHMZ BE

KEFBBEREXEBNEMBASFEIN

An analysis of other expenses, net, from continuing operations is as

follows: LU
2025 2024
—E-EREF —E-UFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liEss THET FHETT
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR EE 36 - 5,898
Losses on disposal of investment HEREME 2 EE
properties 1,201 -
Loss on disposal/redemption of debt HEEEEATEL
investments at FVTOCI, net iz AR
BERRERE  F8R - 9,152
Impairment losses/(reversal of M - B EREER 15
impairment losses) on items of ZREER, CREE
property, plant and equipment, net 1BRE) - FE (3,130) 68,630
Exchange losses, net M H 1R 5 RR 495 2,630
Total other expenses, net HihfAx 4258 - F (1,434) 86,310

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

7. BR#EAET(BR)

AEERFBELEBZBBANEN, (&
B)RING, G A) TS IBRZER :

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liEss THET T
Cost of inventories recognised as an RRBAZZFERAR
expense (including allowance for (BEREFERE
obsolete inventories of HK$4,015,000 4,015,000/ 7T
(2024: HK$2,911,000)) T
2,911,000/%7)) 340,265 358,473
Cost of services provided ERHARFHI KA 28,580 30,595
Research and development costs T R AR 1,124 1,786
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEABEHEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 7,553 13,573
Auditor's remuneration TZERDEN & 3,800 4,580
Depreciation of owned assets B EEITE 15 33,349 36,105
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 15 57,134 53,067
st 90,483 89,172
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

The Group's loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived at

after charging/(crediting): (continued)

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

7. RRREAT (&SR (&)

AEBEFEREET 2 RHATE RN
B/ (GEA) TS ERER : (8)

2025 2024
—ECEHF —T-MmF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{iEss T T
Employee benefit expense EEBNAX (T8
(excluding directors’ EEME (FHFE9)) -
remuneration (note 9)):
Wages and salaries and other benefits ~ L& ~ H& K&
HAtEH 232,443 221,355
Pension scheme contributions* RIKEET SR> 10,124 10,038
Total st 242,567 231,393
Foreign exchange differences, net ME N ZERE 0 FER 495 2,630
Impairment losses/(reversal of @Eﬂ%ﬁ@iﬁ)ﬂﬁ)@ﬁ%/
impairment losses) on financial \(;‘@z{éﬁéﬂ;ﬁ%@) '
assets, net: R
Debt investments at FVTOCI BAVELSEMMEE 19
W ABR 2 B
BE (1,239) 461
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIA 21 15,059 (1,045)
Other receivables E b pE USRI 23 1,201 -
Total st 15,021 (584)
Gross rental income el ALE (8,221) (9,482)
Less: Direct outgoing expense o B 135 386
Net rental income HE WA FHE (8,086) (9,096)
* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the * A B SIS R AT AL E A E E & AR

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8.

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:

MEEE

FEQEEEBBMERN 2T

2025 2024
—EZEHF —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZHE 22,624 36,721
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEZAE 5,534 4,071
Total wEr 28,158 40,792
9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 9. EE#M&

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules") issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

ARIBEE S P AR BV B SR P RE 25 LT AR Y
(TEWRA) -~ BBEAAEDIE383(1)
@ ®) QEOERAR(KEESF
BERIE_SBERBEFANEZINE
e

2025 2024

—E-EREF —EPF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Fees e 656 13,756
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMREDN G 11,648 13,587
Performance-related bonuses ERRIFHMG 2 TEAT - -
Pension scheme contributions RIKSFHEIMER 54 72
Subtotal NEt 11,702 13,659
Total fees and other emoluments e R EAB S 85 12,358 27,415
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent non-
executive directors during the year was as follows:

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

9. EEM&E)

FR BNRTEERBIIFNTES
ZBnT

Salaries,
allowances  Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions  remuneration
e 2R HEE Bfe
He EYfis g AN HE [ HHaH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz T FEn T#En T
2025 ZECRE
Erecutive directors; yiEs:
M. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and Managng B8 £ (AAFITERES
Director of the Company (‘M. Tang) e [85E)) - 8,705 - 18 8723
Ms. Tang Wai Man EEC e - 2,163 - 18 2,181
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anta BT - 780 - 18 798
Subtotal et - 11,648 - 54 11,7102
Independent non-executive directors: BUHES:
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David IRELE 204 - - - 204
. Siu Man Ho, Simon® EXGhgH 104 - - - 104
Professaor Sit Wing Hang, GBS, JP" BXBHR - (BS ATHTH 184 - - - 184
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, MD' RAkHE - MD* 164 - - - 164
Subtotal INef 656 - - - 656
Total @t 656 11,648 - 54 12,358
R K
2 {‘é i
: g .“ d
z % 1
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 9. EEM&E)
Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees inkind bonuses contrbutions remuneration

F2 2 253 Eihg
e REMHE BB BE 15 Fiew

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TEL TEL TEL Thx
2004 e Sl
Erecutive directors: #15%:
M. Tang i 13,000 10515 - 36 23,551
Ms. Tang Wai Man EE e - 2,181 - 18 2,199
Ms. Law Man Ye, Anita Bgat - 891 - 18 909
Subtotal et 13,000 13,587 - n 26659
Independent non-executive directors: BunEs:
. Li Ka Fai, David FRELE 204 - - - 204
. Siu Man Ho, Simon® EXF LA 184 - - - 184
Professor Sit Wing Hang, GBS, IP BXEYE  (BS ATH LT 45 - - - 45
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, MD' BACHHE - MD* 45 - - - 45
Mr. Cho Wing Mout EpESy 139 - - - 139
M. Leung Wai Hot Reitfi 139 - - - 139
Subtotal NGt 756 - - - 756
Total @ 13,756 13,587 - 7 27415
Appointed as independent non-executive directors on 8 December 2023. * AN—E - =F+ - N\BEZETABIIER
TEE -
# Resigned as independent non-executive directors on 8 December 2023. # REZZZ=F+=AN\BEEEIERITE
$ °
Resigned as independent non-executive director on 1 November 2024. ¥ RZEZNF+—A—BEEBERITE
$ °
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non- FER - WEHMEMNE I IENITESE Y
executive directors during the year (2024: Nil). e (ZZ=_mF &) -
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed BHE_Z_AFR_ZT_WHF=A
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2025 and =+—HIEE HEEERELRE
2024. MR R HE -
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. iIEBEFRER
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2024: FR - AEEEHFREEVEMA(ZE
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note ZUF RR)ES  EeFEREX
9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the three (2024: Mol sE - B T =R (T _F : =
three) non-director, highest paid employees are as follows: BIFEEHESFEENFAMSFEN
T

2025 2024
—E-EREF —E-FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREYRG 4,709 4,088
Discretionary bonuses B2 B2 TEAL 310 -
Pension scheme contributions RINE TR 51 53
Total st 5,070 4,141
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose FEERSHFEE 2 ABERMENTFIA

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: TEE -

Number of employees

EBEAE
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EPF
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L&
1,500,000/ 7T - 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T &
2,000,000 7T 3 -
| W %
=]=] {ﬁ T
= B
=
E N
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX 11. Fifs#R

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BEENERNFNIREBEEZ (ATE
(2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong RBR AR E165%( =T ZM0F ¢
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have 16.500) {E LB - H btz 2 FERRT&
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in M BHED IR AEBCBERAETLE
which the Group operates. The provision for PRC land appreciation BEAOBITHREAE  c REFEDRIEK
tax ("LAT"), as incurred by the Group's discontinued operations, is A e 2 e A ) FR B+ IR (B ([ 1 3
estimated according to the requirements set forth in the relevant ER ) BEIIZEEP R AR RE
PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been provided at a fixed rate HATEREEL AT o THIZEREE
or ranges of progressive rates, as applicable, of the appreciation HEMEERES ZER X (QEH)E

value, with certain allowable deductions. M WA TR IRIER o
2025 2024
—EC-ERF —EpF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET

Current — Hong Kong RNE— &

Charge for the year REEH 1,637 600
Overprovision in prior years RS BEE RS (250) (92)
Deferred taxation BIETR IR (4,404) (6,867)
Total tax credit for the year from continuing R EFHB S ETER

operations AEEBIRBIE SR (3,017) (6,359)
Total tax charge for the year from discontinued R B B4 IEE = X0

operations (note 13) AEEHRIEAR LR

(Fg=E13) - 52,001
Total tax charge/(credit) BRIEXH(ER) (3,017) 45,642
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11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax rates is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

. Fid

31 March 2025

B ()

— = —

=

hE=A=+—H

RIBARDA REAE B R B AE R
EREHETE,BAB R BRI AS
MERAMRE D ERIEERREAE
WA M, (%) BRI -

2025 2024
—EHF —EomE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing FEICE E BRI ATRF,
operations (B18) 4,075 (13,633)
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 2K B B2 42 |F 48 & #£ 15 G TR
Al A - 63,320
Total st 4,075 49,687
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of BARBRAlE#ER 2
different countries/jurisdictions EEAREGE o BE 1,019 21,214
Adjustments in respect of current tax of FhiB T HAR < BIERR IE VR
previous periods 2R (250) (92)
Profits and losses attributable to associates Bt N A IRAG 2 m ) R S 1R (172) (418)
Income not subject to tax BARBA (9,105) (11,544)
Expenses not deductible for tax GIE L7 1,531 12,907
Tax losses utilised from previous periods ERBA B BIEEE (276) (15,080)
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 12,098 23,754
Recognition of tax loss previously not RBERFER 2 BIAEE
recognised (8,544) (4,865)
Temporary differences not recognised RERNE 5 688 9,689
Effect of tax concession BMGEE IR (6) (15)
LAT provided IR E R B - 13,456
Tax effect on LAT THIRET N R ETE - (3,364)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's effective rate AR EE BRI ERTE 2
T, (%) (3,017) 45,642
Tax charge/(credit) from continuing operations A BB R E R E5E
at the effective rate REER BB E
(&) (3,017) (6,359)
Tax charge from discontinued NEBRBEAERBDLIE
operations at the effective rate REEBBIEI N - 52,001
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the weighted average BT RAF=-A=1+—HBItFE_
applicable tax rate was 25.0% (2024: 42.7%). The change in the DNAE 3558 A R A 25.000( =& E]
weighted average applicable rate was resulted from changes in the 6 1 42.7%) o HIHE TIEM I R0 EE)
profitability of the Group in the respective jurisdictions. Th e A SR B 7E AR R AR [ E’J@ﬂ
ﬁfﬁ""“@b
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BER2
2025 2024
—EC-EHEF —FoEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liEss THERT FHET
Proposed final dividend B ARHAR R
— Cash dividend of Nil —WEERERR 0)
(2024: HK3.0 cents) BERE
per ordinary share —EomE
3.0/811) - 33,753
— Special dividend of Nil — WG E R 0)
(2024: HK14.7 cents) i BIAR 2
per ordinary share (ZZZp0e
14.77%41D) - 165,390
Special dividend paid by way of the AEBW 5K R &Y (i)
Distribution in Specie RIS - 869,289
- 1,068,432
Notes: PftsE -
@)  During the year, the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 was paid () FRN BEZ-_NFE=ZA=+—HIFE

out of the contributed surplus account of the Company. Except for the special
dividend paid by way of the Distribution in Specie as detailed in note (i) below,
no interim dividend was declared for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

(i) On 7 March 2024, the shareholders of the Company approved the payment of
a special dividend by way of a distribution in specie of 1,715,665,730 shares
of Wang On (“Wang On Shares") held by the Group which was recognised
as financial assets at FVTOCI before the distribution, and 5,310,951,597 shares
of CAP ("CAP Shares") held by the Group which represented approximately
53.36% of the issued capital of CAP, with aggregate carrying values in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position as at the completion date
of the distribution in specie of approximately HK$58,333,000 (note 19(vi))
and HK$810,956,000 (note 13), respectively, to the qualifying shareholders in
proportion to their respective shareholdings in the Company (the “Distribution
in Specie”). The Distribution in Specie was completed on 25 March 2024 and
was recognised as the payment of a special dividend with an aggregate amount
of HK$869,289,000 out of contributed surplus.

(i)

ZRHBEECEARRNEZAKERIK
i o BRI RE ) FTEF it LA 2 TR 7 =
IRSBFRRESN  HEZZ_RAFR=T
ZHE=ZA=+ - ALFEHRES KPR

5 .
B

RZTZFE=A+EHB - NARRRESE
EWHIRAEEFE 21715665730 A%
R ([ERZBHB | RO IRATHERAZATE
CHM2EREARZEREE) RALE
F58.25,310,951,597 % BB E @R 15 ([
BEEERR®A] HHhEERERDETRA
#4)53.36%) 2 H A& ERKREEKESE
AR B HFF R L IR AR BIAR B ([ B 2
K1) RERBEWDIRBE  ZEFRGER
SEGAMBRARPOEREEES N
58,333,0005% 7T (Fi 5 19(vi) ) 2 810,956,000
BL(MEE13) c BEYMHIRER T _MF=
AZ+RBZEK - WHBARBRPERABIR
5 RIR% B4 $£869,289,000 T, ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Upon completion of the Distribution in Specie during the year
ended 31 March 2024, the CAP Group ceased to be subsidiaries
of the Company. The financial statements and results of the CAP
Group are deconsolidated from the Group’s consolidated financial
statements commencing from the date of completion of the
Distribution in Specie, being the date on which the Group lost
control on the CAP Group. The CAP Group is principally engaged
in the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets. The Group has decided to cease its businesses
in the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets because it plans to focus and strengthen its
resources on its businesses on manufacturing and retailing of
pharmaceutical and health food products as well as personal care
products, and to streamline the corporate structure of the Company
and its group companies.

Since the operations and cash flows relating to the CAP Group can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and represented
a separate major line of business of the Group, they were classified
as discontinued operations. The results of the discontinued
operations were presented separately in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

MITTEREZEZERERATE 2025 F£if

167 B W

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

13. BERILESEE

REEZZE-NF=-A=+—HILtFE
EXREVDIRE  PEEEREETNH
BRRBZHMBAR - BEKXEYH IR
HH(AIASELAEETREERERT
HIEER)MAR TRREREE S
{ERREETHRAEENGA T KR
KPGAEAR HRHEZEREERFERN
BEREMXSGMBZYEEE MIHE -
AEEERERIERERR ST EME
EENIEENER AR ERR S
EFRNMBHEERREERTEBHL
REARBURBEAZEEEROES I
BEARFRAER AR A EME -

HRTPEREREERBERERIRER
AEAREEEKI D RERD - W25
RAEBNBYTERL  ZFXEBR
BERDBEROKRIEREER - 2R IE
RERBZEERBE_T_MFE=HA
=t BLEFEZEABEaLAMER
WaEKANEBZ o
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 13. ERLEEER2)
(@) The results of the discontinued operations for the year are @) AFEDRIEEEXEB I HEEZT
presented below: FOmNE
2024
—T_F
HK$'000
FAET
Revenue Wz 553,973
Other income and gains, net Hip AN Woas - 558 156,529
Expenses and losses, net Fix ME1E - HEE (526,030)
Finance costs* BhE g A* (111,754)
Profit before tax from the discontinued operations RE B4R AR TR R R AT 5 T 72,718
Income tax charge PTSBIAX (52,001)
Profit after tax from the discontinued operations A DK LSRR 12 55 A 20,717
Translation reserve released upon completion of the SERRE YD IR1E R IE H
Distribution in Specie (8,248)
Transaction costs incurred for Distribution in Specie B IREE R Z KA (1,150)
Profit for the year from the discontinued operations RE DRSS EGHAREEZ ST 11,319
i Included in finance costs was interest expense of HK$39,100,000 * BRERABEAEBBBEEERT
charged by subsidiaries within the Group's continuing operations which P /B8 2 B Y B &9 A 8L BE 52 39,100,000
was presented gross (note 5). BT ZEF SR ALEZY (T
5)°
(b) The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations are (b) ERIIREXBELENRSREF
as follows: BT
2024
—TWF
HK$'000
FAT
Operating activities REEY 161,473
Investing activities HEEE (30,896)
Financing activities BMEL (194,013)
Net cash outflow WE ML FE (63,436)
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 13. BRILEEEHE)
(c) Details of the net assets of the CAP Group derecognised as (00 EBEFAREYD KM EH#ER
a result of the Distribution in Specie during the year are as REMEEEEFENFBN
follows: Dk
2024
—T-MmF
Notes HK$'000
ks FHET
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RRE 15 86,991
Investment properties wEME 16 2,809,556
Deferred tax assets RIETHIA R E 5320
Properties under development BRPYE 107,695
Properties held for sale BIEREWE 1,224,086
Loans and interest receivables FENE TR R F 2 27,642
Trade receivables B S W RIE 1,545
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERFRIE - ke REM
FEWFRIA 186,564
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATELERARZ
THEE 475
Tax recoverable EREEE 4,540
Pledged deposits [mEECEESN 39,611
Restricted bank balances TR BIRITEEER 5,699
Cash and cash equivalents e MREERIER 237,736
Trade payables B 5 RENKIA (45,348)
Other payables and accruals HENIE M ERTE A (435,184)
Contract liabilities BHEE (158,693)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SAERERITRAMBES (1,314,513)
Tax payable JERHIE (116,507)
Deferred tax liabilities EER AR (547,982)
Net assets derecognised as a result of the HEMD IR LR BE
Distribution in Specie HE 2,119,233
Non-controlling interests FEPER A (1,308,146)
Fair value of remaining undistributed CAP Shares 98 &€ BV E &E 2 ANE@ATHE
held by the Group classified as financial assets ~ # N 7&7Jk 1 B 2 E @A 1D
ZATE (131)
Payment of a special dividend out of contributed B B & & &#IK 1R E
surplus 810,956

iy
e

M s

2
E il
=
&

]
=1
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 13. ERLEEER2)
(d) Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the derecognition (d) RRIERFEREREE RS
of the CAP Group: Dipiashe s=pwdsan/ itk
2024
—T-MmF
HK$'000
THET
Transaction costs RS 1,150
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEReRBLERIER 237,736
Net cash outflow RERHFEE 238,886
(e) Loss per share from the discontinued operations: (e) REBERILKLEHEE  GIRETE :
2024
—T_MmF
Loss per share: FREE
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued operations HAREE  REBKRIEEEFERS HKO0.67 cents
AL
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share amounts T D AR || 4R A 2 78 i 15 R BN o e
from the discontinued operations is based on: BSR4 IIR A T RIEE
2024
—TMmF
HK$'000
FHET
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the RE BRI E R 2 AR ERE
parent from the discontinued operations @afs e ARIGER 7,930
Number of
shares
M fn &1 B
2024
—T-MF
Weighted average number of ordinary R ESRERNEEERIE 2
shares outstanding during the year used FRIMETFHE ETEBRAUE
in the basic and diluted loss per share (Mf7E14)
calculation (note 14) 1,181,345,893
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 14. BAFREREGHAABRGSER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT I (B#R)
The calculation of the basic eamings/(loss) per share amounts is BREARREFN (BB SEDIREIA
based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of RIEA AEIGAFEHEF, (EE) hA
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares FEEBITEERINETHEE -

outstanding during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per HE_Z-_AFE-_ZT-_MF=A
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2025 =T —HIEEFETELNZNFRER
and 2024 as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares &R,/ (BE)eBEELRAE - SEARK
outstanding during the years. SERNZEFERELEEHETURN
EETERR -

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are FRERARESEN(EE)Zs1ET

based on: RS
2025 2024
—EBCRF —ZFomF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T

Earnings/(loss) per share BREF(FHBR)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity I3 M‘i‘*khﬂﬁﬁﬁ&%%
holders of the parent, used in the basic and \Eﬁ{(fﬁ?!)Z!w
diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation: @T&E%ﬁ}\ﬁéﬂﬁﬁ%lj/

(B18) -
From continuing operations REFRHBCEER 7,100 (7,426)
From the discontinued operations RE BRI EER - (7,930)
Total Mt 7,100 (15,356)

Number of shares

RGHOEAR
2025 2024
—EBhREF —EmE
Shares g
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FAGHE ESRREAR N #ER
used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss)  FI|,/(J&518) Zz i@ A% hnE
per share calculation EHE 1,125,837,135 1,181,345,893*
* In respect of the year ended 31 March 2024, no adjustment has been made to * HEZZ-_WF=A=+—ALFE R
the basic loss per share amount of the Group and the discontinued operations PEEEREITHERITEBRELMZS
presented in respect of a dilution as the impact of outstanding share options BREABESENZEMEHETUR - &
issued by CAP had no dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts WEHZINNWAEERER HELEBTR
presented. EREESREHBERE -
%1
~ """lj 5
# -
% 1 E|
& 2 .
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - RERRE

Ouned assets Right-of-use assets

faRke it

Fumiture,
fitures
Leasehold ~ Plantand ~ andoffice ~ Motor  Computer Constructon Leasehold
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment  vehides equipment  in progress Total lend  Buildings Total Total
i 2B}
£5  RERE AGREE HATRE RE SRR REIR gt ERbM g5 &t &t
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK§'000
T th AT AR T TEr thh TR TEm fER AL TER

31 March 2025 ZE8IREZRIT-B
A1 Al 004 HoEmERE-A:
(ot s 497,062 83179 1003 919 34 20,067 - TS50 23650 190,047 426567 1,162,068
Ramdged epecinand — ZHTERAE
imimen (55 & k) ose) (e (T8 - pBI) 9 (U876 (%08 (660)
Net camjing amount FESE 3n4% 5301 36,061 2,648 9%l 2,89 - h959 174608 na W59 665458
M1 Aprl 2004, netof AZE-mERE-R:
atcumted epreciion HEEHERAE
and impaiment 1490 5501 36,061 2,648 9%l 2,89 - H959 174608 R U599 665458
Addiions & - 201 191 500 504 230 20638 2517 - 40,305 40,305 69822
Depiciion poied ERifRiE
dungte e ey 6Ny G @) @8 (16 <MY (S (830 L) (048
Reversof mpimen/ WERR/(HE) 58
(mpament) e 0 () . . . - <) nos sy I ym
Disposafrteroft HE/Hs (386) (1 - (54) - (10) - (66 (1365 - (138 (g
Lesemodfcaton ) - - - - - - - - SO 5/ B I ¥/
Bchange redlgnment EizE (1.108) (1) - 1y [l [l - (1) (329) 0 m) (148)
A3 Mach 2025, et ol REonf
acamulted depredon SRR RE
and impaiment TERBE 352,148 4009 19607 2851 10 3,655 068 413615 164101 60831 22493 638547
31 Merch 2025 RoE-EE
o B
(ot ik 49419 8355 105314 1014 I8 N3 068 7598 T 159416 II6EES 1136527
Arcumuted devecainand — ZEAEREE
imimen O I N T () (SE) (5 (T)
Net carying amount FsE 352,148 4089 194607 2451 10 3,655 068 413615 164101 60831 2498 638547

172 WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MRk MR ()
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15. 1% - MERRE(Z)
Ouned asses Rightofuse assels
fRaR LG
Fumire,
fes
lesschod ~ Pentand  andofice Moo Computer Lessehold
Buldngs ~ implowements  machiery equipment Vhides  equpment Totd bnd  Buldng Toil Todl
%2
g2 RERE WRRE IR RE EERE & EEM EF & &

BRSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKPOO0 SO0 HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOD
TAL TEn TR TEn TR T TR TRR TEL TAEL TEm

31 March 2024 “EMEZA=1-H
A 202 e T

(ot ik 696,123 89,174 102672 78144 56%9 29485 100129 218316 181073 59589 14600684
feoumulted epreceionand. 5t TERE

impimet () ) G M) () Q) (RM) 80 (0 (505 ()
Net carying amount FESE 51132 11417 H39 39107 4310 141 656,846 703880 18433 302313 91,159

A1 Aprl 2003 retof ccumulted 1=5==MA-A-

ednafminet  IBEFERE BN N S® 0 M0 40 T8 G B S 3B Sl
Addtions & - 4673 866 AL 806 93 9418 - 61,494 61,494 90912
Hequitionof a ubsdany htis ot YE-EEER

abusiness (ote 3) HERA(HE) i - - - - - 90 36130 - 36,130 37100
Depredzion provded FRitERE

dageyer OF) 6 (03 (230 (D) 08 G (1) @98 (M) (s
imamen, e HE om ) - - - S (B @ (8 ()
Disposafrtenoft e/ (286) - - %) (8) (60) 5 Q) - ) (268
Disposof asubsidy (ote36) ~ HE-EHEAA

(o) (10092) - - - - - () - - - )

Dercogionof subsdares wpon - EHENARAA LR

anpleionof e Distbuionin -~ HERF|HE13)

e 0 13) 6o (1%) ST 0B 08 ES) 6 (60 (5 (%)
TandfertoasesCassied BAEABENERR

a5 held for e (note 26) (ss) (49 - - - - - () (8384 - (e (809)
Eichre eden HEL (W @) S o ) 6 6 @ o) @
A3 Mach 2024, et ol RIEoREZAZT-

aunided dpecimand B IREHTERAE

mpaiment 7490 5501 36061 2648 % 28% 419529 174608 T3 24599 665,458
31 Mach 2004 HZECRE=R=1-R:

(ost R 497002 8179 102323 919 54 20067 735501 236520 190047 426567 1,162,068
feoumlted deprecionand. 5t FERHE

imimen (557) M E%) 0s%) QRO (1) GIS) @) (875 (%060 (6610
Net carying amount EEFE 371490 5301 36061 2648 % 28% 419529 174608 T3 24599 665,458
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15. % - BEREMEZ)

Pledge of assets

At 31 March 2025, certain of the Group's owned buildings with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$3,509,000, leasehold land, which
is included in right-of-use assets, with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$141,363,000 were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

At 31 March 2024, certain of the Group's owned buildings with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$50,612,000, leasehold land,
which is included in right-of-use assets, with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$164,209,000 were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29) and bills payable
(note 27).

Impairment and reversal of impairment

As at 31 March 2025, as mentioned in note 3 to the financial
statements, there were external sources of information and evidence
available from internal reporting indicating that the economic
performance of some assets or CGUs are better than expected
while some CGUs continue to underperform in respect of the
Group's pharmaceutical businesses. Accordingly, impairment tests
of the relevant property, plant and equipment or CGUs have been
performed. For the purpose of impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment, each individual retail store or manufacturing
plant is identified as a separate CGU.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Impairment and reversal of impairment (continued)
Included in Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment

For the year ended 31 March 2025, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses HK$550,000 (2024: HK$723,000)
and HK$8,438,000 (2024: HK$7,925,000) was recognised based
on value in use in respect of the leasehold improvements and
buildings (included in right-of-use assets), respectively, of certain
leased retail stores which continued to underperform during the
year ended 31 March 2025 and were therefore partially impaired.
As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate recoverable amount of the
assets of these retail stores for which impairment losses have
been recognised during the year was HK$8,311,000 (2024:
HK$9,438,000).

In addition, during the year ended 31 March 2024, a reversal of
impairment of HK$3,819,000 was recognised based on value in
use in respect of the buildings (included in right-of-use assets) of
certain leased retail stores which performed better than expected. As
at 31 March 2024, the aggregate recoverable amount of these retail
stores was HK$3,819,000.

The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections for the above
impairment assessments was 9% (2024: 12%).

Included in the property investment segment

For the year ended 31 March 2025, as a result of the impairment
assessment, net reversal of impairment losses of HK$90,000 and
HK$12,028,000 (2024 impairment losses of HK$50,475,000
and HK$12,375,000) were recognised based on fair value less
costs of disposal in respect of the owned buildings and leasehold
land of certain retail stores, respectively, due to the increase in the
respective recoverable amount of those retail stores during the
year. As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate recoverable amount of
these assets was HK$92,594,000 (2024: HK$100,300,000). The
recoverable amount of the owned building as at 31 March 2025
was determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal under
the direct comparison method and/or direct capitalisation method
determined by an independent professional qualified valuer, which
took into account current prices of properties of similar locations and
conditions and other unobservable inputs, and the rent receivables
from the potential reversionary market rent of the properties, and
accordingly the fair value measurement was categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Manufacturing plants

For the year ended 31 March 2025, no impairment losses or
reversal of impairment losses were recognised in respect of
the Group's manufacturing plants as a result of the impairment
assessment.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, impairment losses of
HK$951,000 were recognised in respect of the leasehold land
of the Group's manufacturing plants due to the decrease in the
recoverable amounts, of which HK$634,000 belongs to the Chinese
Pharmaceutical Segment, and HK$317,000 belongs to the Western
Pharmaceutical Segment. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate
recoverable amount of the Group’s manufacturing plants for which
impairment losses have been recognised during the year was
HK$346,200,000.

The recoverable amount was determined based on the fair value
less costs of disposal under depreciated replacement cost approach
determined by an independent professional qualified valuer which
took into account current prices of properties of similar locations
and conditions and other unobservable inputs, and accordingly the
fair value measurement was categorised within Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Manufacturing plants (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
input to the valuation of property, plant and equipment for the
purpose of impairment assessment:

15.

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

WE - BEREEE)
LERE(E)
TERBAYE - BFE LR BEEET

BERHEPIERB 2 AETDEREZRA
2

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input Range
RER%E EXTABEGABE E[E
2025 2024
—E-RE =1
Commercial properties  Direct comparison Price per square foot HK$22,000 to HK$22,000 to
method and direct HK$81,000 HK$63,000
capitalisation method
[EliEksES ERUEBEREREMLE BYIRER 22,0008 T E 22,0008LE
81,0007 7t 63,000/ 7T
Estimated rental value per HK$51 to HK$193 HK$56 to HK$111
square foot and per
month
FREFHIREHERER 51BTZE193%8 T S6HRTEINETL
Capitalisation rate 3.4% to 4.9% 3.0% to 5.5%
BAXR 3.4%Z4.9% 3.0%%5.5%
Manufacturing plants Depreciated replacement Construction cost per HK$27,328 HK$27,328
cost method square metre
LERE HEBEMAZL P IREERA 27,3287 27,328%7T

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in
isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment. A significant increase/
(decrease) in the estimated rental value per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) recoverable amount of
the property, plant and equipment. A significant increase/(decrease)
in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significantly
lower/(higher) recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment. A significant increase/(decrease) in the construction
cost per square metre in isolation would result in a significantly
higher/(lower) recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment.

NTEBEEZERERAT 2025 3§

177

FFAREREBAE LT (FE)H
BYYE - BFEL&EARE SRR
#2in,/ CRd) - 8 FFRAEESEE
BEAELA (TR SEBWE -
55 K B A mT M [0 2 REOK IR hn, Ot
D) e BARCREFRIBIEM,OR) 1§
BEYE - BERREOATKESER
iR (HEIN) - BFITKBRERAE
BAWE LT (TR BEBME - K=
RS FERIEIE 0, OB )
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R RMEEE)

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. |BEMER
2025 2024
—E-HF —EoF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHERMEE 190,000 3,170,676
Additions during the year FARE - 7,897
Lease modification for sub-leased properties BT D TYMERE - 10,001
Acquisition of a subsidiary that is not a Wik — N IE R 2
business (note 35) b A R (P EE35) - 41,700
Disposals during the year FALE (71,032) -
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) & — B AR (FFE36) - (71,000)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion  FER B ¥15 K & 4% |- FER
of the Distribution in Specie (note 13) MR E(FiEE13) - (2,809,556)
Accrued rent-free rental income EETRAA WA (141) (147)
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments  FiEE WEAFERFE 2
for owned properties Wiz, (E518) F 5 11,073 (100,530)
Net gains from fair value adjustments for SHEMEANTFERAEZ
sub-leased properties W FER - 15,183
Exchange realignment Ik - (74,224)
Carrying amount at end of year FARREE 129,900 190,000
Less: Included in assets classified as held B EFADERIFEREZ
for sale (note 26) & (M326) - (38,000)
Investment properties as stated in the R=RA=+—BRHEHGEEHE
consolidated statement of financial RARRFIRRIRE
position as at 31 March 129,900 152,000
At 31 March 2025, the Group's investment properties are RZE-_RAF=A=1+—080 ' ~EE&
commercial properties in Hong Kong. The investment properties BYMELRBNNEAZBEME - REY
were revalued by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent BT EEASERGEMAEITE
professionally qualified valuers. EER AR EH(GE o
At 31 March 2024, the Group's investment properties were RZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—8 " AEE’
commercial properties in Hong Kong and commercial properties in BYMERNNEEZERMERLRH
the agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China. The BAMEERRITHZEEME - B
investment properties were revalued by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors TECNF=ZA=T—BEEREMS
Limited and RHL Appraisal Limited, independent professionally REE > REYMERBIBEELSERMG
qualified valuers, at 31 March 2024 and the completion date of the EETF5: 77 8 2 BTG R A 7 Mok FIFTEE
Distribution in Specie, respectively. BREFBR AT D BIEMGE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The finance department of the Group has a team that reviews
the valuation performed by the independent valuers for financial
reporting purposes and reports directly to the senior management
of the Company. Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between management and the valuers twice a year when the
valuation is performed for interim and annual financial reporting.
At the end of each reporting period, the finance department holds
discussion with the independent valuers to verify major inputs to
the independent valuation reports. The finance department also
assesses property valuation movements when comparing to the
prior year valuation reports.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further details of which are included in note 17 to
the financial statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Group's investment properties with
an aggregate carrying value of HK$129,900,000 (2024:
HK$152,000,000) and certain rental income generated therefrom
were pledged to secure the general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 29).

Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial
properties of the Group uses significant unobservable inputs (Level
3) and details of their movements are disclosed below.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2024: Nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 16. HEMEZ)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DNEBR(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level PEANTEERE=LNATEF=
3 of the fair value hierarchy: 2 HIER -
Agricultural
produce
Commercial Industrial exchange
properties property markets Total
BEM
)ik /ES TEMX RENE @ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET TAT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 RZZ_=FNA—HZKAE 166,299 71,000 2933377 3,170,676
Accrued rentfree rental income JEFH A RUA (147) - - (147)
Additions during the year FRRE - - 7,897 7,897
Lease modification for sub-leased BRI NMEYENRE
properties - - 10,001 10,001
Acquisition of a subsidiary thatis nota Yt —EW %K HEAF
business (note 35) (FI5E35) 41,700 - - 41,700
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) &M B AR (Kiz36) - (71,000) - (71,000)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon TERE M D IR (FHER
completion of the Distribution in MDA (MEE13)
Specie (note 13) - - (2,809,556) (2,809,556)
Net losses from fair value adjustments ~ FTBME LT EFE 2
for owned properties b (17,852) - (82,678) (100,530)
Net gains from fair value adjustments S HMNE R FEFE 2 W F58
for sub-leased properties - - 15,183 15,183
Exchange realignment B 5 3% - - (74,229 (74,224)
Camying amountat 31 March 2024 ~ RZZZE=A=+—AK
and 1 April 2024 —ZMFNA-BZREE 190,000 - - 190,000
Accrued rentfree rental income JEF A RUA (141) - - (141)
Disposals during the year FRHE (71,032) - - (71,032)
Net gains from fair value adjustments  FTEEEMEATEFEZ
for owned properties W Es 11,073 - - 11,073
Camying amountat 31 March 2025 ~ RZZEZRF=-A=+—A2
FEE 129,900 - - 129,900
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31 March 2025

“T-RFZA=+-H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 16. REME(Z)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DNFEBR(E)
Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TREMREMELEMRB 2 EET
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ERFRRARIE
Continuing operations (note (i) FrEAE R (K@)
Range
HE
Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input 2025 2024
RERE ERTIHERAHIE e T S —E_mEF
Commercial Direct comparison method,  Price per square foot HK$41,000 to HK$63,000 to
properties direct capitalisation method HK$81,000 HK$64,000
and investment method
[ELiikZES BEERLEE  BERENER BYHRER 41,0005 T % 63,000/ L%
BREZX 81,000/& 7T 64,0007 7T
Estimated rental value HK$193 to HK$111 to
per square foot and HK$203 HK$199
per month
FAFTFHIREAES 193 8T E 1MEBTE
EBfE 203387 1997 7T

Capitalisation rate

BARfp®
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Discontinued operations (note (ii))

16. BM*R (&)
DVEERE)

BRIEAZZ R (Fa (i)

Range

Significant Date of completion of

Valuation technique unobservable input the Distribution in Specie
#[Z

hERE BRPABRBABE FTREY KB Ef

Agricultural produce Direct comparison method and Price per square meter HK$3,600 to

exchange markets investment method HK$4,497
(note i)
REMX S5 (M) BEEEBERKREE BFHKRER 3,600/ 44,4978
Estimated rental value per HK$13 to
square meter and per HK$94
month
& HEF KA
HEEE 13BTLE4ETT
Capitalisation rate 7% to 9%
B xR 7%Z 9%

Notes: 5T -

@) Asat 31 March 2025, the valuations of investment properties were based on () RZZE_RAF=ZA=+—H REVER
either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables from the BREAEBIBmENRTHEERKZAS K
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of the properties B ERTSRASEANE) sk BmEEAE (D
or direct capitalisation method which capitalises the rent receivables from the BYENEEERT SRS ZEKBSER
potential reversionary market rent of the properties or the direct comparison ) HEELEE(AIREZAELETIERS)
method by reference to comparable market transactions. HEITIHE o

(i)  As at the date of completion of the Distribution in Specie, the valuations of (i) RNEKREVSRAE BEERXIHMHOM

agricultural produce exchange markets included in discontinued operations, were
based on either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables
from the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of the
properties or the direct comparison method by reference to comparable market
transactions.

Further details of discontinued operations are included in note 13 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot/metre
in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value
of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in
the estimated rental value per square foot/metre in isolation would
result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation rate
in isolation would result in a significantly lower/(higher) fair value of
the investment properties.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold
land, buildings and equipment used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 24 to 44 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Lease
of office property generally has lease term of 4 years, while retail
shops generally have lease terms between 1 and 4 years. Other
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or
is individually of low value. There are several lease contracts that
include extension and termination options and variable lease
payments, which are further discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and the

movements during the year are disclosed in note 15 to the
financial statements.
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) TEBERFRBAE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other HE & E G A E b FE - 50E R &

payables and accruals) and the movements during the year HERBEN CERBEBLRERNE
are as follows: s
HK$'000
FET
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 R-ZZE_=FHA—-AZEKEE 117,767
Additions arising from new leases EFEI HEMARE 69,111
Additions arising from lease modification for EoAmEREEMAE
subleased properties 10,001
Accretion of interest recognised during the year FNFER 2 RIETE 6,174
Payments (NS (70,501)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion of TERE YD & LR
the Distribution in Specie (NG (32,869)
Exchange realignment bE AR (563)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZ-ZE-_F=A=+—BxXK
—E-MFENA-RZEREE 99,120
Additions arising from new leases EFEIHEMRE 45,956
Lease modification HEER] 3,003
Accretion of interest recognised during the year FRERZ RGN L 5,534
Payments (BN (61,500)
Exchange realignment BE 5 S (2)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=A=+—HZ
FREE 92,111
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17. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

17. HE (&)
AEBELAEBAE)

(b) HEEME(E)

2025 2024
—E-HE —EF
HK$000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Analysed into: Par)iv=
Current portion mENE D 52,382 48,2272
Non-current portion FEMENEL S 39,729 50,848
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HBZHKEE 92,111 99,120
Analysed into: DM
Lease liabilities repayable: ENHEERRE
Within one year —FRX 52,382 48,272
In the second year £ 33,377 31,153
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-ERF
(BREEMF) 6,352 19,695
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—RAZEEE 92,111 99,120
The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities is ABEEEBEZZIE RS TRE
disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements. TEIRKR T 444%5E -
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17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERABEAGE)
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss from continuing () MNEZBERZFHELEEGHEM
operations in relation to leases are as follows: BeRmT
2025 2024
—E-RE —E N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZME 5,534 4,071
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {# FI#EE E 2 FrER S 57,134 53,067
Expense relating to short-term leases HIAC HAME S AR 2 B
(included in selling and distribution (FrASHE R #HRAE)
expenses) 2,237 4,135
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEXEEEEHRERAC
assets (included in administrative X (FFAITERRAZ)
expenses) 795 1,263
Variable lease payments not included Rt AHERBHEZ
in the measurement of lease liabilities AEEENRGTAHEE R
(included in selling and distribution DIHFIR)
expenses) 4,521 8,175
Gain on modification of lease contracts SR EA #) 2 Uz (1,864) -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of  # REEERIE,
right-of-use assets CRUE#EE ) (3,590) 17,432
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R IBZEER 2 4258 64,767 88,143
(d) Extension and termination options (d) BEFERALEERE
The Group has leases with remaining lease terms ranging from REBITBRGHEBN FOR1F
less than 1 year to 2 years (2024 less than 1 year to 3 years). B2F(ZE_MWF - PRR1FZES
The leases containing extension and termination options are FIZHEE - BBHERKIEE
managed locally and vary in terms. The Group has included Bz ZERERSE TRAMEERE
extension or termination options in the measurement of the KMAFHRB AR o 8RN EENFIR
lease obligations when it is reasonably certain to exercise the HES BRI TREME MR IR
options at the commencement date. R HEREEC e A EE
BRI -
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17. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(e) Variable lease payments

®

The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain
variable lease payment terms that are based on the Group's
turnover generated from the retail shops. There are also
minimum annual base rental arrangements for these leases.
The amounts of the fixed and variable lease payments
recognised in profit or loss for the current year for these
leases are HK$27,820,000 and HK$4,521,000 (2024:
HK$32,373,000 and HK$8,175,000), respectively.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 37(c) to
the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

()

Operating leases

The Group leases its properties consisting of 3 commercial
properties (2024: 5 commercial properties) in Hong Kong and
1 industrial property (2024: 1 industrial property) in Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Group also leased and sub-leased
11 agricultural produce exchange markets (all of which were
derecognised upon completion of the Distribution in Specie)
in Mainland China under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits. During the year ended 31 March 2025, rental
income recognised by the Group in the continuing operations
was HK$8,221,000. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
rental income recognised by the Group was HK$212,939,000
and of which, HK$9,482,000 was included in the continuing
operations. Details of the Group's rental income are included
in note 5 to the financial statements.

MITTEBEZEZERAERATE 2025 F£if

31 March 2025

P ELEEAE )

“T-RFZA=+-H

17. HE (&)

FEEEREEAE)

(e

A

AEEHESHTELHE  EPa
ERBEASETEEEERTE
ATEHENFTUER - ZZEHEIRE]
BEREFEEATETH - AFE
M SHERNIBFER ZEE LA
FHENHRD R A27,820,000%
e 4,521,000 0 (ZF Y4 :
32,373,000 & JT & 8,175,000 %
JT) °

0 HEZRS QBRI RN
H37(OBE -

AEEERHBA

() EEHE
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. (&)
The Group as a lessor (continued) TEBESBHEAGE)
(i) Operating leases (continued) () BEHE(E)
The undiscounted lease payments receivables by the Group in RNEERFEME PR 2 DA HEE
future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its AE TR S PR R EARE 2 FE R AT R
tenants are as follows: HERNFKWOT :
2025 2024
—EC-hHE —EO4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Within one year —FR 4,561 4,197
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 3,036 2,098
Aftter two years but within three years MEREBE=FRA - 1,743
Total ey 7,597 8,038
(i) Finance leases (i) AEHEE
The Group sub-leased 4 retail shops to its franchisees ANEBERIERESHESELZHRAMER
(2024: 7 retail shops to its franchisees) under finance lease DA ZEEESH( - -E : [\
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from MEESB7EZEES)  HEil
2 to 3 years (2024: less than 1 year to 3 years). The terms of BN F2E3E( - —J04E : DR
the leases require the tenants to pay security deposits. F3E) o MEKRKERBPL TR
B o
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. (&)
The Group as a lessor (continued) rEBEREBEAE)
(ii) Finance leases (continued) (i) BEHE(E)
The carrying amounts of net investments in subleases and the DEREFHE L FHERFANE
movements during the year are as follows: wm
HK$'000
FHETT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWA—-AZEKEE 12,511
Additions arising from new leases EFEIHEmMAE 3,905
Accretion of finance income recognised during the year FRFER 2 238H FEUA 354
Proceeds from subleases DHEFTEFIA (5,942)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZ-ZZE-F=A=+—H0K
—ToMFENA—-RZREE 10,828
Additions arising from new leases RFEIHEmMAE 3,061
Accretion of finance income recognised during the year 4E AR 2 R EFFSU A 431
Proceeds from subleases DHEFTEFIA (4,874)
Lease modification HEERT (1,358)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 RZZT-_RF=A=+—H2Z
BREE 8,088
2025 2024
—EC-HF —EoEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Analysed into: DM
Current portion mENER D 3,856 4,931
Non-current portion SEMENE D 4,232 5897
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—RZKEE 8,088 10,828

M s Y
0
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

17. LEASES (CONTINUED) 17. /(&)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEREBEAE)
(iij) Finance leases (continued) (i) BEHEE(E)
At 31 March 2025, the undiscounted lease payments RZZBZRF=A=+—H X%
receivable by the Group in future periods under non- ERBREME PRI PR HEERLE
cancellable finance leases with its tenants are as follows: HENRRHARZ EBRARITERAE
T -
2025 2024
—EC-hHE —EoEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Within one year —FR 4,578 4,097
After one year but within two years —FRIEMFA 4,272 1,201
After two years but within three years MERB=FRX 492 924
Total et 9,342 6,222
In addition to the above, the annual contingent rental is Br EiiESN - FEAHSIRIER
calculated on a percentage of the turnover of the store. EEBMIADLEE -
18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REBEATIZRE
2025 2024
—E-HE —ET U4
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost of investments in associates: REE AR AR
Unlisted shares, at cost JE MR - R 4,331 4,331
Less: Impairment losses recognised B BRERREEE (831) (831)
3,500 3,500
Share of post-acquisition profits/(losses), FEIE MR R, (E51R) -
net of dividends received OBk B UER (522) 933
Total HET 2,978 4,433
The Group's trade receivable balances with the associates are AEEEEE AT E S RBGRIEA S
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements. TR R M 5T 2 1 2 5R ©
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. REAEATFIZI®E (Z)
The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial TRAAAEEBKZEQARENTEKRDN
information of the Group's associates that are not individually BB EERBIE
material:
2025 2024
—E-REF —E N4
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FHTT
Share of the associates' profits and losses FEEBE DRI AFE R
for the year M 518 1,045 2,533
Share of the associates' total comprehensive R E QR 2 E RS AR
income 1,045 2,533
Dividend received B Ui S 2,500 2,600
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRBERR 2IRE
investments in associates Z HRREE 2,978 4,433
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 19. BAFEEHM2EAKSEARZ &R/
HE
2025 2024
—E-REF —E U4
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
gz FExT FET
Listed equity investments, at fair value _EMREIRE - ZAFE (), (i) 3,699 24,986
Listed debt investments, at fair value ~ FHEBERE @ IAFE (i) 455 8,128
Subtotal /NEF 4,154 33,114
Portion classified as current assets DEERBEEINRY (455) (8,128)
Non-current portion EMENE D 3,699 24,986
Notes: Bff3E
(i)  The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the Stock ()  LHlRERERUB BN LT ATNK
Exchange in Hong Kong and were irrevocably designated at FVTOCI as the Group A - HARAEBRAZSHREBR B
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. The fair value of each of g EUE TR R E R AT ELH M
these companies represent less than 19% of the net assets of the Group as at 31 ZHBRBEAE - ZFERARZEHATFERZ
March 2025 and 2024. T_RAFR-T_NF=RA=+—HEERE

BEEFEL 1% -

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group received dividends in the HEZZ-_RAF=-A=-+—HILEE K&
amount of HK$76,000 (2024: HK$1,682,000) from the equity investments EEEEARATELEMEEKZE AR
designated at FVTOCI and recognised them in profit or loss. R 15 B UL B.76,00078 7T ( — 2 — PO 4F -

1,682,000/87T) - 4340 A6 EaREl

BB RES
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31 March 2025

—E-RF=A=+—H

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (CONTINUED) 19. H#AFEERMREBRRARZ &6
BEE)
Notes: (continued) Mt : (#)
(i) Impairment assessment of debt investments at FVTOCI (i) RBRAFELHEHMEZEREARZEREREZ
BT
As at 31 March 2025, all listed debt investments were defaulted and was R-ZE-RAE=ZA=+—8 IBELHES
categorised within Stage 3 for the assessment of ECLs. BREHBELY  WHTAEREEBENS
PERE=PEE -
As at 31 March 2024, except for a listed debt investment of HK$7,720,000 RZZZWF=HA=+—H - 7,720,000/
which was not overdue and categorised within Stage 1, all the remaining T2 LT EBRENESAR S ERAE R
listed debt investments were defaulted and categorised within Stage 3 for the BN PRABT EHERREHEREY - X
assessment of ECLs. HAEEREEEIEME D RAE=RE -
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the RERE DB BEBEBEEBEETR
ECLs, which are estimated by applying the probability of default approach with B MEEEEBEEBERELNB
reference to risk of default and loss given default of the issuers or comparable FRW R EREIT ANLATE LD R HE LR
companies. As at 31 March 2025, the probability of default applied was 100% BMEHNEBEETEHE - R T _HF=
(2024: 0.1% to 100%) and the loss given default was 74.1% (2024: 61.6% to A=+—H " FTEANENBRAE100%(=
84.7%). TP 0.1%E100%) REHBIEERA
74.1%(ZZ =PI : 61.6%Z284.7%) °
The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt investments at RATELHMEEEE AR EBRE 2
FVTOCI are as follows: REEBRREZEWT
2025 2024
—EC-RE —EoE
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FHBT
At beginning of year REH 9,848 9,598
Assets derecognised RILERCBE - @11
Impairment losses/(reversal of HEEECRERRRE) -
impairment losses), net (note 7) R (MEE7)
Changes in risk parameters AR EEE) (1,239) 461
Subtotal N (1,239) 461
At end of year RER 8,609 9,848
(i) In March 2024, the Group distributed 1,715,665,730 Wang On Shares through @iy RZZTZWF=F AEBEEBAEYHIKRA

the Distribution in Specie to the Company's shareholders. The fair value of
these Wang On Shares on the date of completion of the Distribution in Specie
was HK$58,333,000, and the accumulated loss for these Wang On Shares
recognised in other comprehensive income of HK$23,120,000 was transferred
to accumulated losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

INVENTORIES 20. ¥R

2025 2024
—E-hF —EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Raw materials and consumables ¥R BFEm 105,374 145,767
Work in progress FBIRK TR 5,269 6,908
Finished goods IRk 127,455 155,423
Total HE 238,098 308,098

TRADE RECEIVABLES 1. BHESE
2025 2024
—E_REF —E-UFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Trade receivables =) & e 74,584 94,402
Less: Accumulated impairment B BREDRE (7,238) (13,046)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 67,346 81,356

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit.
The credit period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each customer has
a maximum credit limit and the credit limit is reviewed regularly.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group's associates of HK$9,575,000 (2024: HK$5,341,000) which
are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

NTEBEEZERERAT 2025 3§
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 21.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of

the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

RHEBRIA(E)

I RUMFARRERNRRIEEZ A Y
&%DB%FSTE%%&ZEE@%%‘*WDT :

2025 2024

—E-RF —EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Within 1 month & A LAR 51,515 37,767
1 to 3 months 12318 A 14,500 13,313
Over 3 months but within 6 months HBiE3E A BT BiE6EA 716 15,391
Over 6 months 61E A E 615 14,885
Total 1Bzt 67,346 81,356

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B P RMGIR R EREREZEEIT

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZTopE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

At beginning of year REA 13,046 23,034
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment REEE CREESE

losses), net B[ - FEE 15,059 (1,900)
Amount written off as uncollectible A W B i S ) & 7R (20,631) -
Exchange realignment PE 3 % (236) (583)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion  FEAX B0 K& 48 IEHER

of the Distribution in Specie S ESNG - (7,505)
At end of year RER 7,238 13,046
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using MNE L BB RRE R ETRE

a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for
more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 21. HREBWRRIEE)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TREIAEBFABBEESLNE
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: SEWHIENEERBEER
As at 31 March 2025 R=ZB-AF=H=+—H
Past due
il
Over
3 months
Within 1to3  but within Over 6
Current 1 month months 6 months months Total
BB3fEA
BAEE
HE MEAMR 12384 6f8A  6EAML hy
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 0.1% 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 94.7% 9.7%
Gross carrying amount (HK$000)  #BREME(THE) 66,236 377 183 195 1,593 74,584
ECLs (HK$'000) BEEEEE(TET) Iy} 1 1 1 7,193 7,238
As at 31 March 2024 AT -_ME=A=+—H
Past due
it
Over
3 months
Within 1103 but within Over 6
Current 1 month months 6 months months Total
EiB3{EA
AR
HE EANA 123064 688  6EAML st
Expected credit loss rate EHEEHRE 0.8% 1.1% 25% 3.3% 58.1% 13.8%
Gross camying amount (HK$'000)  #8REE(FAT) 54,073 8,850 6,025 4382 21,072 94,402
ECLs (HK$'000) BEEEBE(TET) 425 93 148 144 12,236 13,046

|| foiieig /B0
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22. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

22. BERERRFIR

2025 2024

—E-EHF —T-MmF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE FExT FAT

Loans receivable from Wang On BN L E IR 0) 100,000 100,000

Loans receivable from CAP FEUP B REMER (i) 295,000 380,000

Interest receivables FEWIFH B 12,453 14,759

Subtotal NEt 407,453 494,759

Less: Impairment allowance B ORER (i) - -

Subtotal /Nat 407,453 494,759

Less: Portion classified as non-current 3§ : D48 AIERENEE LR

assets b (295,000) (380,000)

Portion classified as current assets DERRBEELS 112,453 114,759

Notes: BfsT -

(i) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loans receivable from Wang On were ) RZZE-AFEK-TE-_NF=ZA=+—80"
stated at amortised cost. These loans were unsecured, carried interest at a JEWE R EFIZBHA AT R - ZEERR
fixed interest rate of 10% per annum with a final maturity in December 2028 IR REEF N E 1008 - HEEE
and were repayable on demand. Further details are set out in the Company's BRAZZZN\GF+R  UEREREE-
announcement dated 18 December 2023. E—FSHBERARARBHAE_ZT_=F

TZATNBHRM
(i) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loans receivable from CAP were stated at @iy RZZE-RAFER-ZT-_NF=ZA=+—H"

amortised cost. These loans were unsecured, carried interest at a fixed interest

rate of 10% per annum with a final maturity in May 2027. The carrying amounts

of the loans receivable approximated to its fair values. Further details
in the Company's announcement dated 3 May 2022.

are set out

FEU BB E B FUR B A AR - 5%
BERAEER  RETFFHEI10%:E
KEBMAA-T-+FRA - ZZEWE]
ZHEEEHEANTFEES - #—FFEH
AATBSA—S-_—_FRB=HNAMH -

AL

N
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

22. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loans and interest
receivables are as follows:

31 March 2025

P ELEEAE )

—E-RF=RA=+—H

22. BERRFIB(E)

Mt - (&)
@iy EREREAMNSHREBRREEBNT

2025 2024

—E-RE —E N

HK$000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

At beginning of year REH - 43,586

Impairment losses, net RERE - F5 - 414

Exchange realignment M R - (1,090)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion of TR B Y IR EFER

the Distribution in Specie =N - (42,910)

At end of year RER - -

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loans and interest receivables were not
yet past due and were categorised within Stage 1 for the measurement of ECLs.
As such, the Group's exposure to credit risk is insignificant and the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the ECLs for these loans and interest
receivables are minimal.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the ECLs, which are estimated by applying the probability of default approach
with reference to the risk of default and loss given default of the borrowers or
comparable companies. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal. As at date of completion of the Distribution in Specie,
the probability of default applied for CAP's loans receivables from third parties
ranged from 0.7% to 100% and the loss given default ranged from 60.1% to
78.5%.

NTEEEZERERAT 2025 F£3§
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FRFIRIE - BReERHEMEBWRIE

2025 2024
—ECRF —ZomF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Prepayments TEN A 14,406 12,080
Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, WY BB REH 2
plant and equipment [=ENE & 2,873 5231
Rental and other deposits e MEfire 41,285 33,413
Other receivables ﬁfﬂ?ﬂﬁlm 16,541 20,627
Right-of-return assets REWEEE 261 853
Total prepayments, deposits and TANFIE - ek
other receivables H b e G IaE R 75,366 72,204
Less: Impairment allowance o ORERE - -
Subtotal /NET 75,366 72,204
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets W DBERIFRDEEDS (18,823) (14,423)
Portion classified as current assets DERRENEEELS 56,543 57,781

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits,
deposits with vendors and receivables from counterparties which
have no history of default. The financial assets included in the above
balances were not overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the
measurement of ECLs. Where applicable, an impairment analysis
is performed at each reporting date by considering the ECLs, which
are estimated by applying the probability of default approach with
reference to the risks of default of the counterparties. As at 31
March 2025 and 2024, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, cost of obtaining contracts
under discontinued operations represented the prepaid sales
commission paid in connection with the sales of properties. The
Group had capitalised the amounts paid and charged them to profit
or loss as selling and distribution expenses when the revenue from
the related property sale is recognised. During the year ended 31
March 2024, sales commission of HK$7,337,000 was charged to
profit or loss and included in profit for the year from discontinued
operations.

e PHEMEUREEZERS RS -
MTYBTZRERRBEAEENRLIRZ
R FZEWFIA » fFALiisgE R
TREETEDY  UnBEHEEER
MEtEME D BERE KR - EERB
AT REREEHEBEERYREE
ERETREDN - MEMEEBRET
BREAENBTEL2ERZHTH
BHORBETEE R-F-_RFER-
Z_WFE=A=1t—H  BIEBHRKT
BRI

HE_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE "

BECKRIEEEEBESSONKAN
EREEMEINNBHBEERS -
AEFETENMEHEBEI R EED
EHEMSRERRRIIEHEE KD H
Ay EEENk BE-_T-NF=A
—+—HIFE  HEME7,337,0008
TLEBENR - Wi ARBBERIELEE
EBNAFEE -
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FAMRIE - BREREMBURIEZ)

(CONTINUED)
The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of FTATERM I - Be REMEWRRIE L
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other TREERESEREZHNT

receivables are as follows:

2025 2024
—E-HE —E
HK$000 HK$'000
THET THETT
At beginning of year REH - 751
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment BIEEE,(REEE
losses), net B[E) - R 1,201 187)
Amount written off as uncollectible Sk EINIE s kA (1,201) -
Exchange realignment b 3, FE B - (16)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon TR E Y IR IR
completion of the Distribution in Specie YN - (548)
At end of year RER = -
24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 24. BROFEHERZABRZEMEE
2025 2024
—E_EREF —E-UF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE FExT FHTT
Unlisted funds, at fair value FEFTES  BAYE (a) 9,927 15,413
Listed equity investments, at fair value EHEERE - IZATFE (b)), (© - 13,340
Total #Et 9,927 28,753
Notes: Ff5E
(@  The above unlisted fund investments were mandatorily classified as financial (a) i3k EmESKREWRGHEAIKRATE
assets at FVTPL as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of KESARZEREE  RE/SBHIREN
principal and interest. ARRENEBWIFEREELE RS -
The fair value of unlisted funds of HK$9,927,000 (2024: HK$15,413,000) as at ELEMEREE Z AFE,927,0008 (=
31 March 2025 are determined based on the quoted market prices provided by T PF : 15413,0008 ) DR —ZE-REF
fund administrators with reference to prices derived from the over-the-counter ZA=1+—B2EZBIRGNHERIERBE
market. SERARENTISREET
(b) At 31 March 2024, the equity investments were classified as financial assets b)) RZFTZWF=A=+—H8 ARAEEL
at FVTPL as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss EEREBHEM P EREREARTERES
through other comprehensive income. BiE - MRERRESERARATELERA
Rz emEE -

B o

|| foiieig /B0

PITEEEERARAT 2025 £3§ 199




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 25. BeRBASERAEHLURSERER
DEPOSITS
2025 2024
—E_EREF —EPF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

BiFE FHT FiET
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTEE 130,501 114,732
Time deposits TE BAfE R 1,815 44,681
Subtotal IR 132,316 159,413
Less: Pledged deposits W BERER @ - (4,/444)
Cash and cash equivalents RekB+EREE 132,316 154,969
Note: PR -

(@) Asat 31 March 2024, the bank balances amounting to HK$4,444,000 were
pledged to a bank for bills payable of the Group amounting to HK$4,444,000.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$22,909,000
(2024: HK$20,757,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short-term time deposits rates. The bank balances and
time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

@ R-ZZE-_WNE=ZA=+—8  RI&%
4,444,000 % T B B AN & B 2 BN E &
4,444,000 T T —ERTT

RIREHIR  REBIUAREENR
© MIR1T 45 8 /522,909,0008 T ( =&
ZPU4F : 20,757,000/ 7C) © AREAT]
BHRFBRAHMEE - S8 - BIFHE
W HNE B IR 1G] ) KA TE - BB A
EEERTE)  ANEERSBEREEE
INEEFZBITHARBLBAREME
ﬁé} °

RITERRBEZARTERNEAE
ZF BN RGN R - EHMEHRERZ
FERERNF—RE=EH  BAEH
Z AR F/RME - WIRAERBEIE
HATE SRM) R BRER A B, SRTTAE R S E
FRAFBNIEENELAEER
bf 2 SRT o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

26. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 26. FEERBEHEZEE
2024
—E 4
Notes HK$'000
MIEE FAT
Assets classified as held for sale PEARBEHEEE
Non-current assets classified as held for sale DEAFELEERDEE
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - BB REE @) 28,828
— Investment properties — IR EWE (b) 38,000

Total “RET 66,828

Notes: Bz -

(@) On 15 March 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement @ R-E-_WE=A+HRA AEEE—ZF
with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as leasehold VEZHIVEERS  UHESEARE
land and buildings included in property, plant and equipment at a consideration T ME LRI AME BERLETE
of HK$41,000,000. The transaction was completed on 17 May 2024. F - R{B541,000,000 T « ZXHER-

FoMERAHEARR -

(b)  On 31 January 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement b) R-TE-_mE—-—A=+—B A&EEE—-%
with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as investment BYE=FHIVEERS  UWHEDEAR
properties at a consideration of HK$38,000,000. The transaction was completed By Y% - A8 4538,000,0008 T o %
on 2 May 2024. RHBER_ZE_MFRAZATK -

At 31 March 2024, the Group's assets held for sale with an E"_—\,_EE A=+—8 A~&£EE

aggregate carrying amount of HK$66,828,000 were pledged to 48(E 566,828,000/ T 2 FHEHE &

secure general banking facilities granted to the Group. The charges FE;%HX ST AER Y —MIETEE
on the Group's investment properties and property, plant and VERIRR - REBSEABIELE VIR
equipment classified as held for sale had been released on 2 May gm%g(m@% WEREREZIEED

2024 and 17 May 2024, respectively, upon partial repayment of SRR —_E-MERA-_BE-_ZT /N

the related secured bank loans. ER AT +HHEEBSSEEEEKPIET

BERIEERRR o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 27. EHBARBEREMEE

2025 2024

—E-HF —EoF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Trade payables B S ENIA 18,271 26,463
Bills payable NS - 4,444
Total mEt 18,271 30,907

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

BHRNFARENRERHEHRR

BERZEBZRESTNT -

2025 2024

—E_-ERE —EPUF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Within 1 month E A LAR 10,982 13,817
1 to 3 months 1238 A 2,102 4,234
Over 3 months but within 6 months BiE3ME AB B iBE6IE A 334 1,364
Over 6 months 61E A E 4,853 11,492
Total wmEt 18,271 30,907

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing. As at 31 March 2024,
the bills payable of the Group is secured by the Group's bank
balances (note 25) and property, plant and equipment (note 15)
and interest-bearing at 2.45% per annum. The trade and bills
payables have an average term of 30 to 360 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are within the credit time frame.

202

B SRENRIBTFE - RZTEMFE=
A=+—8 AEENENFEREIRE
B R IRITEES (WFE25) AR - &
B REEMFES)EETE - HFERX
2.45%F B - BZEMNNEBERENEE
K FHEIR A30E360H - AEBEET
EVBRKREEER - BIRFTBENR

HRIEEEERRAXL -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/CONTRACT 28. HttERIRBRENER SVWAR
LIABILITIES
2025 2024
—E-hHE —EO4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
gz FExT FET
Receipts in advance FE U R IE 1,128 1,118
Rental and other deposits received Pt e REMES 3,502 12,268
Contract liabilities BHEE @) 9,364 12,020
Refund liabilities RyBE 715 1,194
Other payables H e~ 58 (b) 22,114 29,773
Accruals JEFTE R 59,995 56,430
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 92,111 99,120
Subtotal NEt 188,929 211,923
Less: Portion classified as non-current 3§ : S4B AIERE & EEE
liabilities 7 (40,476) (51,220)
Portion classified as current liabilites %8 A&7RE B EIHD 148,453 160,703
Represented by: g
Contract liabilities ataE 9,364 12,020
Current portion of other payables and £t fE < 5038 X fE 51 & FH
accruals Z B 139,089 148,683
Portion classified as current liabilites D& REI& B D 148,453 160,703
Notes: Bff3E
(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a AHEBEHBET:
31 March 31 March 1 April
2025 2024 2023
—EC-HE kel 1 = —T-=F
=A=+—H =A=+—H MA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAET
Advances received from customers [ & Y ER B3 5%
Sale of goods HEEY 9,364 12,020 9,774
Sale of properties HEME - - 166,096
Total st 9,364 12,020 175,870
Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation to sales EHEEBREMEERAERRERMBER
of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food products and advances MEFRBMBA R I A EER DR IELEEE
from buyers in connection with the CAP Group's pre-sales of properties received BURHMEREHUTREEREEBEYE
by the Group’s discontinued operations. Decrease in contract liabilities for the MR - HEZT-_AF=—A=1+—HBLHF
year ended 31 March 2025 was mainly due to the decrease in short-term = é%@ﬁfﬁiﬁ&}gmﬁéiﬂiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
advances received from customers in relation to the sale of goods at the end of R E’g%ﬁﬁﬁig;ﬁﬁyﬁﬁi&_{ o i-(- %\
the year. s $ fi *m
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one year. (b) EMEH%XIET\E‘I'EE BEE—FA 4%33
) | E a5 i
: D 2 BE B
... -\."I

: A
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RAF=A=+—H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 29. FHRRITHE
2025 2024
—ECTE —EoNE
Contractual interest Contractual interest
rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
AhRIZw) HEA TiEn AFIR)  HEA TR
Current;
B :
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+(1.6t02)  On demand/ 177,678 HBOR+(1.6t02)  On demand/ 165,416
2025-2026 2024-2025
RET -8R BRAMAERE+ REEEXE/ EREORERS  REEDRE/
(1.6EZ28) k- 13 (16EZ2E) ZEINEE
—BCRE “ECRE
Longerm bank loans repayable HIBOR+1.6  On demand 9,667 HBOR+1.6  On demand 19333
on demand - secured
RESOER  NMEEERE EARTREREH16E REEZXE BERNAERSHIE  RREDRE
ER-HER
Subtotal 187,345 184,749
g
Non-current:
FE0H
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+1.8 2026 155,950 HBOR+1.8  2025-2026 276,200
ROEH-5EA ERRNFEREHSE ZIoNE BARAERELI8E ~T-RFE
“EIR
Total 343,295 460949
@t
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MM RME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. S EBITEEE)

2025 2024
—E-RF —EoHEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Analysed into: PV
Bank loans repayable: ETIFHRERZ
RITEN :

Within one year or on demand —EWQK\&EE*H%
(Note (a)) (M3t (a)) 187,345 184,749
In the second year F_F 155,950 13,600

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FNF

(BREEREMF) - 262,600

Total #Et 343,295 460,949

Notes: Bzt -

(a)  As further explained in note 44 to the financial statements, the Group's term (@) PMBERERMTAFTE—SBIE  £&
loans with an aggregate amount of HK$19,333,000 (2024: HK$29,000,000) 4 %8 519,333,000 T ( Z T Z P04 ¢
containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current liabilities and 29,000,000/ 7)) 2 THEZHENEES
of which HK$9,666,000 (2024: HK$9,667,000) are repayable within one year KB ERES  BDAEARDAR  HOD
based on the respective loan agreements. For the purpose of the above analysis, 9,666,000 7T.( —Z = U4 : 9,667,000/ %)
the loans are included within current interest-bearing bank borrowings and *Ey%xg MEZGEER—ERNEE - 3tk
analysed into bank borrowings repayable within one year or on demand. ST S @ ZEEHH AR EETHE

QW j’[ﬁ F AR R B REHEE 2 3R
TTE BTN -
At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of interest-bearing RIRE R - S EIRTRERIES RS
bank borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan BrHEERANaSs T BBAEAMT :

agreements is as follows:

2025 2024
—ECRHE —ToE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Bank loans repayable: BTHIFEER 2 SRITER
Within one year —FR 177,678 165,416
In the second year FE_F 165,617 23,267
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoERFE(RREEERSF) - 272,266
Total 15T 343,295 460,949

|| foiieig /B0
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025

—E-RF=A=+—H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

®

©

C))

©

Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's property, plant and
equipment (note 15), owned investment properties and certain rental income
generated therefrom (note 16), pledged deposits (note 25) and the equity
interests in certain subsidiaries of the Company (note 1).

As at 31 March 2025, all bank loans of the Group bear interest at floating
interest rates (2024: all bank loans of the Group bear interest at floating interest
rates).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all of the Group's bank borrowings are
denominated in HKS$.

The agreements governing the bank loans of the Group contain conditions and
events of default customary for such financings. Certain bank loans amounting
to HK$155,950,000 (2024: HK$276,200,000) which were classified as non-
current liabilities as at the end of the reporting period also contain financial
covenants including leverage ratios, loan-to-value ratio and minimum interest
reserve requirements with respective applicable test dates of each year until
maturity. The Group has complied with the covenants under the relevant facility
agreements as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

206

29. EtRSEITEEE)

Mt - (&)

(b)

©

@

©

AEBETRITERTIALERDNYE - B
FEREmMES) MEAREMERALE
EzETHRSBA(KR6) - BEAFHR
7E25) R AR A T E A TR AL (3
DFER -

RZZZRF=A=+—8 ' KEEFMAR
TEFLVFBFEFE(ZTZWF : A%
BEFFERITEFTEZEBFRLE) -

RIE-RER-_ZT-_NE=ZA=+—08 -
AEBMARTEEH A TIHE ©

ERARERTERZREREZSREN
EBEGEEMELNSM - RIBEHR - AY
155,950,0007 70 ( == — /4 : 276,200,000
B HERERBDEBEZETRITERN
BEWBER®  BEERLE  BRREE
LERRSEEFEEESER - WHATFZ
AEERNABH(EZE) - AEER =
To_AFRZFE_NF=ZA=+—HEBHE
TARARLE AR TE T A3 o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year
are as follows:

30. EERIA

FRAREHARBREEZESHNT

Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance adjustment
in excess arising from
Right-of-use of related  Revaluationof acquisition of
assets depreciation properties subsidiaries Total
prepil i P REEHEAFR
RRELE ERHE NXEfR  FHATERZ Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn TEL Fhn TEL TEL
At 1 April 2023 RZB-=FNA-H 4756 27,698 471,846 95,356 599,656
Disposal of a subsidiry (note 36) HE—BHBAR(H36) - (2,065) - - (2069
Deferred tax charged)(credited) to ERRERIG/ GIABR )
profit or loss during the year EILHE (3,160) (2247) 21,7173) 20,258 (6922)
Derecogniton of subsidiries upon completion TR BN F AL HEAHBAT
of the Distrbution in Specie (1,593) - (437.991) (11277) (552,156)
Bichange realignment B AR (153) - (12,082) (2842) (15077)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZEZRE=A=+-AR
“E-MERA-A 50 23,386 - - 3,436
Deferred tax charged)(credited) to profitor loss AR BRI/ (G A BE )
during the year EREHE 418 (2,260) - - (1.842)
Bichange realignment Ei AR (1) - - - (1)
Gross deferred tax iabities at 31 March 2025 N =F-R%E=A=+-A2
ERHAR GRS 467 21,126 - - 21,593
¥ (2 Bt
£ iN
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RAF=A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 30. RERR(E)
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year FERNELEHBEEREEZEHNT ¢
are as follows: (continued) (#&)
Deferred tax assets ELEREEE
Depreciation
Loss available in excess of
for offsetting related Impairment
lease  against future depreciation of financial
liabilities taxable profits allowance assets Total
TREESEAR  BBMBNE
HESRE ERWENZER  AHEZNE  SREEEE Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEL TEL Fhn TEL T
At 1 April 2023 R_EZ=ENE-A 4756 36,045 48 47 40,89
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HE—BHBAR(H36) - (1,051) - - (1057)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion ~ A EAI DAL L BN BAT
of the Distribution in Specie (4726) (4,768) - - (9,494)
Deferred tax credited to profitor loss ERE A BRNETHE
during the year 140 9335 - 4 9479
Eichange realignment B (120) 49 - - ()
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE-MEZA=1-BR
“T-mEMA-A 50 39,610 48 51 39,759
Deferred tax credited to profitor loss EREABENETHA
during the year 1320 1,236 - 6 2,562
Eichange realignment By (1) - - - (1)

Cross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=1—-8H

EhaAEAE 1,369 40,846 a8 51 02,320
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities RERENMS - BETELEHBEEER
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. BECHEGEEVBIRAERARESE - AT
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the RAEBEHRIERIBAEARI B HE B
Group for financial reporting purposes: GOk el=0ka)igk
2025 2024
—EC-RHEF —ZTopmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the R & BT IRR R N EERR Y
consolidated statement of financial position EERIAE EFE 21,047 17,685
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the & B IR R A RER
consolidated statement of financial position EEFIBEEEFRE (320) (1,362)

EEMIBE = FE 20,727 16,323
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$852,443,000 (2024:
HK$810,095,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Except for tax losses of HK$247,552,000 (2024: HK$240,061,000)
which have been recognised as deferred tax assets, deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the remaining
amount of HK$604,891,000 (2024: HK$570,034,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The Group also has unused
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Macau with an aggregate
amount of HK$41,642,000 (2024: HK$48,918,000) that will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax
losses amount of HK$4 1,642,000 (2024: HK$48,918,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10% (2024: 10%).
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no significant temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

NTEBEEZERERAT 2025 3§
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P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

. GRIERIR(E)

RBERR - AEBBHEREBELE R
&) A R TE K518 5852,443,0008 T ( =&
— P04 : 810,095,000/ 7T ) » AJEERR B
AEEE L IRBEZ AR Z R K ERT
Al o BREIEET1E 247,552 ooo;‘%r‘n(:
T U4 : 240,061,000 7T ) C HER

LkmﬁﬁF%'mmxxmﬂXﬁT
A FEET - Uk R B Bh R §E604,891,000
AL (ZZF Z U4 : 570,034,000/8 1)
MRAELEHRBEE - AEERARF
B RBFEEZ RS ARIEEIE
& H£41,642000F L (ZF M F :

48,918,000/ 7T) + A AEHEE R R FER
REF > YR —ZERFRED - AR
RACHF RN AT T8 - MUt AR A E
THE51841,642,0008 L (Z O F :

48,918,000/ 0 ) iERIELER B E E ©

RIERECERBEE - NABEAAK
V2R ECEREIMNETEEEIRZ
B& B AT 1000 BT © fwH Bl A i
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4 BRI REE A EETEINRIER - ghAS%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RAF=A=+—H

31.

SHARE CAPITAL 31. =&
Shares g
2025 2024
—E-EREF —E-FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Authorised: ERE
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 60,000,000,000% &A%
HK$0.01 each 0.0 L2 LMk 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER
1,125,102,888 (31 March 2024: 1,125,102,8880%
1,171,102,888) ordinary shares of “E-NF=A=1+—
HK$0.01 each B :1,171,102,888[%) &
B0.01ETT 2 BB 11,251 11,711
During the year, the movements in the share capital and share FRN - ARRBRAE KRG HENZBIE
premium account of the Company were summarised as follows: BRI
Number of
shares Issued Share
outstanding capital premium Total
BRITRHOHA BEIRA BRiyiiE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx THT TET
At 1 April 2023 AE-=FEA—H 1,204,642,888 12,046 2,097,109 2,109,155
Cancellation of shares repurchased (Note (I)) ~ sF45EBER (7 (FEE()) (33,540,000) (335) (14,393) (14.728)
Share premium reduction (Note (i) Bl B B (R - - (950,000) (950,000)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZEZMF=A=T-HRK
“2-NENA—-H 1,171,102,888 11,711 1,132,716 1,144,427
Cancellation of shares repurchased (Note (I)) ~ sE45EBER (7 (H5E() (46,000,000) (460) (11,340) (11,800
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RAF=F=1—H 1,125,102,888 11,251 1,121,376 1,132,627
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31.

32.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Shares (continued)
Notes:

(i)  The Company repurchased 46,000,000 (2024: 33,540,000) of its shares
on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of HK$11,800,000 (2024:
HK$14,728,000) during the year. The repurchased shares were cancelled during
these years.

(i) Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
at the special general meeting held on 7 March 2024, an amount of
HK$950,000,000 standing to the credit of the Share Premium Account was
reduced in accordance with section 46 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the
“Companies Act") and bye-law 6 of the bye-laws of the Company and that the
credit arising therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus account.

Share options

Details of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note
32 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2023, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2023 Scheme"). The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of one to three years and ends on a date which is
not later than five years from the date of offer of the share options
or the expiry date of the 2023 Scheme, if earlier.

The 2023 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, share options may be granted
to any Director or proposed Director, employee or proposed
employee, of the Company or its subsidiaries or and Director
or proposed Director, employee or proposed employee of the
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies
of the Group to let them subscribe for shares in the Company at a
consideration equal to the higher of the closing price of the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange at the date of offer of grant,
the average closing price of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options and the nominal value of the shares of
the Company.

NTEBEEZERERAT 2025 3§

31.

32.

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

B ()
B (%)
FifEE

() FA - ARRA B FTEE B H 46,000,000 8%
(ZZ P04 : 33,540,0000%) i1 » AHR(E
11,800,000/ 7T ( =ZF =Y : 14,728,000
BIT) o BERNDENRSFETH °

() BEAATDREA-B-mE=§+ AR
MR BIA R L BARERIREE - RIE
ARE(—AN—FRTENBF%]) Fd6
ERAATZ ATEEIE6H - BURBKIAH(E
B 2 i B 4 58950,000,00055 7 + I 45 Ff A4
M BR R A B A -

RER e

NARZEREAE 2 FBHRY B R
FMIEE32 ©

RERRIERTE

RZEZ=FN\A=+=H ' K27
K —ERERESE ([ ZE-=FF
Bl FIRHBREZITEHRRESE
EWR—ZE=FNEEHERBER
TERREBREZHRASPRETAFTEHK
ZEC=FHEEBAUREERE)
R o

R CFEATERHESRRERY
AR E) e P B X B B BSR4
HEBMZEEABRAL -

REBE-—ZF_=F5t8 - BREARTA
NAHEMNBAREMNEFTHIREE
= REIHEFREE  IAKEEK
NAE - FRME AR ERBEAE
ERREESF EEAHREBEFREREUK
FRBARAED  KEHERREEZR
B S B R R R R PO B X2 P 2 W
MEXRZROBREE AAIAERS
A AR A B B X A 2 I M (B K
AREBROEEZEE -




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RAF=A=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 32. HERR#EETEI(Z)

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1. Options may be exercised at any
time from the date of grant of the share options up to the tenth
anniversary of the date of grant as determined by the directors at
their discretion.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of
which options may be granted, when aggregated with any other
share option scheme of the Company, shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time excluding
any shares issued upon the exercise of options granted pursuant to
the 2023 Scheme. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2023 Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the 2023
Scheme limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to an eligible person under the 2023 Scheme within any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the number of
shares of the Company is issue at any time.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not
have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options. The
Group accounts for the 2023 Scheme as an equity-settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholder's meetings.

No share option has been granted till 31 March 2025 since the
adoption of the 2023 Scheme.

There were no share options granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

There was no share-based payment recognised during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 83 and 84 of the
consolidated financial statements.

@M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of the shares issued and the consideration received,
which is governed by the Companies Act.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued
ordinary share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
a group reorganisation in 1995.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the
capital reduction effected by the Company less the amount
utilised for the purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the
Company, and the amount transferred from share premium
less the amount utilised for the Distribution in Specie.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland
China, a portion of the profits of the Company's subsidiaries
in Mainland China has been transferred to the reserve funds
which are restricted to use.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
amounts of consideration paid and the net assets of the
entities acquired by the Group under business combinations
under common control.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the amounts

of net consideration and the carrying values of non-controlling
interests acquired or disposed of.
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34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- 34. B EXIERRESZHBIEEHE

CONTROLLING INTERESTS 247

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling BAEEREERERC ANEENERR]
interests are set out below: IR T

Upon completion of the Distribution in Specie during the year REE-ZE-_NF=A=+—HILFE
ended 31 March 2024, the non-controlling interests of the CAP TREMDIRE  PEEEREEZIE
Group is derecognised. There were no accumulated balances of TRERDRIER - RZTE_MF=
non-controlling interests of CAP as at 31 March 2024. A=+—B hEREMTERIFE

PRt AE R o

2024

ZTF

HK$'000

FHET

Profit for the year shared by non-controlling interests RIS D h 2 A F R 19,249
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information TR EREMEE 2 B ER (R
of the CAP Group which was classified as discontinued operations AEBGEMBRERSBRERIEKE
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The amounts EBIBE - HEZHEANREIMA AT

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: I HAT ©8R

2024

—T-mF

HK$'000

FET

Revenue for the year RFEWER 553,973
Profit for the year FEHN 19,334
Other comprehensive loss for the year REFEAMPEER (50,346)
Total comprehensive loss for the year REERHEEBRAR (31,012)
Net cash flows from operating activities REXBRBZHRREFHA 161,473
Net cash flows used in investing activities REESMAZHRREFHAE (30,896)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBAZREREFHE (194,013)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekBAeEFRBE R FE (63,436)
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE NOT

BUSINESSES
For the year ended 31 March 2024

On 8 September 2023, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements with Viva Action Ltd and Shining Sun
Developments Limited, indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Wang On Properties Limited ("WOP”, a 75% owned subsidiary of
Wang On) in respect of the acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Success Vision and Nice Treasure and shareholder’s
loans of Success Vision and Nice Treasure owed to WOP at a total
consideration of HK$78,444,000 as adjusted based on the net
asset value of the Success Vision and Nice Treasure as at the date
of completion on 25 October 2023 and 15 November 2023,
respectively. Success Vision and Nice Treasure are principally
engaged in property investment in Hong Kong. The transactions
constituted connected transactions of the Group.

The above acquisitions have been accounted for by the Group as
acquisitions of assets as the entities acquired by the Group do not
constitute a business.

The net assets acquired by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 are as follows:

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

35. FEEBZMIE L FURE

BE-E-_NFE=A=1+—HILEE

RZZBE_=FNAANR  KEEHEZ
ZHERRAF([BRRME] HER
BAET5%2MBAR) MERELE
Bf B X =] Viva Action Ltd & Shining Sun
Developments Limited 5] 32 M 15 B & 1#
& ARARREBRELAEZ2EE
BATIRAER A RAEER BT E
M RER - 8K ER78444,000%
T B RFBR KBS —F
ZEHFTAZFTRARZTZ=F+—
ATHBZEEFERE - HE LB
ITEEEBUNEMERE - ZFEXFHE
BAEENFERS -

HAARERE 2 ERL TERER -
BASEK DB =R EERBA
B o

BE_T-_WE=A=+-HItFE
AKBEWEZEEFENT

Success Nice
Vision Treasure Total
B I @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT FH&TT
Net assets acquired: FribiE 2 EEFE -
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% « iR MR & 37,100 - 37,100
Investment properties KB 6,700 35,000 41,700
Other receivables H fth fE W FIE 65 5 70
Bank balances RITHESR 8 312 320
Other payables and accruals H b & 5RTE K2
FEEtE A (496) (250) (746)
Total st 43377 35,067 78,444
Satisfied by: BEA
Cash Re 43,377 35,067 78,444
>
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES THAT ARE NOT 35. EEBZMEBLRWEZ)
BUSINESSES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (continued) BE-Z-MNF=A=+—HLFE
(&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions of FRNBRFRABE 2R RESTN
Success Vision and Nice Treasure is as follows: I
Success Nice
Vision Treasure Total
Etel] HHS Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT T
Cash consideration ReRE (43,377) (35,067) (78,444)
Bank balances acquired PUC B SR1T 45 84 8 312 320

Net outflows of cash and cash STAFRNIEEE 2R e

equivalents included in cash REZHENEEER

flows from investing activities for BB i F 5

the year (43,369) (34,755) (78,124)
Transaction costs of the acquisition st AKEEB 2B HRE

included in cash flows from Z WA SRR AN

operating activities (478) (455) (933)
Total #Et (43,847) (35,210) (79,057)
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEMELT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z-NMF=A=+—HLFE
Details of the net assets of the subsidiaries disposed of during the RAFE M E 2 B AR (B R
current year, other than the derecognition of subsidiaries upon 13FE TR B DIk & & IR EA
completion of the Distribution in Specie as set out in note 13 to AIRRON VB B EF IS M B E gt
the financial statements, and the financial impacts are summarised N
below:
Billion Good  Oriental Sino Total
= REE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Notes (note (a)) (note (b))

B R (PFifaE(a)) (FaE(b))

Net assets disposed of: FILE v EEFE :

Property, plant and equipment 13 - /5 k& 15 - 100,923 100,923

Investment properties wEME 16 71,000 - 71,000

Trade receivables H 5 EWGIA 9 - 9

Deferred tax liabilities RIERIERE (1,014) - (1,014)
Subtotal 2\ 69,995 100,923 170,918
Professional fees and expenses HEZBA MY 1,431 2,439 3,870
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries &} B AR 2 &8 6 (2,665) (3,233) (5,898)
Total consideration HBRE 68,761 100,129 168,890
Satisfied by: BmERN

Cash BRE 68,761 100,129 168,890

M T
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o\
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 36. HEMBLAT(E)

BE-ZE-_NE=A=1+—HILLEE
(&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposals of Billion ERLERERREZRSRED TN

Good and Oriental Sino is as follows: T
Billion Good  Oriental Sino Total
e REE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAT
Cash consideration RERE 68,761 100,129 168,890
Professional fees and expenses paid B X HEEH LAY (1,431) (2,439) (3,870)
Net inflows of cash and cash REEMBRAZEE R
equivalents in respect of the ReERMEERAFRE
disposal of subsidiaries 67,330 97,690 165,020
Notes: Bf3E
(@ On 19 June 2023, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests in Billion @ MRZZEZ=FATNE FEER—-—EE

®

Good, a then indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
holding an investment property in Hong Kong, together with the shareholder's
loan owed by Billion Good to the Group to an independent third party at an
aggregate consideration of HK$68,761,000.

On 14 March 2024, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests in Oriental
Sino, a then indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
holding a property, plant and equipment in Hong Kong, together with the
shareholder’s loan owed by Oriental Sino to the Group to an independent third
party at an aggregate consideration of HK$100,129,000.
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

The Group has the following major non-cash transactions
during the year:

0)

(i)

(iil)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
had non-cash additions and modifications to lease
liabilities, right-of-use assets included in property, plant
and equipment and net investments in subleases of
HK$48,959,000, HK$46,530,000 and HK$1,703,000
(2024: lease liabilities, right-of-use assets included
in property, plant and equipment, net investments in
subleases and investment properties of HK$79,112,000,
HK$61,494,000, HK$3,905,000 and HK$10,001,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
leasehold land and buildings.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, trade receivables
of HK$12,224,000 (2024: Nil) and other receivables of
HK$6,159,000 (2024: Nil) with certain business partners
were settled through offsetting against trade payables and
other payables under multi-party net-off arrangements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
distributed the CAP Shares with a consolidated net asset
value of HK$810,956,000 and Wang On Shares with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$58,333,000 as at
the completion date of the Distribution in Specie to the
shareholders of the Company and further details are set
out in note 13 to the financial statements.

NTEBEEZERERAT 2025 3§

31 March 2025

P ELEEAE )

“T-RFZA=+-H

37. RERERBRME

(@) FEFREXS

219

AEEBFRAZEIBIFRESRZW

™

0)

(ii)

(iii)

(2T _RF=A=+—H
IEFE  AEESHEET R
BF o HEREREEAE -
ETAMIZE - B R ER
EEENRRD ﬂ%&é@%
ZIHFBRERBEREFT DA A
48,959,000/ 7T 46530@00
7T % 1,703,000/ L (=&

—E:HERE - FFAY
X BEMRREBZEREE

ERoAmEEFEAR
AWM B /79,112,000
B JT ~ 61,494,000 % T
3,905,000 7% 7t & 10,001,000
BT o

HEz—ZT-_RAF=A=+—H
IEFE - BETEBRINE
5 FE IR 3k T8 12,224,000 7% TT
(:%:@E D) RHEABEU
FXTE6,159,0008 7L ( —ZF =Y
E ) B RRE S Y
THHIRIEE S 5B R HAb
R FIEmAES -

BE_Z-_MF=A=+—H
IEFE - AEBRTENED D
KB ABMARRREDIRGE
& E ${E810,956,00078 LAY
FRRERRDMIEMEBES
58,333,000/8 TTH R &l (n
FIBEN B S REM 13




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RAF=A=+—H

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 37. FERERERMEE)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) METDELEZEESE
Bank Lease  Unsecured
borrowings liabilities notes
BITHEE HEEE SEEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT FHET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMA—H 1,521,662 117,767 125,189
Changes from financing cash flows EEEIR & REE (111,228) (70,501) (119,250)
Additions arising from new leases FEFFIAEMAE - 69,111 -
Additions arising from lease BADEMEREELZ
modification for sub-leased NE
properties - 10,001 -
Interest expense MEFX - 6,174 8,848
Gain on early redemption of RRELEERRE
unsecured notes Weas - - (14,787)
Elimination of intercompany loan ~ #$§REFHBEEERZ
to CAP RAIAER 380,000 - -

Derecognition of subsidiaries upon FERX B 7 k18 42 | EHERR

completion of the Distribution in ~ H{EB A F (KizE13)

Specie (note 13) (1,314,513) (32,869) -
Foreign exchange movement AN EYE) (14,972) (563) -

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April RZZEZMNFE=A=+—H

2024 N ZFZpUFImA—H 460,949 99,120 -
Changes from financing cash flows BER & HREE (117,654) (61,500) -
Additions arising from new leases EIHEMARE - 45,956 -
Lease modification HEEET - 3,003 -
Interest expense FERX - 5,534 -
Foreign exchange movement YN R B - (2 -
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_HF=A=+—H 343,295 92,111 -
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 37. FERARERMEE)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HERSREAH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated FFAGERERERCHER SN
statement of cash flows is as follows: mARRENT
2025 2024
—ZE-RE —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within operating activities IE TS (2,679) (7,631)
Within financing activities BEEE (61,500) (70,501)
Total st (64,179) (78,132)
38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. FEEH
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bills payable RAEBEEMNRERRITEREERT
and bank loans are included in notes 27 and 29 to the financial AEBEEFBEHNMBHRKRMT27R
statements. 29
39. COMMITMENTS 39. KifE
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end MRBER - REBZ EHAENT

of the reporting period:

2025 2024

—EZREF - eF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHET

Property, plant and equipment M - BE KR 8,502 2,555

B0 |

W s

| fotretgee
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with related parties

40. AR S

(a) Z|EBE X%

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these BRZEMBMEEMIBOFIML X
financial statements, the Group had the following material SO0 - REE R F N R 7 AT
transactions with related parties during the year: INTERZS :
2025 2024
—E-hHE —E U4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEE FExT FET
Wang On and its subsidiaries R REMBEAF]
(other than the Group) (REBEBRIN)
— Management fees incurred —REBEEEY
by the Group* EIRE* 0) 673 359
— Interest income earned — REE R FIE
by the Group* LNy (i) 43,439 39,484
— Sales of pharmaceutical —REBEHEREL*
products by the Group* i) 845 3,158
— Acquisition of subsidiaries* — UGB B B8 A B+ (iv) - 78,444
— Recognition of right-of-use —HERTEYREAE
assets for retail premise* BE* v) 2,564 -
Associates /N
— Rental income eamed —AREERRES
by the Group WA 0) 654 2,152
— Management and promotion —REBERRCERR
fees earned by the Group SERGE @ 1,090 1,116
— Sales of Chinese —REEHEPEERD
pharmaceutical products
by the Group (ii) 31,720 34,199
— Finance income on net — DR EFE W
investments in subleases A (Vi) 310 136
* These related party transactions also constitute connected transactions * ZEMB A RS IMER ETRAIE14A
or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the BEMATNEER FIFHERERS -

Listing Rules.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

Notes:

®

(i)

(ii)

()

W)

(i)

The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

The interest income was earned on the revolving loan facility advanced to
CAP and Wang On. Details of the terms of the relevant loans are set out
in note 22 to the financial statements.

The sales to the related parties were made according to the published
prices and conditions that the Group offered to its customers. During the
year ended 31 March 2024 the sales of pharmaceutical products by the
Group of HK$ 1,383,000 were made to the CAP Group.

On 8 September 2023, the Group entered into shares transfer
agreements with certain fellow subsidiaries of the Group to acquire 100%
equity interests in each of Success Vision and Nice Treasure together with
the shareholder’s loans at a total consideration of HK$78,444,000. Details
of these transactions are disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements.

On 4 March 2025, the Group entered into a three-year lease agreement
with a fellow subsidiary in respect of the lease of a retail premise for the
Group's retail operation. The amount of rent payable was determined
with reference to the prevailing market conditions in the vicinity. At the
commencement date of the lease, the Group recognised a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability of HK$2,564,000 and HK$2,480,000,
respectively (2024: Nil).

The finance income on net investments in subleases represented the
imputed interest for the lease payments receivable from the relevant
associates. The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with
certain associates in respect of the sub-licensing of certain retail premises
under finance lease arrangements. At the commencement date of each
of the sub-licensing agreement, the Group derecognised the underlying
right-of-use asset and recognised an net investment in sublease. The
amount of lease payment was determined with reference to the terms
mutually agreed between the Group and the associates. As at 31 March
2025, included in the Group's net investments in subleases are lease
payments receivable from the Group's associates of HK$4,776,000 (2024:
HK$8,003,000).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RAF=A=+—H

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the

40. BBAEH(E)

(b) XEFFEEEASZHME

Group
2025 2024
—E-EREF —E-UFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Fees e 656 757
Short-term employment benefits % HEE A 21,445 19,364
Post-employment benefits i 177 165
Total et 22,278 20,286

The above compensation of key management personnel
includes the directors’ remuneration, details of which are set
out in note 9 to the financial statements.

(c) Outstanding balance with related parties

Details of the Group's trade balances due from associates and
loans and interest receivables due from Wang On and the CAP
Group as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in
note 21 and 22 to the financial statements, respectively.

(d) Financial guarantee provided to a related party

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has given
guarantees to a bank in connection with banking facilities
granted to a fellow subsidiary. Details of the financial
guarantees given by the Group to a fellow subsidiary are set
out in note 41 to the financial statements.

FRFBEERBABZHERRES
e - FEERMBHRERM TS -

(c) BEBEETS RIEERRER

REBMPREHREREE AT Z
ZEo%E  URERELZRTEE
EnEBRZEREFEMNFIED 5
REIFEREM E21 K22 FE -

(d) RETEELZMBERRE

RZE-_RAFE-_ZFT-_WNF=H
=—+—H  AEEEgR—FRZR
WA e B A RITREE MIRTTIR
HIER - AEBMERWB AR
HEPBEROFTBEH R HREM
FE41 -
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41.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group has provided guarantees to a bank in connection with
facilities granted to CAP up to HK$370,000,000 as at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$370,000,000) and such facilities were utilised
to the extent of HK$120,056,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$253,374,000). These guarantees will be released upon the
repayment of the relevant loans in July 2025.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over the guarantees. The financial guarantee contracts are measured
at the higher of the ECL allowance and the amount initially
recognised less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The
ECL allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which
are based on the expected payments to reimburse the holders for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the debtor. The amount initially recognised represents
the fair value at initial recognition of the financial guarantees.

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group did not recognise
any liabilities in respect of such corporate financial guarantees as
the directors of the Company consider that the possibility of default
of the parties involved is remote; accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of these guarantee contracts and at the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 2. BENBSHEMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERRSEAN SR T A EEE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
31 March 2025 —E_hFE=HA=+—H
Financial assets EHEE
Financial
assets at
FVTPL Financial
Financial mandatorily assets at
assets designated amortised
at FvToCI as such cost Total
BEMLEE

BEAVEE ZBAYHE
Hit2EWE BREAR REERAZ

ARz SREE ZEREE SREE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TEr TiEn

Listed equity investments TR A 3,699 - - 3,699

Listed debt investments TmEBEE 455 - - 455

Unlisted funds FImES - 9,927 - 9,927

Trade receivables BHRNFE - - 67,346 67,346

Net investments in subleases ARREFE - - 8,088 8,088

Loans and interest receivables EUREFRRFE - - 407,453 407,453
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5T ATE(FUE e REM

deposits, and other receivables B e REE - - 60,699 60,699

Cash and cash equivalents BeRkReERER - - 132,316 132,316

Total @it 4,154 9,927 675,902 689,983
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MRk MR ()

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) 42. BENEISHEMIAE)

Financial liabilities 2HERE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHERARZ
EA- =N
HK$'000
FET
Trade payables B S ENFIE 18,271

Financial liabilities included in other payables and STAHMENFIBERESERZ
accruals (excluding lease liabilities) eHeEEEAERN) 25,616
Lease liabilities HEBE 92,111
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FARRITEE 343,295
Total #Et 479,293

r— |
B0 |

T
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) 42. BENEISHEMIAE)

31 March 2024 —E-ME=A=+—H
Financial assets THEE

Financial assets at FVTPL
RATERES B SREE

Designated Financial

assuch Mandatorily assefs at

Financial assets upon initiel designated amortised
atAvrod fecognition s such cost Total

BRTEE

Ap2EkE  REREDE REHIAL
NEZEHER MmitEE  EhLEE SHEE it
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TERL TERL TEL TEL Fin
Listed equity ivestments LiRiERE 24,986 13,340 - - 38,326
Listed debt investments LinERRE 8128 - - - 8,128
Unlisted funds AL - - 15413 - 15413
Trade receivables ECIEN - - - 81356 81356
Net investments in subleases IRREFE - - - 10,828 10,828
Loans and interest receivables FREZRAE - - - 494759 494,759

Financial assets included in prepayments, HARE  ReREAMEYGEL

deposits, and other receivables SRAE - - - 59271 59271
Pledged deposits BERRER - - - 4,444 4,444
Cash and cash equivalents BeRELSRER - - - 154969 154,969
Total @t 33,114 13,340 15413 805,627 867,494
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

43.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

P ELEEAE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

2. BENBSHEMTIAE)

Financial liabilities 2HERE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHER A2
SRAE
HK$'000
FHTT
Trade and bills payables B RNFIBERENER 30,907

Financial liabilities included in other payables and STAHMENGFERETERZ
accruals (excluding lease liabilities) cRaE(EEaERMN 42,041
Lease liabilities HEBE 99,120
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRRITIEE 460,949
Total et 633,017

FAIR YALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those carrying amounts that reasonably

43. SMTAZATFERLFEER

AEFEeRTAREERQAFESIER
HHE B TARIN 2 REERAFER

approximate to fair values, are as follows: T
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE DYE
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
i “EopE —2-5f% 12
ZA=t-B  =A=ft-H  ZA=t-B  =ZA=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER ThT TER TAT
Financial liabilities SREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TRRITEE 343,295 460,949 352,718 479,646

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, net investments
in subleases, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, loans and interest receivables, trade and
bills payables and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the

short-term maturities of these instruments.

NTEEEZERERAT 2025 F3§

ERECFERERASSAER - O
EREH - HHENIE - HRREE
8 SPABMRE - e RABERHK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. EMIAZCLAFERAFESFRZ)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of
the Company are responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments.
The finance department reports directly to the Company's
directors and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the Company’s directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value
as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025 were assessed to be
insignificant.

The fair values of listed equity investments and listed debt
investments are based on quoted market prices. The fair values of
unlisted fund investments are determined based on the quoted
market prices provided by fund administrators with reference to
prices derived from the over-the-counter market. The fair values of
unlisted debt investments at FVTOC| have been estimated using
a discounted cash flow valuation model based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the
most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.
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BERERTAZ AP EERERE
KEFF - WISEFERAARRRES R
BERZEBQER NEREEH MK
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TREERABZATFEIERZS
B SZH (RAFBERHERI) %
TAARIER B Z SRBARR °

AT R 807 % & B R 0
T

SRRITEENIERSE D 2R FETS
B RmEBLEY - EERR kRS
HIRM T ANFREMRBHRKR S
HMEFE RZTE-_RF=A=+-—
A AREHERTEENTEORR
BE 2 NHEESRHERLNEK -

EHBRERE R EHEBREZAFE
DIREMISREBE - FLTESERE
ZRFETIZEFIRZTIHERLRR
EeEEARKNTEREETE - B2
FELEMEE R R AR ZIEETER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. EMTAZAFERAFESFRZ)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy ANREER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TERHEAAEESBTAZAVFEFE
of the Group's financial instruments: E&

Assets measured at fair value: BRFETEZEE

Fair value measurement using

ERTHISE2 A VEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active Observable Unobservable
markets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RiEETS EATEE EAFUEER
ZHE BARE BARE
(F—#) (B=H) (E=H) #sr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET TET TEn
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=A=+-H
Financial assets at FVTOCI; BATELEM2ENEAR
LEREE:
Listed equity investments IR E 3,699 - - 3,699
Listed debt investments IhEERE 455 - - 455
Financial assets at FVTPL; BATELEEARZ
Unlisted funds FEMES - 9,927 - 9,927
Total @5t 4,154 9,927 - 14,081
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-MFE=A=+—H
Financial assets at FVTOC: BATELEE2ERE AR
JEREE:
Listed equity investments LRERE 24,986 - - 24,986
Listed debt investments IhEBRE 8,128 - - 8,128
Financial assets at FVTPL; BATELERARZ
Unlisted funds FLrmES - 15,413 - 15,413
Listed equity investment TRERE 13,340 - - 13,340
Total et 46,454 15413 - 61,867
&'y s “i}
& N B
% = i
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025

43.

44.

—E-RF=A=+—H

FAIR YALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2024: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 29 to the financial
statements, net of cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits
and equity attributable to owners of the parent, which comprises
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
receivables, loans and interest receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
financial assets at FVTPL, net investments in subleases,
financial assets at FVTOCI, cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits, trade and bills payables, bank borrowings, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure
to market risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk.
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44. MERBEBEEERBRZ)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025

—E-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks

®

Currency risk

The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign
currency bank deposits, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. Substantially most of the Group's
bank deposits and interest-bearing bank borrowings are
denominated in the relevant group entities’ functional
currencies. Substantially most of the Group's sales and
purchases are denominated in the relevant group entities’
functional currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging
activities to hedge against foreign currency exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange
rate fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above
against the functional currencies of the respective group
entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased
by 5% and other variables were held constant, the
Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 would
have increased/decreased by HK$1,297,000 (2024
HK$695,000).

The Group’s exposures to currency risk of other
currencies are considered insignificant by the directors
and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 44. MERBEBEEERBRZ)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. BHEERETEEERBEE)

(continued)

Market risks (continued) mEEE (E)

(i) Interest rate risk ORI EI A
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily rEERSRENERREE
to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 29 to the BY BIRITIEE (R BHmE
financial statements) and bank deposits (see note 25 Mi3E29) RIZE AT im M K&t
to the financial statements) at prevailing market interest B2 RITFR (R m&R M
rates. The Group monitors the movement in interest rates 25)B# - A& lﬁEFﬁt
on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging significant EERFNKEE)  WENRER
interest rate risk should the need arise. & B3 8 R R EL g
The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial EHEAEECR B EN EER
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management BN AW RE A 2
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate MEE—f - AEBRESRE
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of one to FlEEREEEFR—ZE=(F
three months Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The REBRITEZER S ZIKIE -
Group currently does not use any derivative contracts ZIK%@ = ?iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁi
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, BEE&H fj AR E B o A
management will consider hedging significant interest F{ﬁ NWEFZE  TEEEEE
rate exposure should the need arise. %T?*EK%'J%EL @ o
Sensitivity analysis BRMEDHT
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined AN R E S AT TR BT &
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable- TEENIRT TTAEAzF&t‘:,HEEE
rate bank borrowings and bank deposits at the end of E¥ 2 FXERETE - 5
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming RERERARHREZEBER
that the amount of liabilities outstanding at the end of BEFEHREEMRE - [
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. FEEE A B RNERE A EE
A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used when R ER A SOE B B IER - i
reporting interest rate risk interally to key management EREHAMESEAIREHE 2
personnel and represents management's assessment of HE) 2 3T o

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks (continued)

(i)

(iir)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis
points and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's profit for the year ended as at 31 March 2025
would have increased/decreased by HK$1,433,000,
respectively (2024: HK$1,924,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates on
its variable-rate bank borrowings. There is no material
impact on other components of the Group's equity.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank
balances are considered insignificant by the directors and
therefore no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments included in financial assets at FVTOCI (note
19) and financial assets at FVTPL (note 24) as at 31
March 2025. The Group's listed investments are listed
on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.

236

44. MBEAREEARERBR &)

a. UBEREEREREEE)

e mEE (&)

(i)

(i)

VEIENACY)
BUREDIT ()

fisi FI R 36 00,57 A 50 B EE 2
FrEEMmEHEFITE K5
BEE T -_RAF=-A=1—
B IEFE 2@ g, m
1,433,000/8 (= ZF 4 :

1,924,000 7T) © W EEH
RALEZBRITEEREY
2R Rk o HASEERD
Hip Ao WHmEAFE o

EER/AEEEERZRTTHE
AR ERI AEA - SR
IREBURE DT ©

1B

ERE R e E IR R SUK
Mﬂ B L BEFE AR
KEHAFETEZRR - B
—E-HFZA=+-HB K
EBEGFARAFELEME
Al ARz SRMEE (ME
1) RIBAFELEZARZ
T RVEE (B 5E24) B E B BY
Tg?XéﬁEEnnHX¢gF$&H 2R
AEEZ EHRAEHRAT
m W AR S BiR 2 TG HR(E
HEITHE °

WAI YUEN TONG MEDICINE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 44. BERREEEERBE(Z)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. UHEREEEERBEE)
(continued)
Market risks (continued) 5 (E)
(iii) Price risk (continued) (i) 1Bz ()
The market equity index for the Stock Exchange at the EEROIREHRNRFAEE
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to BRI RE - BTz TSR
the end of the reporting period, and its respective highest EEEREFNEsMMEE
and lowest points during the year are as follows: ZhOAT
31 March High/low 31 March High/low
2025 2025 2024 2024
“ECnf “2-5% “EFomE “TomF
=A=1-A /6% =A=t—H B/ B
Hong Kong &R
- Hang Seng Index — B4R 23,120 24,874/ 16,541 20,865/
16,044 14,794
The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring REEFE BT BTN S HZL
the price movements and the changes in market EUBREERTEZBRE
conditions that may affect the value of these financial B R ISITIEE BRE IR H A
investments. 2Rk -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 44,

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks (continued)
(iii)  Price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
10% increase/decrease in the fair values of the listed
equity investments with all other variables held constant
and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the
purpose of this analysis, for the listed equity investments
included in financial assets at FVTOCI, the impact is
deemed to be on the fair value reserve (non-recycling).

RERREEERREE &)

a. UBEREEREREEE)

e mEE (&)

(i) 1E15/7 % ()

TRETRNEMERRETTE
W BRAERAZER - LW
BRRENREHRZER
1B - HHRXTFE10%E 0,5
PZYRE o ADME -
HEt ARAHELH M2 EK
AR EREERN EHAKE
REZZBWRIEH A FER
w(TA8E) 2 E -

Increase/

Carrying Decrease/ (decrease)
amount (increase) in other

of equity in profit/loss  components
investments before tax of equity
BRBEAT RiEz

BERE:  BF/ER Hitn#h o
REE AL /0EM)  Eh/(HD)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
2025 S -3
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: A& LM 2 RIERE
~ Finandial assets at FVTOC| —BRATECEMZEREA
BZemEE 3,699 - 370/(370)
2024 e e 113
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: A& LT ZIRIERE
~ Financial assets at FVTPL —BRATEEEREARZ
SREE 13340 1334/(1,334) -
~ Finandial assets at FVTOC| —BRATECEMZEREA
BoopiE 24,986 - 2/499/(2,499)
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MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

44. MEREERRERBE Z)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. UHEREEEERBEE)
(continued)
Liquidity risk REBE TR

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors

EERBERBRIE  AEEE

and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed TRHBERERATHCRER
adequate by management to finance the Group's operations REeFRIEAKT  URAEEEZE

and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and

BREESMRERESRERBF
2 EEABERBITEREEM

ensures compliance with loan covenants. WHERBIEETRELL)
Liquidity and interest risk tables RBE D RFERERER

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

NTEEEZERERAT 2025 F3§
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

44. MBEAREEARERBR &)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. BHEEREEEERBEEE)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEEZEE(E)
RBE R RFIF R ()

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

TREFMNERAEHERE - 1A
MNEBRERERIE  ATHLER

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the

undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the BIPRBMEBRZFIEK o
end of the reporting period.
On demand Total
or less than 1to5 Over  undiscounted Carrying
1 year years 5 years cash flows amount
REXY, AERS
SR-F -21f BENE REAH HafE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TERL Thn Tén Tén
As at 31 March 2025 R-2-RFZA=t-H
Trade payables EHENFE 18271 - - 18211 18271
Finandial iabiles included in HARMERNTERERER
ofher payables and accruals LERAR
(excluding lease liabltes) (REEERIM) 25,526 90 - 25616 25,616
Lease liabiltes HERE 56,188 4094 - 97,132 9,111
Bank borrowings - variable rates (note)  $R/TEE T8 (f3E) 196373 157,387 - 353,760 343,295
Tota st 296,358 198,421 - 494,179 479293
As at 31 March 2024 W_F-ME=A=1-R
Trade and bills payables EHENFERENZR 30907 - - 30907 30907
Financial fiabilities included in SARMERTERESER
other payables and accruals ZeRafE
(excluding lease liabltes) (EEBERIN) 41951 90 - 4,041 4,041
Lease libilties HERE 53,400 52,720 - 106,120 99,120
Bank borrowings - varizble rates (note)  $R{TiEE - IF & (H3E) 203,468 296911 - 500379 460949
Total a5t 329,726 34971 - 679,447 633,017

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

1857% .2 8 (1 SR 3R 45 AR P B 8
SR 2 (52  BIA E 3367
ESMERZTETAHAZSH
AT (LR -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 44. MERBREEERRBRZ)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. UEEREEEERBEKE)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEELEE(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) REEERFEE R (&)
Note: MiEE
Included in interest-bearing bank loans of the Group are term loans with an AEBEHERITERBELSLE
aggregate principal amounted to HK$19,333,000 (2024: HK$29,000,000), 19,333,000 71 ( —Z — P04 : 29,000,00078
of which the respective loan agreements contain a repayment on-demand TONEHER EA S EXHEIERE
clause giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time SRIEEGEX - BT IRITA BARAENBER &
and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount is HMEZ - HAlt gt LR EEBERmE - 2H
classified as “on demand". SHEENERMRERMEE] -
Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that these BERLMETRTE  BEEXTRE &
loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they consider that FEFER12EAREEBHKE - MEERR
the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the ZEEFERBESEAERGHEMANSTEDN
respective loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial FHREE - RRFEDEER T E S
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial statements; the AT - REBRBBERE I E B BN
Group's compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and R - REEEFERRY - RBELEENF
the fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on time. 5 ARAEBCIRBEERE LTS
In accordance with the terms of these loans, the contractual undiscounted B RBEZEMREGT - SORIFTHRAK
payments are as follows: I

Within 1to5

1 year years Total

—FR —EHF st

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

Fax FHR FHR
31 March 2025 —E-_HF¥=A=+—H 10,461 9,946 20,407
31 March 2024 —EZMF=RA=+—H 11,136 20,726 31,862
Credit risk EEELE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REEERELSRATEEERTNS
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers =HETRG c AEBRERMA
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit BEUNERARETRINERPS
verification procedures. In order to minimise the credit risk AETERARERF - BRIEES
on trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and other JEWFRIBERIBEMNFIE « He REAM
receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a EWFEZ EERR  AEBER
team responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit ABEEBRER MEAEETEEE
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that B BEREERAMERER - U
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, RS ER E R e B B HAfE 1A -
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual SRS - R B R RS B AR R A & (A
receivable at the end of the reporting period to ensure that BIFEWRIE 2 PIEl & B8 - DATER
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable B st Al U Bl & FEEH 2 SR E
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider BEE - st - RAREFRAE
that the credit risk is significantly reduced. ERBCAER By o EES

RTEREZEERBRAT 2025 £3§ 241 |




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 44. BERREEEERBE(Z)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. UHEREEEERBEE)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) =EmE(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging wERE R AR
The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRETENAEENEEBRERN
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, FEEZERmeEERE  £B2XE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other REEE R (BRIEEMER AT B
information is available without undue cost or effort, and BRETBERRLLEIHERLT
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. For listed debt BR) RR=ZA=+—B®0FEH
investments, the Group also monitors them by using external BRI - AEBEMABINDEE
credit ratings. The amounts presented are gross carrying ARER FHEBKRE - 2SS
amounts for financial assets. BATHEEMLRAE -
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-HF=ZA=1—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
NEAES
FEER PHRBRERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-R& oy LR Bilnit @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TER TR
Listed debt investments at FVTOCI RATESEB2ERGEAR
LERR
-BBBto C -BBBEC - - 455 - 455
Trade receivables* BARME - - - 74,584 74,584
Net investments in subleases PiRRAE - - - 8,088 8,088
Loans and interest receivables EHEH RIS 407453 - - - 407,453
Financial assets included in prepayments,  FATENFVE - RE R
deposits and other receivables AftfeisE, SRAE
- Nomal*™ -EE* 60,699 - - - 60,699
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEAER 132,316 - - - 132,316
Total a5t 600,468 - 455 82,672 683,595
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MRk MR ()

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

44. MERBREEERRBRZ)

BRREEEEREEE)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 March 2024

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a.

FEmE(E)

RE AR R FEER ()

RZZEZMFE=A=+—H

12-month
ECls Lifetime ECLs
12{EREH
[FEER HRHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£ £-K8 E=KR Bl #it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEn TEL TEL TR
Listed debt investments at FVTOCI BATEEEM2ERGEAR,
FHRE

-BBBto C -BBRBEC 7720 - 408 - 8,128

Trade receivables* EHRENE - - - 94402 94402

Net investments in subleases PAREFE - - - 10828 10828

Loans and interest receivables EREFRRHE 494759 - - - 494759

Financial assets included in prepayments,  FATENEUE - RE %

deposits and other receivables HftfeisiE, SRAE
- Nomal* ~EE™ 59271 - - - 59271

Pledged deposits BEREH 4,444 - - - 4444

Cash and cash equivalents Re LR ERER 154,969 - - - 154969

Total ) 721,163 - 408 105,230 826,801

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * MAEEERE T ETEREZES
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in FEUGRIEm S - BIFREERTE &
note 21 to the financial statements. BB RS RR IR 21 3R ER »

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits o RET ATRNRIR - Re REMEKTIR
and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not ZEMBAEMAREH R EERBERS
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets BMEEBVRERARZ FERBEZ
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, - EEEERRAIES] - BA -
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. TRIEEZ EEERHRERIFR] -

: 8
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025

b.

—E-RF=A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 44. MBEAREEARERBR &)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Capital management b. EXEE
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to AEFBEAEENEEBIZRMRE
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern REBFEREHN - RgFRE
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its RERLLE - BEBREIFLE
business and maximise shareholders’ value. REREEZRAL -
The Group manages its capital structure and makes NEEE L EIRIENEZEHER
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. RBHEITEENARE - REEAH
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may BRKRRIRMRE - ERRETR
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital RTINS J/M%ﬁjiiﬂ%‘ﬁﬁ
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made B -BE_T-AFR-TZ
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital F—A=1+—HLFE " Mfiéﬁ
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. BER - BERSZF I mEE) -
The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is $%@ﬂ FERERER(EBFE
net debt divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent BRARE R RIS ARG ) B
of the Company. Net debt is calculated as the total of interest- BN - ERF IR BIRITEE
bearing bank borrowings, less cash and cash equivalents and ZRERREELASEFERIERRE
pledged deposits. The gearing ratios as at the end of the EREHTGTE - REHRNEELL
reporting periods were as follows: 2y (1N
2025 2024
—EBCRF —EomF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liEss THET T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings  FHEIRITEE 29 343,295 460,949
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and J& : 34 NMIRE&ERIE

pledged deposits B kB HEAFR 25 (132,316) (159,413)
Net debt B 210,979 301,536
Equity attributable to owners of BRBIER AR ER

the parent 1,181,068 1,386,946
Gearing ratio BEBEALE 18% 22%
45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45. REPERER

On 10 April 2025, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of a property classified as property, plant and equipment at a
consideration of HK$19,500,000. The transaction is completed
on 5 June 2025. Further details of the disposal are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2025.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MBBRME )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 46. ZAFIMERRAE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BERREPRARRMEMRAKR ZER

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: R
2025 2024
—E-EREF —EPUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITB AR ZKE - -
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Due from subsidiaries il PNGIE e 1,816,162 1,944,292
Other receivables H b el z0a 368 1,825
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReERER 25,276 38,497
Total current assets BREEE 1,841,806 1,984,614
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Due to subsidiaries FERIB B A Rl IE 813,277 745,993
Other payables and accruals HAth FE A 5008 N =T B 3,949 4,334
Total current liabilities FEN eI =L 817,226 750,327
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFE 1,024,580 1,234,287
Net assets BEEFE 1,024,580 1,234,287
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITIRA 11,251 11,711
Reserves (note) fEE (M) 1,013,329 1,222,576
Total equity KA 1,024,580 1,234,287
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
Em WEH
Director Director
EF EF

MITTEBREZEZERAERATE 2025 F£if
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MR M EE )

31 March 2025 —Z-RF=A=+—H

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 46. A FIMER AR Z)

(CONTINUED)
Note: FfsT -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARRERREZHFIAT
Share Special Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
RDEE BRI BARS RitEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-E—=&#mA—A 2,097,109 (27,150) 275,693 (200,493) 2,145,159
Loss for the year RFEEHE - - - (366,561) (366,561)
Total comprehensive loss for the year NFE 2 HEIEERE - - - (366,561) (366,561)
Share premium reduction HIRLRR 175 8 (F 3E33 i)
(note 33(ii)) (950,000) - 950,000 - -
Special dividend by way of the BEYHIRERIRE
Distribution in Specie - - (541,629) - (541,629)
Shares repurchased and cancelled [REARY &) (14,393) - - - (14,393)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZZNF=A=+—HRK
—TogmA—H 1,132,716 (27,150) 684,064 (567,054) 1,222,576
Profit for the year REZE T - - - 1,236 1,236
Total comprehensive income ANEEREN AR
for the year - - - 1,236 1,236
Final 2024 dividend and special ZENFERRER
dividend FERIAR S - - (199,143) - (199,143)
Shares repurchased and cancelled BREE K HER D (11,340) - - - (11,340)
At 31 March 2025 REZEZRAF=A=+—H 1,121,376 (27,150) 484,921 (565,818) 1,013,329
47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47. HETIRMBRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by B BEREHEFTEN T -_HF A
the board of directors on 30 June 2025. =T BEEW T -
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Five Year Financial Summary

Year ended 31 March 2025

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from

the published audited financial statements is set out below.

As set out in the note 13 to the financial statements, the management
and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets segment
owned and operated by the CAP Group was not previously classified
as discontinued operations. The comparative consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
March 2023 has been re-presented to show the discontinued operations
of the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets segment separately from continuing operations. For
the interests of the shareholders of the Company, the results for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are not restated in this respect.

RESULTS

AFHHEE

ZECRF=A=T—HILEE

TXRAEEBEREMBFEE 2 EERE
B BEMFERESRE - TXIHEA
B2 EEZIERE

AN IS MR 13ATE - APEEE R
EEBERNELENEERRIMBZMEE
BRBENBEAMWTIEDE AR IELEZE
B BHE_Z-_=F=A=1t—HILFEEHN
AAEREAEThEME2ERGREE
A B2V ERIENEERRZTED
XTERHEEDIRBELEER - BFE
ARBIBRENFZE  TERLBEIBEE-Z
T CERCE A=+ —HILFEN
ES

E

Year ended 31 March
HBE=A=1+-HLFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“EZRF ZToNF ZT-=F —T--F ZFT-—F
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FTERT FAET FEL BT FET
(restated)
(& =51)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BECEER
Revenue Y zs 745298 783881 723598 1391411 1,108,565
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADER (B518) 4,075 (13,633) (5905)  (47,304) (303,131)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrERER,/ (Fi%) 3,017 6,359 13,317 (40,519) (148,132)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REREEBNEEE
FROM CONTINUING = (EE)
OPERATIONS 7,092 (7,274) 7412 (87,823) (451,263)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS DRIEEEEK
Profit/(loss) for the year from BRI E R AR FRE
discontinued operations wF(ER) - 11,319 (4,065) - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERR (FE) 7,092 4,045 3,347 (87,823)  (451,263)
Attributable to: AR ALTRE -
Owners of the parent BRAEBA 7,100 (15,356)  (20,515) (108912) (375,995)
Non-controlling interests FEER R (8) 19,401 23,862 21,089 (75,268)
Total @t 7,092 4,045 3347  (87,823) (451,263)
PITEBELIERARAT 2025 £ 247



Five Year Financial Summary (Continued)
LEMBHMER)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS HE  AfRRFZRES

At 31 March

R=A=+-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“EB-RE TN —T-=F ZEBE--F —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHIL FHL FHL FHIT

Total assets HAEE 1,735,249 2095110 7,013,815 7,597,713 7,964,526
Total liabilities waE (555,679) (709,654) (3,325431) (3,637,102) (4,014,177)
Non-controlling interests FEI R 2 1,498 1,490 (1,339,193) (1,444,813) (1,385,024)
Equity attributable to owners [SYNSIEZZSPN

of the parent FEfL R 1,181,068 1386946 2,349,191 2515798 2,565,325
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